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Financial highlights

Group sales
(including VAT)"

+6.8%

Underlying profit
before tax

+10.1%

Group profit
before tax

+10.4%

Underlying diluted
earnings per share™*

+9.1%

Diluted earnings
per share

+9.8%

Dividend
per share

+9.1%

2008/9

52 weeks ended 27 February 20H0 2009410 52 weeks 53 weeks
Group sales (Em) (including VAT )* 62,537 58,570 59,426
Group revenue (£m) (excluding VAT) 56,910 53,115 53,898
Group trading profit (£m) 3,412 3,039 3,086
Underlying profit before tax (£m) 3,395 3,083 3,124
Group profit before tax (£m) 3,176 2,876 2917
Underlying diluted earmngs

per share (p) 31.66 28 50 28 87
Dividend per share (p} 13.05 - 1196
Group enterprise value (£bn)

{market capitalisation plus net debt) 11.4 - 359
Return on capital employed 12.1% - 12 8%

-

Group sales snc VAT) excludes the accounting impact of [FRIC 13 (Customer Lovalty Programmes)

** Growthin underiying diluted EPS caleulated an a constant tax rate basls

$ Restated for theympact of IFRIC 13 and IFRS 2




Over the past decade Tesco has transformed
itself into a diverse international business -
and by following our consistent strategy we
are well positioned for long-term growth.

| am pleased to report that

the Tesco team has once again
delivered a good set of results

- guided by experienced
management who have steered
the business through recessions
befare. As markets around the
world are emerging from this
recession each part of our business
is well positioned to pursue sur
strategy for growth,

We have continued to grow sales,
profits and market share over the
past year We've also significantly
strengthened our balance sheet

Qur acquisition in South Korea

15 performing well and delivering
excellent resuits, we've opened
our first three Tesco Lifespace
shopping malls in China and we
have made good progress building
theinfrastructure and developing
new products for Tesco Bank

| am also pleased to annaunce that we
again increased our dvidend - for the
26th consecutive year This consistent
track record of delivering dividend
growth for sharehotders 1s unnvalled
n the FTSE 100

The strong Group results over the Jast
year have been achieved through a
constant focus on what matters most
ta customers i challenging tmes
around the world A good example

of this has been our renewed focus
on rewarding loyalty — at home and
abreoad —which has been a great
success with customers

In the UK, we increased our Clubcard
investment with Double Points —
gmMing custormers even greater reward
for their loyaity

Internatonally, we launched Clubcard
In three more countries during the
year —in Poland, Slovakia and

Thalland - and for the first time we
now have more Clubcard holders
internationally thanin the UK

It has been another significant year
for aur work on the environment and
within local commurities As we grow,
our customers Increasingly look to
Tesco to take the lead in these areas
—and we are

In January, we opened the world's
first zero-carbon store at Ramsey in
Cambridgeshire — the latest step in
our journey to reduce the carbon
footprint of our business Over the
past year we have made significant
progress towards our long-term goals
by reducing our ermissions by 7 8%
on cur basehne 2006/7 store and
distribution portfolio

This year we donated over £60m to
chanties — once again exceeding our
target to give the equivalent of 1%
of our profits to good causes

These good results are testament

to the hard work of cur people The
Tesco team 1s now 472,000 strong —~
and we remain united by our goal to
improve the shopping tnp for our
customers | would hike to thank all
our people for ther hard work which
I know will continue in the year ahead

A

WA
David ﬂ —_—

Chairman
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472,000

Salesarea

(msqft)

growth busi

94m sq ft




Our position amongst the leading global retailers
hasn’t happened by chance. For well over a decade,
our long-term strategy has been delivering strong
and consistent growth.

ness...

Group sales Operating profit

£62.5bn £3.5bn

(£br) {£bn)
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Through diversification into new geographies,
new product areas and new services, we're
developing a business for the future - with
sustainable growth for years to come.

...foranewde

53% Zero 65%

In 2000, Tesco was operating in markets We are committed to being earbon-neutral Today 65% of our selling space 1s
representing 8% of global GDP, today by 2050 and helping our customers halve autside the UK
it's 53% thewr own carbon footpnnt by 2020
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cade

No. 1

Custorners expect to be able to shop where
and when theywant - as well as having great
stores we're the most profitable online
grocery retailer in the world

48%

48% of our space is less than
five years old

Multi-format

Our flexible range of formats helps us

to adapt our approach to local customers —
wherever they are — from Extra hypermarkets
to Express corwenience stores

MIARIAQ

Global

We’ra starting to unlock the benafits
of being a global Group:

* Global sourcing volumes have grown
threefold in sixyears

* Clubcard 1s nowin seven countnes

* F&F clothing I1s in tem countnes

= Group shared services centre
in Bangalore

Local

We've leamt how to be Tocal’, n South Korea,
our largest international business, we have
over 22,000 employees and just six

UK expats

Tesco PLC Annual Repart and Finanaal Statements 2010 5




Tesco in numbers

By remaining focused on our
strategy and helping customers to
save money, Tesco has weathered
the economic storm well.

£62.5bn

Underlying profit
before tax

£3.4bn

Stores
worldwide

4,811

People
worldwide

472,000

14




Tesco around the world

UK

Revenue* Stores Employees
£m
Total 38,558 2,482 287,669
Revenue* Stares Employaes
£m
Total 349 145 3,246

I 200910 there were an addiional 362 people wotking
n other locations such as international buying global hubs
Store numbers exclude one store in Calais, France

Total Revenue for Europe excludes France

Total Revenye for Asia excludes India

* Revenues are sales excluding YAT

Europe
Region Revenue* Stores Employees
Em
Republic of Ireland 2,282 119 14,158
Poland 1942 336 23,655
Hungary 1,698 176 20,079
Czech Republic 1,287 136 12,949
Slovakia 891 8 8,105
Turkey 595 105 7,630
Total 8,695 953 86,576
-»
Asia
Region Revenue* Stores Employees
£m
South Korea 4,162 305 22,739
Thailand 2,344 663 34775
China 844 88 22,668
Malaysia 633 32 9,423
Japan 449 142 4636
Total 8,432 1,230 94,241
-

India

in India, we have an exclusive franchise agreement

with Trent, the retall arm of the Tata Group We are
suppaorting the development of thewr Star Bazaar format

We plan to open our first cash and carry store by the

end of the year
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Chief Executive's
review

This year's results show another
sohd performance from across
the Group By staying focused
on doing the right thing for
customers we have weathered
the econamic storm well. And by
remaining committed to our long-
term strategy we are emerging
from recession stronger— with
goad building blocks in place

for future growth.

8 Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

Each element of our strategy — UK,
International, Non-food, Retailing
Services and Community - Is stronger
now than this time last year

In International, our businesses have
made good progress in a challenging
global economic envirgnment Qur
strategy 15 working —we've grown
sales, profits and market shares and
we've continued to invest in the drivers
of future growth QOur performance
in Asia was particularly pleasing,

our business in Europe held up

well despite the obvious economic
challenges and | believe the start-up
losses in our US business will now
begin to reduce as Fresh & Easy
estabhishes itself

Qur UK business had a good year

By remarning focused on helping
customers spend less and encouraging
loyalty with an increased investment
n Clubcard, our UK business has
delwered a solid performance tn our
core grocery operations, we're grawing
ahead of the industry as a whole and
we have been less affected by falling
inflation than the market at large

In Non-food we have made good
progress Inthe UK we achieved a
particularly strong performance in
electricals, entertainment and toys
Our clothing range 1s becoming an
international success, led by our F&F
range which 15 growing rapidiy in our
European markets and this year was
launched i four countrtes in Asia

Our Retailing Services have grown
sales and profits once again We've
also been buitding the platforms for
future growth, particularly in Tesco
Bank, which 1s making good progress
in developing 1ts own systems and
people capabilittes as well as working
on a broader product range as it
moves towards becoming a full-
service retall bank

In the same way that we've stuck

to our strategy in other parts of

the business, we've also remained
committed to our work on Community
and the environment. In October, we
set ourselves three challenging fong-
term targets to become a zero-carbon

Watch the video
www tesco cem/annualrepor 2010/
resultspresentation

business by 2050, to reduce the
carbon impact of the products i our
supply chain by 30% by 2020, and to
help our customers halve their own
carbon footprint by 2020 And we're
making good progress atready

We're delivering for all stakeholders
an improved shopping trip for
customers, traiming and good careers
for our staff, growth and innovation
with our suppliers, in local commurnities
we're supperting causes that matiter
to customers, and we're delivering
goced returns to shareholders

Looking forward

The outlook for shareholder returns

15 encouraging we have a strong

core UK business growing well, our
international businesses offer significant
upstde from recovery in the short
term and matunty in the longer term,
aur balance sheet is strengthening,
and we're ¢reating value through
good property development

Qur positions in high-growth
international economies and non-food
meant we were aiways hkely to face
strong headwinds during the recession
but it will be these parts of our business
which will grow fastest in the recovery
and beyond

| am confident that with the prospect
of an improving global economy and
recent iInvestments in acquisitions and
new selling space making a greater
contribution going forward, returns
will improve significantly — starting
this year

Sir Terry Leahy
Chief Executive
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Our well-established and consistent strategy

for growth has given the business momentum
to grow through the downturn.

Business Review

This Business Review analyses the
performance of the Tesco Group
in the financial year ended

27 February 2010 it also explains
other aspects of the Group's
markets, results and operations,
including strategy and risk
management

The Directors present their Annual
Repart to shareholders on the affairs
of the Group and Company, together
with the audited financial statements
of the Company for the 52 weeks
ended 27 February 2010

Long-term strategy

Tesco has a well-established and
consistent strategy for growth

The rationale for the strategy 1s

to broaden the scope of the business
to enable it to deliver strong,
sustainable long-term growth by
following custormers into farge
expanding markets at home —such
as financial services, non-food

and telecomns — and new markets
abroad, imtially in Central Europe
and Asia and more recently in the
United States

The strategy has five elements,
reflecting our four established areas
of focus plus Tesco's commitments
on community and the environment

* to be a successful international
retailer,

* to grow the core UK business,

* to be as streng in non-food as
in food,

* to develop retaling services, and

* to put community at the heart of
what we do

The strategy to diversify the
business has been the foundation
of Tesco’s growth In recent years

It was laid down in 1597, with the
fifth element — Community - being
added in 2007 Many of the new
businesses that have been created

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010 9

ur strategy

and developed over the last 13 years
as part of this strategy are now

of significant scale and highly
profitable - in fact we are now
market leader in many of our
markets outside the UK In 1997 aur
International bustness generated

1 8% of the Group’s profits and we
had only just entered the Retalling
Services markets, today these parts
of our business represent 22% and
16% of profits respectively

Impertantly, the strategy has
given the business momentum to
grow well through the economic
downtum By continuing to invest
through the recession —in the
customer offer, in infrastructure and
in our people —we are now well
placed to grow faster and improve
shareholder returns as the global
eConomic environment Improves

ssauIsng Ing

Fraenrheld



'I'Itel“l‘lational at a glance

Ourinternational business has delivered a strong performance despite
many of our markets feeling the impact of the global recession.

Sales Trading profit
Salesup Trading
. (1) . (4
New space New stores
5imsqft 324
Countries Regional results
China
Czech Republic
Hungary
India
Japan
Malaysia
Poland
Republic of Ireland
Slovakia
South Korea
Thailland
Turkey
United States
Asia
Actual rates Constant rates
£m % growth % growth
Sales (including VAT) 9,072 19 7% 15 3%
Trading profit 440 239% 189%
Trading margin 5.2% 02% 02%
Europe
Actual rates Constant rates
£m % growth % growth
Sales (including VAT) 9,997 07)% 09)%
Trading profit 474 (4 0)% (57)%
Trading margin 5.4% 0 2)% (0 3)%
us
Actual rates Constant rates
£m % growth % growth
Sales (including VAT) 354 72 7% 58 0%
Trading profit {165) {(179)% (79)%

10 Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010




International

Delivering
great value for
customers

In International we have delivered
aresilient performancein the
face of challenging economic
headwinds. Our businesses have
made gocd progress ~delivering
for customers today and at the
same time investing in the drivers
of future growth. Our strategy is
working - and we ended this year
stronger than wa started it.

Each of our businesses has adapted
itself to the demands of its local market
- with strong local management
teams finding ways to lower costs

and deliver great value for customers
Increasingly our international
businesses are also utiising the scale
and skill of the Tesco Group —with
maore international sourcing, Discount
Brands now In seven markets, F&F
clothing now in ten countries, Clubcard
introduced in seven countries with
more Clubcard holders internationally
thanin the UK - and the Tesco
Operating Model sharing our global
best practice to the benefit of all

our businesses

After a very tough first half of the year
we are now seeing encouraging sales
trends across atmost all our markets,
we saw strong smprovermnents in hke-
for-like sales in the fourth quarter
compared to the third

With clear signs that our international
markets are starting to recover we are
planming to resume a faster pace of
new space opening In the coming
year In 2009/10 we opened 5 im sq ft
of new space and in 2010/11 we will
open 8 5m sq ftin addition to nine
shopping malls in China The
performance of our International
businesses through this severe
recession has provided reassurance

. 1S

The size and scale of China provides
umque challenges for a retailer but also
offers a huge oppaortunity for a business
prepared to show flexibility and viston

Our strategy Is to expand into less
developed second and third tier cities
by opening hypermarkets in leading
shopping malls We've found it hard to
find locations with the right facilities in
some cities — giving us an opportunity
to develop our own rmalls, to ensure they
are the nght size, location and design
to meet the needs of the new

Chinese consumer

Duning the year we opened our first
three Tesco Lifespace shopping malls
in Fushun (pictured}, Qingdao and
Qinhuangdao and we will open nine
more this year Each mall comprises
approximately 500,000 sq ft of retast
space over five floors and 1s a one-stop

Lifespace - our unique
approachin China

ssauIsng inQ

destination providing shopping
{including a 100,000 sq ft Tesca
hypermarket), entertamment, dining
and leisure

We are partnering with investors to
share the capnrtal commitment on some
of these projects, enabling us to roll out
more sites faster

on the quality and resikence of our
assets and Jocal management teams
and strengthens our confidence in our
international strategy and long-term
growth prospects

Asia

We have delivered a strong
performance i Asia despite
challenging economic canditions In
the region We have grown sales and
profits well — driven by new space
and the excellent perfarmance of the
stores acquired in South Korea in
2008, which are now profitable As
economies generally in Asia start to
recoverwe are seeing improving SBIES
trends 1n all our businesses except
Japan, where economic condittons
remain subdued, with overall like-for-
like sales far Asia turning positive I

the fourth quarter Profits in Asia grew

by 24% with margins strengthening
significantly in the second half (6 1%
compared to 4 3% in the first half)

Our Asian markets offer a significant
long-term opportunity We have
continued toinvest through the
downturn to ensure that we will be

N an even stronger position as the
economies recover This year we
opened 3 Om sq ft of new space
across the region— an increase of
more than 10% — and we plan to
open 4 9m sq ft next year (excluding
shopping malls) We have also
continued to make good progress
towards developing a strong brand in
our most developed Asian markets
with further expansion of Clubcard
and our Retailing Services businesses

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010 11




International
continued

Investing in
the drivers of
future growth

South Korea

Homeplus n South Korea delvered
another very good performance this
year with total sales growth of 33%
(including 3% on a hike-for-like basis)
and profits up more than 50% The
intearation of the farmer Homever
stares has been completed successfully,
ahead of plan, with the stores now
trading profitably with double-digit
Iike-for-like sales growth in the fourth
quarter South Korea also opened 63
new stores in the year The acquisition
in 2008 has helped Homeplus grow
its market share and close the gap
with the market leader We opened
our first franchise store in February
2010 with more scheduled to open
n this financial year South Korea is
our Jargest international business
with sales of £4 5bn and profits of
almost £300m

Thailand

Tesco Lotus in Thailand has delivered

a good performance - despite a
background of continued political
uncertainty —with double-digit

profit growth on a constant exchange
rate basis A strong store opening
programme has helped drive our sales
growth this year in a rarket in which
we remain the clear market leader
Strang productity gains have enabled
us to make significant Investments in
lowering prices for custarners whilst
stll defivering good margins and
positive cash flow The launch of
Clubcard in August 2009 marked a
new stage In the development of our
business and take-up from customers
has been excellent, with four million
customers signed up so far

China

In China, we are laying the
foundations for long-term growth,
with further investments in new
stores, supply chain infrastructure
and management We have focused
on three regions - each with its own
management team — and with a focus
on expansion into second and third
tier aities We apened 17 hypermarkets
in the year, including in our first

three Lifespace shopping centre
developments in Fushun, Qingdao
and Qinhuangdao, with average tenant
occupancy over 80% at opening

We plan to open 23 hypermarkets in
20107111 of which nine will be in new
Lifespace malls The mall development
pragramme will be funded in part
through jaint ventures with third-party
investors The first such joint venture
= incorporating three malls —was
established in Novemmber 2009 with a
syndicate of leading Asian investors

Malaysia

Our business in Malaysia made good
progress with sales growing 9% this
year —Increasing our market share
We continue to invest in Clubcard with
more than one million customers
signed up and with a dunnhumby
team working with us locally to
provide insight on pricing, range and
promotions We grew our space by
11% this year but with the economy
starting to show signs of recovery

we plan to step this up to 27% growth
in 20101

Throughout the year we opened
63 new stores in South Korea, bringing
our total number of stores to 305

12 Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

There are more
Clubcard holders
internationally
thanin the UK

Twab .

Japan

In our 2008/9 Annual Report, we
stated that with the challenging
market conditions in Japan, we

had only hmited headroom on the
carrying value of our Japan assets
Given the further detenoration in the
retail market, it became appropnate
to make imparrments against the
goodwill arising on the acquisition
we made to enter the market in 2003,
resulting in a £131m ¢harge to the
Income statement {£82m n the first
half and £49m in the second half}

Our team in Japan continues to
make good progress in developing
the business Qur new convenience
format 1s recewving good feedback
from customers who like the focus on
fresh food and new features helping
us to differentiate our offer, such as
the in-store bakery, an extensive wine
range and aur first 400 own-label
products —which after only a few
months already account for 10%

of sales

India

Our early plans in India are progressing
well Our local management team is
helping our franchuse partner, Trent,
to develop its Star Bazaar hypermarket
cperation which is currently achieving
like-for-Nike sales of ¢ 40% and buys
more than 70% of its products from
Tesco's wholesale business Plans for
our cash and carry business are also
on track with our first store expected
to open towards the end of this year

Watch the video-
www tesco comitescoworksforme




Tesco
works
for me...

“..l get special
offers with my
Member card”
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International
continued

Europe

Europe overall delivered a robust
performance agamnst strong economic
headwinds in the form of a sharp
downturn m econormic activity
causing a slow-down in customer
expenditure Sales growth varied
across the region with a good
contribution from new space helping
sales grow in Poland and Turkey and
stay stable in the Czech Republic and
Hungary Significant price deflation
and cross-border shopping driven by
rapid movements In exchange rates
resulted in sales declining in Slovakia
and Ireland Overall, however, the
sales trends are now improving, each
of our European businesses showed
an improvement in hke-for-like sales
growth in the fourth quarter

We have made market share gains
across our Central European markets
by reducing ¢osts and lowering prices
for custommers and by continuing to
invest in new space Profitabtltty i the
region as a whole dechned shghtly
compared with last year but was
resihent given the seventy of recession

We are continuing to invest in the
region, opering 1 8m sq ft of new
space during the year - less than
ongwnally expected, pnimarily as a
result of the economic environment
With the outlook improving we will
be stepping up the rate of gpering
with a plan to add 3 1m sq ft of new
space across the region in 2010/11

Republic of Ireland

In lreland we have made substantial
changes to our business, which was
facing the dual challenge of a severe
recaession and cross-border trading By
ntegrating more of our international
brand buying with our UK business we
have been able to reduce the prices

of 12,500 products by an average

of around 20%

Customers are responding
enthusiastically to our improved
pricing and range, significant uplifis
in valumes have now offset the impact
of lower prices, resulting in positive
like-for-hke sales growth in the last
few weeks of the year and a growing
market share These changes,
combined with a substantial cost
reduction programme, have enabled
Tesco lreland to deliver a steady
financial performance despite the
economic headwinds and sigmficant
self-imposed price deflation The
cost of the exceptional restructuning
activities was £33m n total for

the year

Hungary

Our business In Hungary continues
to perform well — with sales levels
being maintamed despite a very weak
econormy in which unernployrment
levels increased by more than 25%
and consumers were hit with a 5%
increase In sales tax We are continuing
to execute our strategy of investing
in the shopping trip for customers,
helping our overall market share to
grow again tn the last year, further
consohdating our market leadership

Our flagship My Narodni
department store in Prague
reopened in September 2009

after a major refit
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The first Tesco
outside the UK
opened just 15 years
ago —in Hungary

Poland

In Poland, we have had another good
year with strong growth in sales and
profits an a constant exchange rate
basis Agood performance from the
converted Leader Price stores, the
popularnity of our Discount Brands ~
now In one In three baskets — and
our clothing range, which achieved
like-for-like sales growth of more than
20%, have helped our business
maintamn positive ex-petrol like-for-
hke sales growth overall The launch
of Clubcard in August 2009 has been
very well received, with 1 8 million
customers signing up so far

Czech Republice

In the Czech Republic our strong
new store opering programme has
helped us maintain sales at levels
simtlar to last year and improve our
share of a market affected by high
unemployment and price deflation
Our Express and 10,000 sq ft format
stores continue to do well with
positive [Ike-for-lke sales growth,
but as s most markets, growth in
the larger stores remains subdued as
customers curtail their spending on
non-food in the current environment
The cutstanding category in non-
food has been clothing with double-
digit sales growth Qur flagship My
Narodrni department store in Prague
was reopened after a major refit
project and we are pleased with the
results to date




Slovakia

In Slovakia, the overall retail market
has been very challenging with rising
unemployment and sharp falls in
industnal output Cross-border
shopping remained significant for
much of the first half but abated in
the second half after we reduced
our pnces within Slovakia to bring
them more closely into line with
neighbouring countries Like-for-like
sales growth 1s recovening strongly,
from negative double digit for the
first half to positive growth in the final
few weeks of the year

A good store opening programme
combined with investments in the
shopping trip and customer loyalty —
with Clubcard launching in Slovakia
n September 2009 - have helped us
extend our market-leading position
further dunng the year We have
recently refitted and rebranded one of
our large hypermarkets in Bratislava
as an ‘Extra’ addmg new departments
such as pharmacy, photo processing,
optictans and phone shap Thisis the
first of its type in Central Europe

Turkey

In Turkey, whilst we slowed our rate
of new store growth, it remained
strong enough to offset the hke-for-
tike sales decling, helping us to grow
overall sales during the year With
the economy showing early signs of
recovery we are planming to resume
a faster rate of expansion this year
Turkey remains an important
strateqic long-term opportunity for
us as a large, growing and relatively
underdeveloped retail market

United States

In the United States, Fresh & Easy has
been making good progress, despite
prolonged weakness in the California,
Nevada and Arnzona economies
Customers are enthusastic about
our range, partcularly the fresh food
prepared in the Fresh & Easy kitchen,
the store environment and the
fniendly service As with any of our
new businesses, we are adapting and
wnproving our offer in response to
custormer feedback During the year
we've broadened the range insome
key categories —like cereals and pet
food — and added larger pack sizes
for families We have also introduced
a range of lower-priced house brands
to help families on a budget

With the improvements to our range
implemented and with the number
of stores growing (145 stores by end
of 2009/10), we launched media
campaigns — in September 2009 and
January 2010 - focustng on how
Fresh & Easy can offer both high
qualty and low prices A combination
of Increased customer awareness and
the improvements we have made in-
store helped to drive stronger positive
lke-for-like sates growth in the second
half of the year

145 Fresh & Easy
stores by end of
2009/10

ssausng JngQ

With growing sales and improvements
in productivity, waste and distnbution
costs, store eConomics are improving
steadily Overall trading losses were in
line with guidance provided last year
and reftect the fact that Fresh & Easy
has been built with the infrastructure
to support hundreds of stores

We expect to open new stores at a
rate of around one per week this year
with a focus on areas where the local
economy has been less severety hit
and where we are seeing substantially
stronger sales performance One of
the benefits of the downturnis a
slightly softer property market, we
are now able to buy more freehold
properties and the overall cost of
bullding a store has fallen by
approximately 20% A combination
of new space and organic sales
growth means that sales growth this
year will be more than 50%

Although we do not expect losses to
be much lower in 2010/11 we beheve
they have now peaked
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COI‘E UK at a glance

Our market-leading UK business has continued to grow well
by helping customers to spend less during the downturn.

Sales
£42.3bn 1 Sm
Salesup 4 . 2 o /o active Clubcardholders
Trading profit CI b d -
N £ 2.4b|"l 1sl;e:; of loyalty
Teading Clubcard 1s aur unique way of saying thank you

profit up o to our customers for shopping with us Launched
o in 1995, Clubcard now has 15 million active
® members in the UK Clubcard nat only rewards

our customers for their loyalty, but it also provides
us with valuable tnsight inte changing shopping

UK results’ patterns By momitoring this data and spotting
£m % growth trends early we're able to respond quickly and
Sales (including VAT) 42,254 4 2%* ensure that we're always providing customers
UK trading profit 2,413 5 7% with what they want, when and where they want it
Trading margin 6.2% 01% This year Clubcard became even more rewarding
; ie?::s::ns gTr:s“:;hT::ef:;:Iand dunnhumby are included in the UK By Increasing our nvestment with Double Pomts,
segment a;ml Tesco Bank s excluded fram the UK segment under IFRS 8 customers earned £550m in total m vouchers

Double Points has encouraged more customers
to sign up, a Clubcard 15 now used with a higher
proportion of transactions than before and 18%
more UK households are redeeming vouchers
than a year ago

The knowledge and expertise of operating
Clubcard — comb:ined with insight and analysis
fram dunnhumby - 1s new being adopted across
our international businesses We now have
Clubcard in seven of our international markets
—n fact we now have mare Clubcard holders
overseas than in the UK
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Core UK

Sustainable
profitable growth

Our UK business delivered a solid
performance in competitive
market conditions. We are
growing faster than the industry
as a whole and we have achieved
this by remaining focused — as
always — on customers

Our strategy of earning their loyalty
by helping them to spend less - with
low prices and affordable new products
such as the Discount Brands — deflated
sales growth initially but it was the
right thing to do for customers By
encouraging and rewarding loyalty —
through an increased investment

i Clubcard — we have maintained
steadier sales growth during the year
than the industry as a whole, which
has seen a significant stowdown with
the steep decline in inflatian

Excluding petrol and adjusting far
VAT, like-for-like sales were 3 7% In
the first half and 2 7% in the second
half, driven by a strong volume
perfarmance Achieving our target of
opening 2m sq ft of new space during
the year ensured that sales from new
space made a good contribution to
total sales growth, which was 6 5%
for the first haif and 5 7% for the
second half {excluding petral and
adjusted for VAT)

Delivening for customers through
recession s not just about lowering
prices and offenng great promations,
it's about delivering all elements of
the shopping tnp Consequently, we

have continued to invest in avallability,
service, range and quality with
pleasing results

Availability

Avallabiity has improved again this
year as a result of a number of
Initiatives to improve stock
management including more
efficient ordening systems, a greater
focus on clearing promotianal and
discontinued hines, better in-store
monitoring processes and stonng
stock on the top of shelves on the
shop floor rather than in the
warehouse The results have not
only increased avallability based on
our dotcom picking measure and
reduced evening gaps in fresh foad
by 18%, but the resulting reduction
In stock across our stare network has
made a significant contribution to our
improved working capital position

Service

Service remans a key differenhator
Our one-in-front iltiative — where If
there s more than one customer
queung at a single checkout we open
another —andincreased investment
In seff-service checkouts, which now
account for a quarter of all transactions,
continue to keep us ahead of the
industry on customer measures of
checkout service We trained more
than 200,000 staff {0 help them

respond better to customer needs and

our ‘Every Comment Helps' inibative,
which encourages customers to give
instant feedback via text or email, has

2,600 new or
improved own-label
food lines launched
this year

given us the benefit of 60,000
customer comments to help us
improve our offer and service

Range

Tesco's diverse and adaptable range
allows us to offer a wide choice for
every customer whatever their
budget Through the recession we
have helped customers with lower-
priced ranges such as Discount
Brands and Market Value and we
have also offered them affordable
treats such as the Finest Restaurant
Collection ready meals, which have
been very popular We continue to
Innovate our range with aver 2,600
new or improved own-label food lines
taunched this year As the economy
starts to emerge from recessionwe
are seeing customers buy maore from
our Finest range, which returned to
positive hke-for-like sales growth in
the year

200,000 staff
trained in ‘Every
little helps’ skills
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Core UK
continued

Delivering an
‘Every little helps’
shopping trip

Quahty

Quality ~ particularly in fresh food —
remains important to custormers even
in tough times and as we emerge
from recession this will become even
moreimportant That's why we have
been investing in our fresh food offer
with a wide-ranging change
programme Improved technical
standards, additional specahst staff
traiming, closer relationships with our
suppliers and significant changes to
the way we merchandise some key
products are helping us deliver a
stronger range and better shopping
experience for customers These and
other tnitiatives helped Tesco win the
‘Fresh Produce Retailer of the Year'
Award in 2009

Step Change

Qur UK Step Change programme

1510 1ts thirteenth year and continues
to go from strength to strength

This year we met our £550m savings
target Step Change Is not just about
generating savings — each project must
be ‘better’ for customers, ‘simpler’ for
staff and ‘cheaper’ for Tesco Ourstock
reduction programme 15 an excellent
example of this

* 1t's better for customers because
it has driven a large iImprovement
in avatlabihity for both food and
non-food,

it's simpler far staff because itis
now easier to locate stock to fill
the shelves and stock errors can
be identified more easily, and

1t's cheaper for Tesco because
stores now hold less stock and
fewer hours are needed to replenish
the shelves For example, a typical
Tesco Extra now holds 8% less
stock and we are now looking at
releasing backroom space which
can be redeployed for Retailing
Services or Non-food
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Customers earned
£550m in Clubcard
vouchers

for customers

At Tesco we're constantly stnving to
make things better, simpler and cheaper
That’s why we've taunched three
innovative and popular IPhene apps

Customers no longer have to worry
about forgetting therr Clubcard as
our latest app enables them {0 scan
their Clubcard on their iPhone

This app is proving extremely popular
with custormers with over 200,000
downloads in the first three weeks
and there will soon be versians for
other smartphenes too

Store Finder app enables customers to
find their nearest stores and then locate
products (complete with prices) within
the store — to the exact aisle

Our wine app allows custamers to take
a photo of a wine they like and uses
image recognition software to identify

iPhone apps — making life easier

the wine, providing full product
nformation and allowing customers
to order from therr phone

Coming soon Is another tesco com
app which will enable customers to do
therr tesco com grocery ardenng fram
therr phone

This year we aim to complete a
glabal programme that will deliver
savings of £800m and we'llinvest
most of these savings back into our
offer for customers

New space

Through the expenence and
expertise of our property teams we
have developed over a number of
years a good pipeline of new space
opportunitias As a result we have
the opportunity to unwind some of
the work-In-progress we have buiit
up and will be stepping up the rate
of expansion in 2010711 We will
be investing £1 6bn of capitalin
the UK economy this year and

will create thousands of jobs for
people, including the long-term
unemptoyed through our
Regeneration Partnerships

Sustainable strategy

Our customer strategy is sustainable
for the long term because we can
differentrate Tesco in a urique way
with Clubcard and because our low
prices and improverments to the
customer shopping trip are based on
permanent productivity gains

Our growth strategy for the UK s also
sustainable as it1s based on taking a
balanced approach to the key building
blacks of top-line growth, solid like-
far-like performance and a consistent
contnbution from new stores

£550min Step
Change savings

Watch the video
www tesco com/tescowcrksforme




“...TESCO Express —
it’s the easiest thing
at lunchtime?”

Tesco
works
for us...
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NOI‘I 'f°°d at a glance

Our general merchandise offer is growing in sophistication with
improved ranges and prices, more global sourcing and a stronger
online presence.

Sales

£13.1bn
6.2%

inth UK 2 50 /0
advisarsin 1 ’oo o + 1 0

Salesup

UK stores F&F sold in 10 countries

15 ,5 00 + 68m

products available online through Tesco Direct o Like-for-like clothing
o sales in Central Europe

up 14%

o Wesell 1in every 4
l n small-scraen TVs sold
inthe UK
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Non-food

Significant
market share
gains in key
categories

Our non-food performance has
been very resilient through the
downturn. In some key categories
we have made significant market
share gains as more customers
have been encouraged to try our
non-food range in the search for
great value and as some competitors
have felt the strain.

Group non-food sales rose 6 2% ta
£13 1bn, with £9 Obn in the UK and
£4 1bn in International

We delivered a very strong non-food
perfarmance in the UK with steadily
improving like-for-hke sales during
the year A number of categories had
particularly strong growth

Electricals

With competitive prices, a great range
—in-store and online —and over 1,000
Tesco Tech Support advisors in our UK
stores to help customers make ther
choice, we are rapidly growing our
presence in the electncals market We
now sell one in every six microwaves
in the UK and one in four small-screen
TVs Qur sales in electricals have
doubled in the last four years and
around 20% are online

Entertainment

Our market share n games has
doubled in the last year as a resuit
of allocating it more space in-store,
revamping the range and layout
and being more competitive on
new releases

Weseli1in6
microwaves sold
in the UK

As our UK non-food business ¢ontinues
to grow we've worked hard to create
innovative solutions to Increase storage
and distribution capacity and efficiency
whilst reducing our impact on the
environment

Our first ever purpose-built import
storage facility, which opened in
Middiesbrough i August, fulfils both
these objectives whilst also creating
800 obs in the local community

The 910,000 sq ft Teesport distnbution
centre offers a traditional low bay
assembly operation and high density
storage within a fully automated high
bay warehouse providing a capability of
holding 160,000 pallets and assembling
up to 4 S miltion cases perweek The
scale of Teesport, along with its port
location and on-site rail infrastructure,
has helped recuce costs in our

Teesport — helping us get better,
simpler and cheaper

distribution netwerk, which in turm
helps us keep prices low for customers

Teasport has also delivered major
enwironmental benefits by rernoving
over 12,000 lorry journeys per year
from the UK'sroads This has made a
significant step towards our target to
halve distnbution ermussions of each
case delivered by 2012, against a
baseline of 2006

As part of our drive to lower prices
for custorners, we make every effort
to cut out the middlernen and source
products from manufacturers or
developers For example, we teamed
up with DreamWorks studio for

the exclusive nghts to sell the short
animated Christmas film Merry
Madagascar This groundbreaking
relationship was the first of its kind
in the industry and enabled Tesco
to sell over one million Merry
Madagascar DVDs
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Toys

Our sales in toys have grown 25%
this year with online sales up more
than 60%

Clothing

Sales grew by 7 3%, including positive
like-for-like growth, to reach £1bn

in sales for the first ume, helped by a
15% increase in children's wear and
the launch of aur online clothing range
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Sasha with Schmoo
Tesco customer
Friern Barnet

Tesco
works
for me...

“..everythingisinone
location - | just bought
a washing line”
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Non-food
continued

Resilient
through the
downturn

International clothing

Clothung 1s becorming a global
strength and a good example of how
we are bringing global scale and skill
to our international businesses

Inn owr four Central European markets,
clothing hke-for-like sales grew 14%
this year - following strong growth
the previous year — in a market which
has been declining overall in the
recession We've also mtroduced F&F
ranges to four Asian markets this year
~another step in developing F&F into
a global brand

Jaint buying —whereby 95% of the
suppher base in Central Europe 1s
the same as Ireland and the UK -
has brought the benefits of Group
expertise and scale, helping to
improve quality and costs

Online

Shopping habits are changing -
custamers want to buy onhne as well
as from stores and catalogues —and
many will use a combination of these
to research before buying With an
integrated multichannel approach
we're making it easy for custormers,
whichever way they want to shop

In addition to the 13,500 products
available online through Tesco Direct,
we now have two new specialist
websites launched in October

Watch tha video,
www tesco comltescoworksforme

1,000+ Tesco Tech
Support advisors
in UK stores

F&F - a global brand

Our ambition is to make F&F a leading
global fashion brand, offering unbeatabte
value for money, not comprormised by
quality, design or provenance

F&F launched in the UK in 200t and has
expanded rapidly since then with sales
last year of £540m in the UK — supported
by the launch of our online clothing site
n October

F&F launched in Central Europe in 2008
and we're already making excellent
progress F&F s rapidly becoming
established in the region with customer
awareness of the brand growing from
34% to 61% in the last year

Across our markets in Central Europe,
Tesco 1s already one of the largest
clothing retailers In fact dunng the year
we sold more F&F items - 68 million -
than the combined populations of our

four countries in the region Poland,
Hungary, Czech Repubhc, and Slovakia

We're now building an the success in the
UK and Central Europe to launch F&F
across our Asian markets This year we
launched in China, Malaysia, South Korea
and Thailand

Aswith any brand, F&F can't afford to
stand still, which 1s why we're broademing
the brand's appeal with new ranges -
F&F Couture and F&F Jewellery

www.tesco com/clothing

Our new clothing site combines
familiar Tesco labels such as
Cherckee and F&F with some new
Tesco hnes exclusively offered online,
plus a number of other brands
The site became one of the tap
ten most visited clothing websites
within weeks of its launch 5o far
the customer feedback has been
very strong, particularly onvalue
for money and ease of shop
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+ www.tesco.com/entertainment
The launch of Tesco Entertainment
brought together, for the first time,
our entire physical and digital
entertainment offer, In a new
and easy-to-use one-stop site
Custarners are now able to buy
a CD, DVD or game and a film
or album download, afl in one
transaction From the outset the
new website has proved popular
with customers
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REtailing SerViceS at a glance

We've made good progress this year in our Retailing Services
businesses: Tesco Bank; tesco.com; Telecoms; and dunnhumby.

Sales

£3.6bn
5 417.6%

Tesco Bank

131% ...
400,000 :::

tesco.com
groceryitems

1ibn o
26% ...

Telecoms

Tesco Mabile

2m+ oo
100+ -

dunnhumby

dunnhumby serves other
retailers and manufacturers
in 26 international markets
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tesco.com - a leading
online retailer

Including both our grocery and nan-focd offer,
tesco com s one of the largest online retailers
in the UK, with sales of more than £2bn Just as
1N our stares, our success comes from histening
to customers and a constant drive to ensure
that we provide an online 'Every little helps’
shopping experience

With more than a million active customers, our
online grocery business 1s the market leader and
the most profitable business of its kind in the
world It continues to grow strongly —last year we
delivered over one billion items We have put ease
of use at the heart of our online shopping tnp - for
example, our ‘favourites’ feature, which makes
shopping online easier by using Clubcard to
remember a customer's favounite in-store and
online purchases We also continue to innovate
with our ‘price match’ on any substituted products
and our ‘shorter than we'd like' code Iife guarantee

Tesco Direct extends the reach of our non-food
offer with over 15,500 products avadable to
customers via the internet and catalogues
Customers can choose to have goods delvered to
their home or they can pick them up at one of our
261 in-store Direct desks This year we relaunched
our online entertainment site, enabling customers
to buy downloads alongside the physical product,
and we launched our online clothing website with
a range of 2,500 fashionable items, of which
1,000 were exclusively online




Retailing
Services

Laying the
foundations for
further growth

Following the announcementin
July 2008 of cur intention to take
full ownership of Tesco Bank,
we set atarget to grow the
profitability of our Retailing
Services businesses from a little
under £400m in 2007/8 to £1bn.
This year we made good progress
in attracting new customers and
growing sales and profits while
at the same time laying the
foundations for further growth.

Total Retathng Services sales were
£3 6bn, up 4 2% on last year and
profits were £540m, up 17 6%

Tesco Bank

Overall, Tesco Bank has delivered a
good performance in a challenging
retail banking market growing profits
by 13% to £250m Bad debt levels
rose during the year but have now
stabiised and throughout have
remaned below industry averages
We have absorbed additional costs as
we begn the process of moving the
business onto its own infrastructure
and build the team as we prepare the
business for faster growth

Double-digit
customer growth
in our banking
products

Commercial performance

We grew the number of custormer
accounts by more than 400,000
the last year — 1o a total of more than
6 2 million across all products We
have achieved double-digit custormer
growth in our banking products,
including 27% growth in personal
loans In insurance we held our
number of policies broadly flatin a
very competitive market, the number
of motor insurance pohctes dechned
-~ partly as a result of a planned
reduction In our exposure to high-risk
drivers — but the number of policies
in home, pet and hfe insurance
increased Qur 130n-store travel
bureaux saw anincrease in
transactions of more than 80%

and the number of ATMSs in our
network grew to over 2,800

Profit

Gross profit grew 19% to £749mwith
a good performance in banking being
partly offset by lower profitability

in insurance, pnmarily as a result of
lower investment income inked to the
current low Interest rate environment
Trading profitwas up 13 1% to £250m
(compared to £221min 2008/9 on a
pro forma basis) Profit before tax was
£114m —with the primary deduction
from operating profit being the
previously announced £127m non-
cash amortisation of ntangibies
arising on acquisitiornt This profit
performance was achteved after an
increase in operating costs —as a
result of the change of ownership as
the business prepares for expansion
—and against the background of a
32% increase in bad debts — to £177m
which was in part offset by a credit
relating to the unwind of the far value
adjustment created on acguisition

Capital and liquidity

The Tier 1 capital ratio at the end

of 2009/10 was 13 0% The funding
and iquidity position of the business
remained robust throughout the
perniod with customer deposits n
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6.2 million Tesco
Bank customers

excess of customerlending This s
further supported by a high-quality
Iiquid asset portfolio, net short-term
wholesale cash and mvestment
grade assetsworth £1 3bn

Management team

During the year good progress

has been made in completing
the recruatment of an experienced
managernent team in alt areas
of the Bank finance, risk, legal,
commercial, treasury, and I T All
sencr roles have now been filled

Infrastructure

In September 2009 we entered into
an agreement with Fortis (UK) Ltd to
help us build the operational platform
and technical expertise required

to further develop our insurance
business We have also selected the
core technology platforms for the
banking products The mugration
programmes for both stdes of the
business are progressing well and we
expect to be writing business on the
new systems by the end of 2010/11
We have secured new premises for
banking and insurance operations in
Glasgow and Newcastle, which will
open inmid 2010, ¢creating 1,800 jobs

New product development
Subject to regulatory approval we
anticipate launching new savings
products and mortgages by the end
of financial year 201011, with current
accounts to follow in the second half
of 2011
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Retailing
Services
continued

Growing sales
and profits

tesco.com

Our online businesses — ncluding
dotcom grocery and Direct ~ delered
another strong performance, achieving
a 14% increase in sales with praofits
rsing 26% to £136m

In a httle over a decade we have built
a substantial profitable business that
has sales of £2 1bn and employs
20,000 people Our website 1s the
third most visited retail website in the
UK and last year our online grocery
business delivered over a bilhion items

The number of active customers

in our online grocery business has
grown to over ane milhen and basket
size has increased Record levels of
avallability and innovations such as
price matching on substitutions are
improving the customer experience
and helping to reduce the number
of lapsed customers and calls to the
service centre We are reducing costs
and carbon emissions by improving
fuel consumption per order by 10%
for the second year running threugh
implementing new technology to
improve driving and routing efficiency

Tesco Direct extends the reach of our
non-faod offer to custerners via the
tnternet, by phone and catalogues
Customers can choose to have goods
delivered to ther horme or they can
pick them up at one of our 261 In-
store Direct desks Tesco Direct had
another good year making good
progress onits customer service offer,
growing sales by 28% and continuing
on its path towards profitabiliry
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Tesco Telacoms

Profit from our telecomns business
grew, dniven pnmarily by Tesco
Mobule, which achieved a 14%
Increase in customer numbers — to
mare than two million —in a declining
pre-pay phane market Tesco Mobile
also successfully entered the ‘pay
monthly' market this year with
innovative tarffs and generous credit
rewards, picking up the ‘best tanff’
accolade at the 2009 Mobile Choice
Awards Tesco Mobile remained the
number one pay-as-you-go operator
for customer satisfaction throughout
2009 In Becember 20089, Tesco
Mobile broadend its appeal further by
becarming enly the third UK operator
to offer the IPhone, for which sales
have been encouraging

We have made goed progress in
rolling out our in-store Phone Shops
with 105 open atyearend and a
further 100 planned by the end of
this year The Phone Shops are
transforming our ability to sell
products that require an assisted sale
—particularly contract mobile phones

Also in 2009 we signed a wholesale
broadband agreement with Cable
& Wireless, which will enable us

to relaunch our broadband offer

to customers in 2010 with higher
bandwdth speeds and lower prices

Tesco Mobile
No.1 for customer
satisfaction

Source Customer Service Index

dunnhumby

This year marks dunnhumby’s 20th
anniversary In addition to supporting
Tesco's Clubcard in seven countries
around the wortd, dunnhumby serves
other retailers and manufacturers in
26 nternational markets, in fact Tesco
now represents only around 15% of
Its sales

dunnhumby 15 growing fast - with
profits up 28% in the year - helped
by new engagements in the United
States (Macy's), Canada {Metro) and
Colormima (Exito) dunnhumby now
touches the hves of over 350 million
consumers through its client
relationships

Watch the video
www tesco comitescoworksforme
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“..] have mycat insured
with Tesco —they were
very reasonable”

Tesco
works
for me...
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Community at a glance

We're continuing to lead the way in caring for the environment,
supporting local communities and encouraging healthy lifestyles.

Community
promises

Caring for the
environment

Actively supparting
local communities

Buying and
selling products
responsibly

Giving customers
healthy choices

Creating good |obs
and careers

100%

of store waste in the UK diverted from

going directly to landfill

Zero

We are committed to become
azero-carbon business by 2050

We helped 6.2 milion

people get active

worldwide ® m
Community

Champions 2 7 o
100% of eligible own-

brand products now have
nutritional labelling

100%

Jobs created in
UK Regeneration
Partnerships

380

Suppliers responding to
our survey saying we treat
them with respect

91%

Carbon-footprinted
products inthe UK
and South Korea

500

Carbon emissions reduction

from our baseline 2007
portfolio of stores and
distribution centres

7.8%
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Ramsey -~
the world’s first zero-
carbon store

Tesco has been continuously developing stores
with lower carbon footprints since 2005 and
our new store at Ramsey in Cambndgeshire 15
the latest step on this journey The store emits
zero net CO 1nits operations

The bullding 1s designed to use as little energy
as possible The frame is made from sustainably
sourced wood, which requires much less energy
to produce than steel We use roof windows and
sun pipes to bring natural daylight flooding into
the customer and staff areas

Any energy that the store does need 1s generated
by a combined heat and power plant on site,
which 1s powered from renewable sources We
sell any excess electnaty to the National Gnd
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Community

Increasingly
important for
our growth

We are committed to being
aresponsible neighbour within
our local communities and
taking aleadership role on the
environment. This 1s something
our customers expect and we
believe is increasingly important
for cur growth,

Caring for the environment

Over the past few years we have
played a leadership role amongst
large businesses in tackling cimate
change, through our own actions and
in collabaration with our customers,
supphers, NGOs and governments
around the world We have made
great progress this year in reducing
CO; emyssions across our business
glebally Ernisstons from our baseline
2007 store and distnibution centre
portfolio have fallen by 7 8% over
the past year and new stores and
distributtan centres built since 2006/7
are on average emitting 28 8% less
CO; than thewr equwvalents in 2006/7

We have delivered on our promise
to divert 100% of store waste in the
UK from going directly to landfll

In 2007 Tesco invested £25m to
create a new Sustainable Consumption
Institute (SCN) at the University of
Manchester The SCl aims to answer
some of the fundamental guestions
about how to make a consumer
society sustainable

In Octaber, the SCl held a conference
to launch its first major report
‘Consumers The Key to a Low-
Carbon World® At that conference,

we committed ourselves to a new set
of challenging long-term targets to
become a zero-carbon business by
2050, to reduce the carbon impact of
products i our supply chain by 30%
by 2020, and to help our customers
halve their own foatprints by 2020

Actively supporting local
communities

Qur Values at Tesco mean that we
listen to our customers and respond
to what we hear Customers tell us
that being part of a local community
15 1Important to them and they look
to us to play an active role Being at
the heart of successful, thrving
neighbourhoods is not just in the
interest of our customers |t is in our
interest too We airn to use our size
as a force for good In society

Throughout the year, we gave

over £60m in donattons to chanties
and contributions to community
projects including cause-related
marketing, gifts-in-kind, staff time
and management costs Once again
we have donated the equivalent of
more than 1% of our profits to good
causes Additionally, ncluding our
Charity of the Year partnerships,
which go from strength to strength,
this year our staff raised over £7m
for chanty across the Group

We have continued to roll out
Community Champions nght across
the Group Community Champions
are staff members who dedicate paid
hours to coordinate stare activities in

therr local communittes The Charmpions

support local chanities, organisations,
schools and causes that local people
really care about We now have
Champions In seven countries

Throughout the
year we gave over
£60m in donations
to charities

We succeeded in
getting 6.2 million
people active across
the world

As part of the Tesco for Schools and
Clubs scherne in the UK, this year
we gave away £13 7m of equipment
to 35,000 schools and clubs, a rise
of about 50% in both the value of
the equipment and the numbers
participating

In the US, we ran our ‘Shop for
Schools’ project for a second year

In this scheme, we give participating
schools US$1 for every US$20 spent
at Fresh & Easy stores The first year
of the project helped raise over
U5%130,000 for schools in Californa,
Arizona and Nevada, with the school
that raised the most money i each
state receving a US$5,000 bonus

In Turkey, our Computers for Schools
pragramme distrnbuted 264 products
inctuding computers, printers and
projecters to 60 schools In Poland,
more than 600 schools took part in
our Tesco for Schools programme,
an environmental contest for schools
where chuldren create a plece of art
with an environmental theme

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Finaneial Statements 2010 29

SsaUIsngInQ

© dntto ek



30

“..descois
environmentally
friendly”

Tesco
works
for me...

Julia with Krystian
Tesco cus tomer
Krakow, Poland
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Community
continued

Weaimtoact
responsibly in
everything we do

Buying and selling products
responsibly

We are committed to buying and
seling our products responsibly and
treating our suppliers fairly This is not
Just the nght thing to do, itis alse in
our business interest We know that
iIf you treat people decently they
perform better This approach also
helps to y1mprove the sustainability

of our supply chain By investing for
the long term in businesses that
understand our needs, our customers
benefit through better products and
our supplers’ employees benefit
through more stable and secure jobs

In 2009, aver 3,300 suppliers covering
all our markets responded to our
Group-wide anonymous supplier
survey — Supplier Viewpoint At least
90% agreed that we pay on {ime, we
are professional, we treat them with
respect and we are committed to
meeting customer requirements

We have launched our Trading Fairly
programme and recrutted our first
ethical action managers in South
Africa and Bangladesh, who work
with our local supplers to improve
canditions across the supply chain
We have also introduced ‘Trading
Fairly’ Awards for our produce and
clothing suppliers, which reward
suppliers making particularly strong
efforts to improve conditions

for their employees

We now have ethical
action managersin
South Africa and
Bangladesh

At Tesco product safety s of
paramount importance We have a
team of over 300 technical specialists
working to ratse standards in our
suppher base around the world

They help ensure that all our products
— from tagliatelle ta TVs —are safe,
legal, ethical and of the highest
quality for our customers

We know that many of our customers
want to buy products that support
their local businesses and economy,
particularly in the current economic
chimate They are also concerned
aboui the environmental impact

of the products they buy In the UK,
we have dedicated local buying,
marketing and technical teams in
each of our regional buying offices
We stock more than 4,000 local
hnes and work with over 400 local
and national supphers We're also
doing more local buying in our
international businesses For example,
in Paland, we sell more than 6,000
regional products

Giving customers healthy choices
We are commutted to helping our
customers and staff adopt healthy
lifestyles We aim to provide better
information on the nutritional value
of products so customers can make
infarmed choices to improve therr
health Across the Group we have
exceeded our target of nutritional
labelling on own-brand products —
we now label 100% of eligible

products ~ giving customets the tools

they need to make healthy choices

As part of our strategy {o encourage
custorners to lead more active hves,
we run a range of programmes
around the world from aerobic
competitions n Thailland to chanity
‘Runs for ife’ n Slovakia and the
Czech Republic Thus yearwe
succeeded in getting 6 2 mullion
people active across the world

In Poland we sell
more than 6,000
regional products

Creating good jobs and careers
We are dedicated to creating goed
Jobs wherever we are

During the year we opened a further
three Regeneration Partnership stores
in the UK, in Oldham, Birrmuingham
and Litherland, near Liverpool,
creating 380 jobs for the long-term
unemployed Since 2009, we have
opened 26 Regeneration Partnership
stores and created more than 3,200
jobs for people who have previously
been long-term unemployed Half the
jobs for each partnership are reserved
for local people who have been
unemployed for at least sixmonths,
including those with low levels of
numeracy and hteracy skills and
people with disabilities

We were also one of the first
compantes to work with the UK
Government in Local Employment
Partnerships, designed to provide
Jobs for the long-term unemployed

We will create 16,000 new jabs this
year, including 9,000 in the UK

ssauisng inQ
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Watch the videa,
www lesco comitescoworksforme
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OI.II' people at a glance

As we grow our business we're developing our people to become
leaders for the future.

People

472,000

Improved attendance levels put
an additional four million hours
into UK stores and depots

4m

£98m

in shares awarded
under Sharesin
Success scheme

195,000

of our people
have a personal
stakein Tesco

50%

of peoplaon

the boards of
ourinternational
businesses
arelocalto

that country

New graduates recruited this year

810
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China Graduate
Programme -
recruiting tomorrow’s
leaders today

We believe that businesses perform best when
they are run by local peaple for local customers
However, we also understand the importance of
sharing knowledge and experience around the
Group Qur China Graduate Programme helps
balance both these requirements whilst ensuring
that we recruit tap talent for the future ta grow
with the business

Each year we recruit a small number of high-
potential graduates who are fluent in both English
and Mandarin The graduates spend seven
months being trained, supported and developed
in the UK before taking up a specific role in China
As with all our graduates, we are committed to
equipping these individuals with both the
techmical and leadership skills they will need to
progress through the business

This unique scheme has been running for four
years now and is gaining a strong reputation
amongst university leavers Last year we attracted
almost 1,000 applicants for just 12 places Previous
years' graduates have gone on to managerial roles
across a vanety of functrons in China
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Our people

Our people
are crucial to
our success

Our Values are ‘No-one tries harder
for customers’ and ‘We treat
people how we like to be treated’
These values are interlinked and
underpin everything we do at
Tesco. We know that by managing
our people well ~ in a culture of
trust and respect — they wall in turn
try their hardest for customers

By offering competitive pay and
benefits and an opportunity to
develop a long-term vaned career
with good training, we are able to
keep our people motivated, committed
and exaited about working at Tesco
In the UK, for example, in our internal
Viewpoint’ staff survey this year,

we improved on 24 out of the

25 measures and attendance levels
improved again, putting an additional
four million hours into our stores
and depots

Rewards and benefits

Our people are crucial to our
success and it 1s essential that
they feel rewarded for the work
they do and supported in their
development We offer good pay
across all our businesses, as well as
benefits In each market that reflect
employees’ priorties

Despite the tough global market in
2009 we contmued to invest in pay
at the annual review We focused

on our core rates and In a tough
financial year our pay competitiveness
improved i most markets

In many develaping markets,
employees place most value on good
basic pay and being paid fairly for
overtime and these are our priorities
In Malaysia, for example, where there
15 no legal minimum wage, the
miremum a Tesco employee will
receive 1s 30% mare than the Poverty
Line Index In Thailand this year we
mtroduced a staff discount linked

to Clubcard

In the UK, our reward package leads
the market on pay and benefits We
are one of the few FTSE businesses
to still have an open defined benefit
pension scheme, which 1s greatly
valued by staff We reqularly offer
staff the opportunity to expenence
our brand For example, we offer staff
great deals on our Retailing Services
— Tesco Mohule offers exclusive staff
tanffs and Tesco Bank offers deals on
Home Insurance, Life Insurance and
Travel Money — which not only reward
our staff but encourage them to
become advocates for our services

Through share ownership and share
incentive schermes, 195,000 of our
people have a personal stake in Tesco
Employees were awarded shares
worth a record £98m last May
through our Shares In Success
scheme Over 55,000 staff were able
to benefit when Save As You Earn
schemes matured in February, giving
them access to shares worth £144m

Training and development

We are committed to providing
opportunittes for our people to get
on and turn their jobs into careers

‘No-one tries harder
for customers’

Last year we had more people on
development prograrnmes than
ever before

We have continured to develop our
apprenticeship training 1n the UK
Since 2004, 83% of the employees
who embarked on the scheme have
been awarded an Apprenticeship in
Retai Skills —equating to five GCSEs
atgrades A* to C This traming is
completed entirely in the workplace

The first 17 students to complete the
Tesco Foundation Degree graduated
in July The Foundation Degree in
Retall — delivered and awarded by
Manchester Metropolitan University
- 15 a two-year development
programme aimed at providing work-
focused retall training to managers at
Tesco We now have 60 people on the
scheme and are working on ways to
make 1t grow

We believe that even in difficult imes
It 1s essential to invest in future talent
That’s why this year, while many other
businesses were cutting their graduate
schemes, we increased our graduate
intake to 810, ncluding 535 In Asia

Tesco Academy

As a leading global company, Tesco
aims to offer the very best tramning
and development for all its employees
The Tesco Academy helps provide an
opportunity to get an for all our
people Itdevelops thousands of
world-class leaders through excellent
traimng in leadership, management
and techrcal skills
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Our people
continued

Everyone
is welcome
at Tesco

Over the coming year we will be
tnvesting nearly £30m in a purpose-
built, carbon neutral training facility
in South Karea, set to become our
Tesco Academy hub for Asia The
new Academny will help ensure that
the development of our people in
Asia keeps pace with the rapndly
growing business

In the UK, our European Acaderny
provides & hub to bring cur managers
and directors from around the world
1o the UK We annually bring cur

100 most senior leaders together

to share the long-term strategy,
develop their leadership skills and
buifd thetr network The ams to
develop confident leaders and create
a community of experts

Developing leaders

As our business grows and diversifies
we need more leaders to run the
many substantial businesses and
functions within the Group, several of
which would rank as major companies
in thetr own nght

We now have 480 peopie at Director
level in the business Of these, 50%
work in our International business -
a combination of local hires and
people moving from the UK business

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

We also understand the impartance
of increasing mobility As a global
business we're developing leaders
with a glabal perspective and now
have 34% of our Directors with at
least one year of expertence autside
thewr home country

This year we enrolled our second
group of semor Directors on to our
Advanced Leadership Programme -
an 18-manth course aiming to
accelerate capabiity and prepare
individuals to become future business
leaders The first intake graduated
earher this year By July all will have
been promoted, with two thirds
waorking outside the UK

Our Work Level 3 to 4 Options
programme Is our main vehicle for
the internal development of gur future
directors Pregrammes have been
running very successfully in the UK
for around three years, and we have
rolled the programme out to Asia,
Europe and the US in the last year

Whistle-blowing

Our whistle-blowing policy and
helphine i1s now i place in all countries
‘Protector Line’ 1s a 24-hour
conftdential telephone line and email
address for employees to raise ethical
issues and also report grievances

All calls are logged and investigated
by the appropnate function and all
serious matters are brought to the
attention of the CEQ The feedback
1s monitored by the comphance
commiitee in each business The
Group Audit Committee annually
reviews the number of calls and the
quality of investigation and reviews
plans to ensure our staff are aware
of the facility

‘We treat people
how we like to be
treated’ 1

In 2009 we racerved around 1,700
employment-related calls to the
helphne across the Group This is an
increase from last year, showing that
employees are gaining confidence in
the service Most calls relate to
personnel Issues, commercial issues,
security and trading law Personnel
1ssues are referred back to the store or
resolved through grievance procedures

Diversity and inclusivity

We strive to provide an inclusive
environment where all difference

1s valued, people are able to be
themselves, enjoy coming to work
and reahse their full potential,
regardless of their gender, mantal
status, race, age, sexual onentation,
creed, ethruc ongin, religion or belief,
or disability

Three women in Tesco are currently
being coached as part of the FTSE
100 Cross-Company Mentoring
Programme The Programme,
launched in 2003, involves FTSE 100
Chairmen and CEQs acting as
mentors to senior women just below
board level in other FTSE companies
The mentors guide and advise
women in the management of their
careers so that they are better
positioned to be considered for board
appointments Qur Chairman, David
Reid, 1s currently working with his
second mentee from outside Tesco

Watch the video
www tesco comitescoworksforme




J-T,

Tesco
works
for me...

esco employee
Cheshunt

“..you are given
the opportunity to
go as far as you want”

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Finanoal Staterments 2010 35




Our Board of Directors

Key

= = Member of the
Nominations
Comrmittee

+ = Member of the
Audit Commuttee

= = Member of the
Remuneration
Committee

Ken Hanna

Tim Mason

David Reid - 63*

Nan-executive Chairman

Dawvid Reid became Non-executive
Chawrman on 2 April 2004 Prior to his
appomtment he was Deputy Chairman
of Tesco PLC and has served on the
Tesco Board since 1985 David 15 a
Non-executive Director of Reed Elsevier
Group PLC and Chairman of both Kwik-
Fit Group and Whizz-Kidz

Rodney Chase CBE — G6**®
Deputy Chairman and Senior
Non-executive Director

Redney Chase was appointed a
Non-executive Dwector on 1 July 2002
He 1s Non-executive Chairman of
Petrofac Limited and a Non-executive
Director of Computer Sciences
Corporation in Los Angeles, Nalco
Company in Chicago and Tesoro
Corporation In San Antonio

Sir Terry Leahy - 53°

Chief Executive

Terry Leahy became Chief Executive
it 1997 Jowning Tesco in 1979, he
held a number of marketing and
commercial positions prior to betng
appointed to the Board of Tesca PLC
on 5 October 1992

Rodney Chase
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Lucy Neville-Rolfe

Richard Brasher - 48

Commercial and Marketing Director
Richard Brasher was appointed to the
Board on 15 March 2004 He joined
Tesco 1n 1986 He has held a number
of marketing, commercial and store
operations positions, most recently
Non-food Commercial Director

Phitip Clarke - 45

Internattonal and 1T Director

Phikp Clarke was appointed to the
Board on 16 Novemnber 1998 Prior to
his appomntment he held a nurnber of
roles In store operations, commercial
and marketing He s a Non-executive
Director of Whitbread PLC

Andrew Higgimson - 52

Chief Executive of Retailing Services
and Group Strategy Director

Andrew Higginson was appointed

to the Board on 17 November 1997
He 1s now Chief Executive of Retailling
Services, retaining his responsibilities
for Tesco Group strategy Hes
Chairman of Tesco Bank and a Non-
executive Director of BSkyB pl¢

David Potts  Ken Hydon

Patrick Cescau

Tim Mason - 52

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Fresh & Easy

Tim Mason has been President and
Chief Executive Officer, Fresh & Easy
Neighborhood Market since January
2006 He was appointed to the Board
on 16 February 1995 He joined Tesco
In 1982

Laurie Mcllweae — 47

Group Finance Director

Laure Mcllwee was appointed to the
Beard on 27 January 2009 He joined
Tesco in 2004 as UK Finance Director
and becarme Distribution Director

1n 2005 Launes a Chartered
Management Accountant

Lucy Neville-Rolfe, CMG - 57
Corporate & Legal Affairs Director
Lucy Newville-Rolfe was appainted to
the Board on 14 Decernber 2006 She
Joined Tesco in 1997 from the Cabinet
QOffice Shes Deputy Charr of the
British Retalt Consortiumn, a Non-
executive Director of The Carbon Trust,
and a member of the China Britain
Business Council, the UK India Business
Council and the Corporate Leaders
Group on Climate Change

Terry Leahy
Bakker

Jacqueline Tammenoms




Philip Clarke  Charles Allen

David Potts - 52

Retaill and Logsuics Director

Dawd Potts was appainted to the
Board on 16 November 1998 He joined
Tescoin 1973 From 1997 he directed
the integration of our businesses in
Northern Ireland and the Republic of
Ireland before returning to the UX in
2000 as Director responsible for UK
Retail Operations From 2004 Dawd's
responsibilites have included the

UK Supply Chain and the Republic

of Ireland

Charles Allen CBE - 53*®
Non-executive Director

Charles Allen was appointed a Non-
executive Director on 19 February
1999 He was Chief Executive of ITV plc
from 2004 to 2007 He 15 Chairman of
Global Radio, Chairman of EMI Music, a
Non-executive Director of the Olympig
Games and Paralympic Games Ltd and
a Senior Advisor to Goldman Sachs

Patrick Cescau— G1o*s
Non-executive Director

Patnick Cescau was appointed a Non-
executive Director on 1 February 2009
He was Group Chief Executive of
Unilever frem 2005 to 1 Jarnuary 2009,
and prior to this he was Chairman of
Unilever plc and Vice Chairman of
Unilever NV He has also been a Non-
executive Director of Pearson plc
since 2002 Patnick was appointed

a Chevalier de ta Légion d'honneur

in 2005 In June 2009, Patrick joined
the Board of INSEAD

Richard Brasher  Dawic Rexd

Karen Cook — 56"

Non-executive Director

Karen Cook was appointed a Non-
executive Director on 1 October 2004
She 1s a Managing Drector of Geldman
Sachs International and President of
Goldman Sachs, Europe She s also

a member of the firm's European
Management Committee and
Partnership Commuttee

Dr Harald Einsmann - 76%%
Non-executive Director

Dr Harald Einsmann was appointed a
Non-executive Director on 1 April 1999
He s on the Board of Carlson Group

of Companies, Harman [nternational
Industries Inc and Checkpomnt Systems
Ing 1n the United States Heis also

on the Board of Rezidor AB in Sweden

Ken Hanna - 56%¢®

Non-executive Director

Ken Hanna was appointed a Non-
executive Director on 1 Aprl 2009
He s Chairman ¢f Inchcape PLC He
was previously Chief Financial Officer
of Cadbury plc untit March 2009 and
prior to that an QOperatng Partner
of Compass Partners and CFQ and
then CEQ of Dalgety PLC He has
also been CFO of United Distillers
and Avis Europe pic

Laurie Mcliwee Karen Coak Harald

Einsmann

Ken Hydon - 65*¢

Non-executive Director

Ken Hydon was appointed a Non-
executive Director an 23 February
2004 Hes also a Non-executive
Director of Reckitt Benckiser plc,

the Royal Berkshire NHS Foundation
Trust and Pearson plc
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Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker
-56*

Non-executive Director

Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker was
appointed a Non-executive Director
on 1 January 2009 She was a Director
General at the Mirustry of Transport

in the Netherlands from 2001 to 2007
and has held seror pesitions at Quest
International, McKinsey & Co and Shell
Jacqueline was appointed a Chevalier
de ta Légion d’hanneur in 2006

Jonathan Lloyd - 43

Company Secretary

Jonathan Lloyd was appointed
Company Secretary to the Board in
December 2006 He joined Tesco as
Deputy Company Secretary in April
2005 from Freshfields Bruckhaus
Deringer Jonathan 1s also Company
Secretary of Tesco Bank

Andrew Jonathan Lloyd

Higginson
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Key performance indicators (KPls)"

We operate a balanced scorecard approach to managing the
business that 1s known internally within the Group as our ‘Steenng
Wheel’ This unites the Group's resources and in particular focuses
the efforts of our staff around our customers, pecople, operations,
finance and the commurnuty |ts prme focus 15 as 8 management tool
for the Company so that there 1s appropnate balance in the trade-
offs that need to be made between the main levers of management
—such as operations measures, financial measures or delivery of
customer metrics

i1 therefore enables the business to be operated and momitored

on a balanced basis wath due regard to the needs of all stakeholders
For the owners of the business, 1115 ssimply based around the
philosophy that if we look after customers and staff well and operate
efficiently and effectively then shareholders’ interests will always be
best served by the newitable outputs of those ~ growth in sales, profits
and retums

2010 2009 2008
Sales growth
Change in Group sales over the year (Including value added tax) 6 8% 15 1% 111%
UK sales growth 4.2% 9 5% 67%
International sates growth 8.8% 30 6% 25 3%
International sales growth (at constant exchange rates) 6.6% 13 6% 22 5%
Retailing Services sales growth 4.2% 1% -
Profit before tax £3,176m £2917m""  £2,803m
Underlying profit before tax £3,395m £3124m™  £2,846m
Trading margin
UK trading margin 6.2% 6 2% 59%
International trading margin {excluding the United States) 5.3% 53% 56%
Trading margin 1s calculated from the trading profit expressed as a percentage of Group revenue (sales excluding value
added tax) and excluding the impact of IFRIC 13 it 1s a measure of profit generation from sales and 15 a comparable
performance measure with other companies This 1s how much we made fram trade 1n our stores, taking account of the
cost of the products sold, wages and salanes, expenses assocated with runming the stores, depots and head office, and the
cost of depreciation of the assets used to generate the profits Trading profit 15 stated after adjusting operating profit for
the mpact of [AS 19,1A5 32 and IAS 39 (prncipally pension costs and the marking to market of financial instruments)
It also excludes the non-cash elements of IAS 17 ‘Leases’, relating to the smpact of annual uphfts in rents and rent-free
penods, and the IFRS 3 amortisation charge on intangible assets anising on the acquisition of Tesco Personal Finance {TPF)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow £{739)m £1,601m £801m
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Is the cash recewved less cash spent durning the financial period, after financing activities
Capital expenditure £3.1bn £47bn £39bn
This 1s the amount invested in purchasing fixed assets
UK £1.5bn £2 6bn £23bn
International £1.5bn £21bn £16bn
Tesco Bank £0.1bn - -
Net borrowings and gearing
Net borrowings £7.9bn £9 6bn £6 2bn
Geanng 54% 74% 52%
Return on capital employed (ROCE) 12.1% 12 8%"" 129%*
ROCE 15 calculated as profit befare interest less tax divided by the average of net assets plus net debt plus dvidend
creditor less net assets held for sate ROCE 15 a relative profit measurement that not only incorporates the funds
shareholders have invested, but alse funds invested by banks and other fenders, and therefore shows the productty
of the assets of the Group
Underlying diluted earnings per share 31.66p° 28 87p"” 2702p

Underlying diluted earnings per share 1s the calculation of profit after tax and minonty interest dwvided by the diluted
weighted average number of shares in issue dunng the year Itis the amount which could be paid out on each share
if the Company decided to distnbute all its profits as dividends instead of retaimng some for future expansion

*  AlIKPIs are for 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010, 53 weeks ended 28 February 2009 and 52 weeks ended 23 February 2008 unless otherwise stated

** Restated for IFRS 2 and IFRIC 13

Using 'normahised’ tax rate before start-up costs in the US and Tesco Direct, and excludes the impact of foreign exchange in equity ané our acquisition of a majanity share of Dabbies

}
§ Underlying diluted earnings per share grew by 9 7% an a statutory basis
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2010 2009 2008
Total shareholder return 9 5% 8 0% 22 8%

Total shareholder return 1s the notional return from a share and 15 measured as the percentage change in the share price,
plus the dividend paid This is measured over the last five years

Full year dividend per share 13.05p 11 96p 10 09p
The dividend is paid in two instalments

We monitor a wide range of KPls, both financial and non-financial Individual business uruts have their own versions of the Steertng Wheel which
Incorperate their own priorities and KPIs Some of the Group KPls below are tracked through the Steering Wheel and those above are tracked as
a monitor of Investor return

Across the Group, KPls are set for local markets, with oversight from the Executive Directors, to ensure they are tailored to drive the priorities
of each business

The following are some KPls for the UK and Group operations

2010 2009 2008
UK market share
Grocery market share™™ 22.5% 22 2% 21 8%
New non-food market share! 4.1% 36% 3 5%
Employes retention 90% 87% 84%
This rmeasure shows the percentage of employees who have stayed with the business for longer than one year Itis one
measure that we use to monitor employee loyaity and satisfaction and we aim to exceed 80% retention of experienced staff
Reduction in CQ; emissions’t
UK 6.9% 3 6% 3 6%
Group 7.8% 4 8% 4 6%

This measure shows the overall year-on-year reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from existing stores and distnbution
centres buslt before 2006/7, adjusted to exclude emissions from acquisitions and extensions

Reduction in CO; emissions intensity of new stores and distnibution centres!t

Group 28.8% 25 3% 14 7%
Intensity 1s measured as greenhouse gas ermissionsisq ft The measure indicates the average reduction in emissions

intensity of all new stores and distnbution centres built since 200647 (the base year) Carban footprint reporting has been

assured by Environmental Resources Management (ERM)

***Thus is measured as the share of all spend by all shoppers through Kantar Worldpanel {Total Till Roil) data

t Source Verdict Research, Non food in Grocers 'New non-food' defined as non food retail sales excluding Household and Health & Beauty categories All figures are reparted on
a calendar year basis

14 2009 figures adjusted for 52-week comparisen
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Group financials

These results are for the 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010 in the
last full financial year, we reported a 53-week penod for the UK,
Republic of Ireland and the United States (US) and a 52-week penod
for the rest of the Group Growth rates in these results are expressed
for the UK, Republic of Ireland and U5 to coinaide with the
comparable 52 weeks last year

Statutory numbers include the adoption of IFRIC 13 (Custormer Loyalty
Programmes) All other numbers are shown excluding IFRIC13,
consistent with internal management reporting More information
can be found in note 1 to the Group financal statements

Group sales, including VAT, increased by 6 8% to £62 Sbn At
constant exchange rates, sales increased by 6 1% (mncluding petrol)
and 7 7% {excluding petrol)

Underlying profit before tax rose to £3,395m, an increase of 10 1%
Group trading profit was £3,412m, up 12 3% on last year and Group
trading margin, at 5 9%, rose 25 basis ponts These were helped

by the fact that Tesco Bank was fully consohdated in 2010 and
accounted for as a joint venture for most of 2009

Group operating profit rose by 10 7% to £3,457m Group profit
before tax increased 10 4% to £3,176m

On a statutory 52-week basis (compared to 53 weeks last year),
Group operating profit rose by 91% to £3,457m and Group profit
before tax rose by 8 9% to £3,176m

Cash flow and balance sheet Tesco hquidity has improved
significantly duning the year through strong cash generation, tight
control of capital expenditure and working capital improvernents
ansing from better inventory management Net debt has
consequently reduced by £1 7bn to £79bn

Excluding the effects of currency fluctuations, we expect to reduce
net debt to £7 5bn by the end of the 2010/11 finanaial year

The strength of our property-backed balance sheet was
further demonstrated with profitable market-leading sale and
teaseback transactions

Group capital expenditure was £3 1bn (last year £4 7bn) This reduced
level of spend was achteved whilst still delivering 8% growth in
Group selling space This year we plan to invest around £3 5bn
capital expenditure

Excluding Tesco Bank, cash flow from operating activities totalled
£5 4bn (£5 1bnin 2009), including a £0 6bn improvement in
working capital

Finance costs and tax Net finance costs, after net favourable IFRS
adjustments of £103m*, reduced to £314m (£356m last yearon a
consistent 52-week basis) Areduction in the underlying interest
charge 1s expected next year Total Group tax has been charged at
an effective rate of 26 4% (last year 26 7%) We expect the tax rate
in 2010411 to be around 26%
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Diwidend Underlying diluted earnings per share increased by 9 2%

to 16 62p in the second half, calculated using a constant tax rate The
Board has approved a final dwvidend of 9 16p per share, taking the full-
year dividend to 13 05p Thus represents an increase of 9 1% on last
year's full-year dividend which 1s in ine with the growth in underlying
diluted earnings per share at constant exchange rates The final
dvidend will be paid on 9 July 2010 to shareholders on the Register
of Members at the close of business on 30 April 2010

Property We are continuing to release value created through the long-
term development of our property portfolo In the year we completed
deals with total proceeds of £1 8bn and we expect to divest a similar
amount this year The strong demand for these assets and the good
yields achieved (inimial yrelds between 5 0% and 5 2% for stores)
demonstrate the strong underlying value of our property and the
strength of the Tesco covenant Profits from property in the year were
£377m Our property mix remains strong - over 70% of our property 1s
freehold - supported by substantial new capital investment in freehold
assets each year Our latest property assets valuation of £34 6bn
reflects recent firming yields across the market and confirms that our
assets are warth well in excess of their book value

Pension Our award-winning defined-benefit career-average pension
scheme 1s an important part of our competitive benefits package,
which helps Tesco recruit and retain the best people In the UK we have
160,000 employees Iin the scheme As at February 2010, under the

IAS 19 methodology of pension ability valuation, the scheme had a
deficit on a post-tax basis of £1 3bn, compared to £1 4bn at the half
year The last actuanal valuation of the scheme’s assets and habilities
showed a small and manageable deficit

Return on capital employed We have continued to invest dunng
the recession, which has put pressure on returns in the short term but
15 enabling us to make good progress i all our markets During the
financial year 2010 our post-tax return on capital employed (ROCE)
fell from 12 8%** t0 121%

Having raised ROCE from 10 2% n 2003 to 12 6% n 2006, we
committed in Apnl 2006 to increase ROCE a further 200 basis points
to 14 6% We are reaffirming this commitment with confidence

that with the prospect of an improving global economy and recent
significant Investments in acquisitions and new space making a greater
contribution going forward, returns will improve in the coming few
years, starting in 2010/M1

*  E151m benefit from IAS 32 and JAS 39 (Fair value of denvatives) partially offset by
£48rn cost as a result of 1AS 19 {Pensions)

** |n 2009, ROCE on a 52 week comparable basis was 12 7% On a 53-waek basis
1t was 12 B% (restated fos the impact of IFRIC 13, IFRS 2 and goodwill adjustments}




Risks and uncertainties

Introduction Risk Is an accepted part of doing business The real
challenge for any business is to identify the principat nisks it faces and to
develop and monitor appropriate controls A successful risk management
process balances nsks and rewards and relies on a sound judgement of
thesr hkelihaod and consequence The Board has overall responsibility for
risk management and internal control within the context of achieving the
Group's objectives Our process for identifying and managing risks 15 set
outin mare detall from page 49 of the Corporate Governance section of
the Annual Report and Financial Statements The key nisks faced by the
Group and relevant mitigating factors are set out below

Business strategy !f our strategy follows the wrong direction or s not
effectively communicated then the business may suffer We need to
understand and properly manage strategic nsk in order to deliver long-term
growth for the benefit of ali our stakeholders Qur strategy 1s based on
five elements to become a successful international retailer, 1o grow the
core UK business, be as strong in non-food as in food, develop retailing
services and put the community at the heart of what we do Pursuit of this
five-part strategy has allowed the business to diversify and, at a strategic
level, diversification and pursuit of growth in emerging markets have the
effect of reducing overall nsk by avording refiance on a small number of
business areas However, by Its very nature, diversification also introduces
new risks to be managed in areas of the business that are less mature and
less fully understood

To ensure the Group coniinues to pursue the nght strategy, the Board
discusses strategic 1ssues at every Board meeting and dedicates two full
days a year to reviewing the Group’s strategy The Executive Commuttee
also discusses strategy on a regular basis We have structured programmes
for engaging with all cur stakeholders including custormers, employees,
investors, supphers, government, media and non-governmental
organisations We also invest significant resources i ensuring our strategy
1s communicated well and understoed by the parties whao are key to
delivering it The business operates a Steering Wheel (a balanced scorecard
process whereby we set goals for different areas of the business and assess
our averall progress on a quarterty basis) in all countries and sigrificant
business units to help manage performance and debiver business strategy

Financial strategy and Group treasury risk The main financial nsks of
the Group relate to the availability of funds to meet business needs, the
nisk of default by counterparties to financial transactions and fluctuations
ninterest and foreign exchange rates The risks assooated with operating
Tesco Bank are covered under Financial services risks below

The Treasury function 1s mandated by the Board to manage the financial
risks that anse in relation to underlying business needs The function has
clear policies and cperating parameters, and its activities are routinely
reviewed and audited The function does not operate as a profit centre and
the undertaking of speculative transactions 1s not permitted A descnption
of the role of the Finance Commuttee, Internal Audit and External Auditis
set out in the Corporate Governance section on page 50

Financial services nisks Through Tesco Bank, the Group 15 subject to
certain risks relating to the personal financial services industry in the UK
Tesco Bank s subject ta significant legislative and regulatory oversight

In particular, Tesco Bank 1s subject to supervision by the Financial Services
Authonity (FSA) which has substantial powers of intervention and requires
1t to satisfy certain capital adequacy and hiquidity ratios If Tesco Bank s
unable to or fails to satisfy these ratios in the future it could lose its hcence
and, consequently, its ability to transact business

Tesco Bank became a wholly owned subsidiary of Tesco on 19 December
2008 In preparation for this change its nsk management and treasury
capabilities were matenally strengthened All policies pertaning to risk
within the Bank are now subject to Tesco Bank speafic governance
procedures which are owned by the Tesco Bank Board i

Tesco Bank has a banking bustness, predomimantly in the UK, with the
three main products being credit cards, unsecured personal loans and
savings It has also developed a significant insurance business, with motar,
home and pet insurance being the main products

Tesco Bank 1s subject to various nisks associated with the prowvision of
financial services In relation to its nsurance business Tesco Bank may
experience a concentration of nsks from natural or man-made disasters
In addition market conditions may not allow It to purchase the amount

of re-insurance it considers necessary on terms It considers acceptable
Actual claims may exceed the claims prowvisions that have been made on
the basis of past experience Tesco Bank's credit card recevables and
personal loan portfolio may be subject to changes in credit guality, due

to a general deterioration i economic conditions or to faikures in its credit
assessment process, which could adversely impact its ability to recover
amounts due Furthermore, there is significant competition in the financial
services industry which could adversely affect Tesco Bank's profitabiity
Legal developments, changes in legal interpretation or precedent and
changes i public policy may result in new risks emerging m addition to
those anticipated
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Tesco Bank 15 In the process of building new banking and insurance
systems and untid these are complete there 1s an increased element
of operational risk as rmost operations are outsourced to Royal Bank of
Scotland Tesco Bank retains the risk to 1ts nsurance activities posed
by external factors, such as a large weather-related event

Tesco Bank 15 an FSA-regulated entity and so its treasury function 1s run
independently from the rest of the Group Tesco Bank’s treasury risks
include quidity nsk and interest rate nsk (in particular, In the interest rate
margtn realised between lending and barrowing costs) Tesco Bank

Is also subject to the nsk of unexpected losses ansing from operational
failure, whether as a result of human error, systems failures, fraud or
Inadequate controls

Tesco Bank monitors these nsks through its governance structures, assessing
any potential impact and action required to manage them The work of the
Risk Committee focuses an systemic nisks such as funding, credit nsk and
nsks in the insurance business, while the Tesco Bank Audit Committee
considers internal controls and assurance

Operational threats and performance risk in the business There s a
nsk that our business may not deliver the stated strategy n full, particularly
since, like all retailers, the business 1s susceptible to economic downturn
that could affect consumer spending The conttnuing acquisition and
development of property sites also farms an intrinsic part of our strategy
and this carnes inherent risks
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Risks and uncertainties continued

We aim to deliver what customers want better than cur compettors by
understanding and respanding io their needs All of our business units
have stretching targets based on the Steenng Wheel and the performance
of business untts 1s monitored continually and reported regularly to the
Board We manage the acquisition and development of our property
assets carefully We consider and assess in detall every site at each stage
of acquisition and development and ensure that relevant action is taken

to minirmise any risks

Competition and consolidation The retas industry is highly competitive
The Group competes with a wide vanety of retailers of varying sizes and
faces increased competition from UK retailers as well as international
operators in the UK and overseas

Failure to compete with competitars on areas including price, product
range, quahty and service could have an adverse effect on the Group's
financial results

We aim to have a broad appeal on pnce, range and store formatin a way
that allows us to compete in different markets We track performance
agamst a range of measures that custorners tell us are critical to their
shopping trip experience and we constantly monitor custorner perceptions
of ourselves and our competitors to ensure we can respond quickly if we
need to

People capabilities Employees are our greatest asset |t 15 critical to gur
success to attract, retain, develop and motivate the best people with the
rnight capabihties at all levels of operations We review our people policies
reqularly and are committed to investing i training and development and
incentives for our people Qur *Talent Planning’ process helps individuals
achieve their full potential We also carry out succession planning to ensure
that the future needs of the business are considered and provided for
Fhere are clear processes for understanding and responding to employees’
needs through our People Matters Group, staff surveys, regular performance
reviews, involvernent of trade untons in relevant markets and regular
communication of business developments We take a proactive approach
10 encouraging diversity at all levels within the business

Reputational nsk As the largest retailer in the UK, expectations of the
Group are high Fallure to protect the Group's reputation and brand could
lead to a loss of trust and confidence This could result in a decline in the
customer base and affect the ability to recruit and retain good people

Like other companies we must consider potential threats to our reputation
and the consequences of reputational damage Ernctional loyalty to the
Tesco brand has helped us diversify into new areas like retail services and
non-food and we recognise the commeraal imperative to da the nght
thing for all our stakeholders and avaid the loss of such loyalty The

Tesco Values are embedded in the way we do business at every level

and our Group Code of Business Conduct guides our behaviour in our
deahings with customers, employees and supplers

We engage with stakeholders in every sphere to take into account thesr
views and we try to ensure our strategy reflects them Since the launch
of the Community Plan in 2006 we have demonstrated our commitmens
to tackling a wide range of societal and environmentahissues We have
hugh level comrmittees, including the Executive Committee, Corporate
Responsibrity Cornmuittee and Group Comphance Commuittee to help
guide and manitor our policies

42  Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

Environmental risks The main erwironmenta! risk we face is the threat
of cimate change and it1s essential that we work to mitigate it through
energy effiaency, the sustainable management of other rescurces and
waste mimmisation We engage with key stakehalders and experts in
developing environmental palicy, including through the Sustainable
Consumption Insttute we have endowed at Manchester University

Erwvironmental strategy and policies are reviewed regularly by the
Corporate Responsibility Commuttee Our climate change strategy is driven
by a belef that proactive environmental performance will be rewarded by
cansumers and that providing the means by which consurmers can adopt
low-carbon lifestyles wilt increasingly be a route to competitive advantage

Product safety The safety and quality of our products 15 of paramount
importance to Tesco as well as being essential for maintaining customer
trust and confidence A breach of canfidence could affect the size of our
custorner base and hence financal results

We have detalled and established procedures for ensunng product
integnty at all tmes, especially for cur own-label products There are
stnct product safety processes and regular management reports We
wark i partnershup with suppliers to ensure mutual understanding of
the standards required ‘We also monitor developments in areas such as
health, safety and nutnition in order to respond appropriately to changing
customer trends and new [egislaton We have clear processes for cnsis
management, pulling together expert teams should we need to respond
quickly on1ssues

Health and safety nisks The safety of our staff and customers is of the
utmast importance to us If we are unable to provide safe environments
for our staff and custorners this could fead to injunes or loss of life

We operate stringent health and safety processes in ine with best
practice i our stores, distnbution centres and offices which are monitored
and audited regulady KPIs for health and safety help prevent incidents
and form an intrinsic part of our Steenng Wheel across the business
Performance against these KPls is reported quarterly Our Group
Comphance Cormrttee and the Comphance Comrittees in our business
units moniter the level of compliance with both health and safety laws
and our internal policies on a regular basis

Ethical nsks in the supply chain Milions of people around the world
work directly for suppliers to Tesco and the supply chain 1s made of
complex relationships — from individual farmers and growers through

to processors, manufacturers and distnbutors At the heart of aur Values

15 our belref that we shou!d treat people as we like to be treated and we
have a responsibility to help workers in our supply chain enjoy fair labour
standards We therefore require our suppliers to meet strict criteria on
labour standards, and as a founder member of the Ethical Trading [nitiative
(ETI}, we expect all our supphers to foltow the ET| Base Code and guarantee
thewr workers the nights set out withun it There 15, however, a nisk that any
part of the supply chain might not adhere to these high standards
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To mirurmise this risk we only work with suppliers who can demonstrate
that they are commutted to the ET| Base Code and share our Values We
use Suppler Ethical Data Exchange {SEDEX) to carry out risk assessment
of all our direct suppliers and ali mediurm and high-nisk suppliers must
undergo an extensive, iIndepandent ethical audit We continue to operate
a comprehensive programme of audit improvements, including more
unannounced audis and an industry-leading Auditor Recognitron
programme We have also sought to involve more multi-stakeholder
representatives on our audits 1o Improve workforce engagement and
enable activists to see and give feedback on our approach We work with
supplers to identify any problems and, where they exist, support supphers
n taking actton to improve standards for therr workers

We have invested heavtly in building the labour standards capabilties of
our suppliers and cur own commercial teams in the last year, including
roiling out extensive training to help them identify and avoid issues before
they arise We also work with businesses, governments, non-governmental
organisations (NGQOs) and cothers to tackle complex and systemic problems
that we cannot solve on our own As well as having a key role in the ETl we
also work closely with the Global Social Comphance Programme and other
groups In specific industnes and regions

Fraud and compliance As the business grows in size and geographical
spread, the nisk of the oceurrence of fraudulent behaviour by our
employees increases Whilst the vast majonty of our staff are completely
honest, there remains the potential for fraud and other dishonest activity
at all levels of the business, from the shop floor to semor management

The Group takes extensive steps to reduce this nsk Relevant accounting
and other procedures and controls at all levels are clearly set out and
audited across the business to reduce the risk of fraud The Group gives
clear guidance on behaviour to employees through the Tesco Values and
the Group Code of Business Conduct Internal Audit undertakes detalled
investigations into all areas of the business and highlights its findings

to the Audit Committee The Compliance Committee formulates and
monitors the iImplementation of, and complance with, appropnate policies
an key areas of ethical behaviour, including fraud

Property We have stretching targets for delivering new space in all of our
markets and may face challenges in finding suitable sites and obtaining
planning or other consents to enable sites to be acquired and developed
The complexity of many of our property developments I1s increasing,
especially the growing number of malls and mixed-use schemes We also
have to comply with design and construction standards which vary
sigmficantly from country to country

Qur Property Acquisiion Committee and other related committees in

the UK, Europe, Asia and the US dosely control all aspects of the property
acquisition, planning and construction processes to ensure that apphcable
standards are met and financial nsks are minirmised Qur Group and
country Comphance Committees also monitor compliance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements in all aspects of our property activities

Non-foaod risks As the proporuon of our business represented by
non-food products increases, there i1s a nsk that a downturn in consumer
confidence may affect the level of dermand for products which consumers
may regard as non-essential

We make every effort to ensure that our non-food products are
compettvely pnced and offer a broad range of products ranging from
value to the luxury end of the market in arder to cater for the needs of
as wide a range of customers as possible

IT systems and infrastructure The business is dependent on efficient
information technelogy (IT) systemns Any significant faillure in the IT
processes of our retail operations {e g barcode scanning or supply chain
logistics) would impact our ability to trade We recognise the essential
rale that IT plays across our operations in allewing us to trade efficiently
and achieve commercial advantage through implementing IT nnovations
that improve the shapping trip for customers and make life easier for
employees We have extensive controls in place to maintain the integnty
and efficiency of our IT infrastructure and we shave systems from across
our international operations to ensure consistency of delivery

Regulatory, political and economic environment We are subject to a
wide vanety of regulations In the different countries in which we cperate
because of the diverse nature of our business Tesco may be impacted by
regulatory changes in key areas such as planning laws, trading hours and
tax rules as well as by scrutiny by the competition authornities who have
been carrying out enquines in the UK, Ireland and elsewhere We may also
be impacted by political developments and the economic environment In
the countnes in which we operate We consider these uncertainties in the
external environment when developing strategy and reviewing performance
We remain wvigilant to future changes As part of our day-to-day operations
we engage with governmental and non-governmental organisations to
ensure the views of our customers and employees are represented and try

to anticipate and contribute to important changes in public pohcy wherever

we operate

Activism and terrorism A major inadent or terronst event Incapaciating
management, systems or stores could impact on the Group's ability to
trade In addition to contingency plans, we have security systems and
processes that reflect best practice

Pension nisks The Group’s pension arrangements are an important part
of our employees’ overall benefits package We see themn as a strong
contributer to gur ability to attract and retain good people Since the
implementation of IAS 19 there 15 a nisk that the accounting valuation
deficit (which 1s recorded as a liability on the Group Balance Sheet)

could increase If returns on corporate bonds are higher than the
investment return on the pension scheme's assets The Group has
considered its pension risks and has taken action by reducing nsk in

Its investment strategy

Financial review

The main financial nsks faced by the Group relate to the avallability

of funds to meet business needs, the risk of default by counterparties

to finanaial transactions, fluctuations 1N interest and foreign exchange
rates and credit rating nsks These nsks are managed as descnibed below
The Group Balance Sheet position at 27 February 201015 representative
of the position throughout the year

Funding and liquidity The Group finances its operations by a
combination of retatned profits, long and medium-term debt, capital
market 1ssues, commercial paper, bank borrowings and leases The
objective 15 to ensure continuity of funding The policy 1s to smooth the
debt matunty profile, to arrange funding ahead of requirements and to
matntain sufficient undrawn committed bank facihties and a strong credit
rating so that maturing debt may be refinanced as it falls due Tesco Group
has a long-term rating of A3 with a negative outlook by Moody's and A-
by Standard & Poor’s New funding of £2 3bn was arranged during the
year, including a net £1 8bn from property transactions and £0 5bn from
long-term debt At the year end, net debt was £79bn (last year £9 6bn)
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Risks and uncertainties continued

Interast rate risk management Qur abjective 15 to imit our exposure to
Increases 1n interest rates while retaining the opportunity to benefit from
Interest rate reductions Forward rate agreements, interest rate swaps,
caps and collars are used to achteve the desired mix of fixed and floating
rate debt

Qur policy 1s to fix or cap a mimmum of 40% of actual and projected debt
Interest costs of the Graup excluding Tesco Bank At the year end, £5 bbn
of debt was in fixed rate form (2009 — £6 3bn) with a further £0 1bn of
debt capped or collared, therefore 72% (2009 — 72%) of net debt is fixed,
capped or coltared The remaining balance of our debt is in floating rate
form The average rate of interest paid on an historic cast basis this year,
excluding joint ventures and associates, was 5 4% (2009 -5 2%)

Foreign currency risk management Our principal objective 1s to reduce
the effect of exchange rate volatility on short-term profits Transactional
currency exposures that could significantly impact the Group Income
Statement are hedged, typically using forward purchases or sales of
foreign currencies and currency options At the year end, forward foreign
currency transactions, designated as cash flow hedges, equivalent to

£1 083bn were outstanding (2009 — £2 11bn) as detatled in note 22 We
hedge the majornty of our investments 1n our international subsidianes via
foreign exchange transactions in matching currencies QOur objective 15 10
maintain a low cost of borrowing and hedge against material movements
in our Group Balance Sheet value During the year, currency movements
increased the net value of the Group's overseas assets by £47 7m (last year
increase of £480m) We translate overseas profits at average foreign
exchange rates which we do not currently seek to hedge

Credit nsk The objective 1s to reduce the nisk of loss arising from
default by parties to financial transactions across an approved list
of counterparties of good credit quality The Group's posiions with
these counterparties and their credit ratings are routinely monitored

Credit nsk ansing from Tesco Bank's unsecured lending 1s managed using
all the normal credit assessment and collections and recoveries systems
In terms of Iguidity nsk Tesco Bank has implemented a canservative
approach to the minimum amount of iquid assets 1ts holds and to its
Net Stable Funding Ratio

Insurance We purchased Assets, Earnings and Combined Liability
protection from the open insurance market at ‘catastrophe’ level only
The nsk not transferred to the insurance market 1s retained within the
business by using our captive Insurance companies, Tesco Insurance
Limited in Guernsey and Valiant Insurance Company Limited n the
Republic of Ireland Tesco Insurance Lirmited covers Assets and Earnings,
while Valiant Insurance Company Linited covers Combined Lisbihity
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Statement of comphance

This Business Review has been prepared m accordance with the requirements
for a business review under the Companies Act 2006 The Business Review'’s
tntent is to provide infarmation to shareholders and should not be rehed
on by any other party or for any other purpose

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking information
Where this review contains forward-looking statements, these are made
by the Directors in good faith based on the information avaitable to them
at the time of thew approval of this report These statements should be
treated with caution due to the inherent nsks and uncertainties undertying
any such forward-locking information

The Group cautrons investors that a number of iImportant factors, including
those in this document, could cause actual results to differ matenally from
those contained in any forward-looking statement Such factors include,
but are not imited to, those discussed under ‘Risks and uncertainties’ on
pages 41 to 44 of this document
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General information

Principal activity, business review and future developments The
principat activity of the Group 1s retailing and associated actmties in the
UK, China, the Czech Republc, Hungary, the Republic of freland, India,
Japan, Malaysta, Poland, Slovakia, South Korea, Thailand, Turkey and
the US The Group also provides retail barking and insurance services
through its subsidiary Tesco Bank

Group results Group revenue (excluding VAT) rose by £3bn to £56 9bn,
representing an increase of 71% Group profit before tax increased by
£259m, to £3,176m Profit for the year was £2,336m, of which £2,327m
was attnbutabie to equity holders of the parent company

Dividends The Directors recommend the payment of a final dvidend
of 3 16p per ordinary share, to be paid on 9 July 2010 to members on
the Register at the close of business on 30 April 2010 Together with the
interim dividend of 3 89p per ordinary share paid in Decernber 2009,
the total dvidend for the year will be 13 05p compared with 1196p for
the previous year, an increase of 91%

Fixed assets Capital expenditure (excluding business combinations)
amounted to £3 1bn compared with £4 7bn the previous year [n the
Directors’ opinion, the properties of the Group have an open market value
well in excess of the carrying value of £24 8bn which has been included in
these financial statemenits

Share capital and contrel of the Company Details of the Company’s
share capital, including changes dunng the year in the issued share capital
and details of the rights attaching to the Company’s Ordinary shares, are
set out In note 29 on page 116 Details of shares held by the Company's
Employee Benefit Trusts are shown in note 27 cn page 111 During the year
no Ordinary shares were repurchased for cancellation No shareholder
holds securities carrying special nghts with regards to control of the
Company and there are no restrictions on voting nghts The Board has
power to purchase the Company's shares and Is seeking renewal of that
power at the forthcoming AGM within the limits set cutin the notice of
that meeting

Shares held by the Company's Employee Share Incentive Plan Trust,
International Employee Benefit Trust and Tesco freland Share Bonus
Schermne Trust rank pari passu with the shares in 1ssue and have no special
rights Voting nghts and nghts of acceptance of any offer relating to the
shares held in these trusts rests wath the trustees, who may take account of
any recommendation from the Company Voting rights are not exercisable
by the employees an whose behalf the shares are held in trust

The Company 15 nat party to any significant agreements that would take
effect, alter or terminate following a change of control of the Company
The Company does not have agreements with any Director or Officer that
would provtde compensation for loss of office or employment resulting
from a takeover, except that provisions of the Company’s share plans may
cause options and awards granted under such plans to vest on a takeover

Company's shareholders The Company has been notified that as at

the date of this report Blackrock, inc owns 5 24%, and Legal & General
Investment Management Limited owns 3 71% of the 1ssued share capitai
of the Company The Company is not aware of any other shareholders
with interests of 3% or more in the 1ssued share capital of the Company

Articlas of Association The Company’s Articles of Associatton may only
be amended by special resolution at a General Meeting of the shareholders

Directors and their interests The Directors who served dunng the year
were Charles Alten CBE, Richard Brasher, Patrick Cescau, Philip Clarke,
Karen Cook, Redney Chase CBE, Harald Einsmann, Ken Hanna, Andrew
Higginson, Ken Hydon, Sir Terry Leahy, Tim Mason, Laurie Mcllwee,
Lucy Neville-Rolfe CMG, David Potts, David Reid and Jacqueline
Tammenoms Bakker The biographical details of the present Directars
are set out on pages 36 and 37 of this Report Ken Hydon, Tim Mason,
Lucy Neville-Rolfe, David Potts and Dawid Reid retire from the Board by
rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-etection

The interests of Directors and their immediate families in the shares of
Tesco PLC, aleng with details of Directors’ share options, are contained
In the Directors’ Remuneration Report set out on pages 52 to 66

At no time during the year did any of the Directors have a matenal interest
in any significant contract with the Cornpany or any of its subsidiaries

A qualifying third-party iIndemnity provision as defined in Section 234 of
the Comparnies Act 2006 1s 1n force for the benefit of each of the Directors
and the Company Secretary (who is also a Director of certain subsidiares
of the Company) in respect of habilities incurred as a resuit of their office,
to the extent permitted by law [n respect of those ilabilities far which
Directors may not be indemnified, the Company maintained a Directors’
and officers’ hability insurance policy througheut the financial year
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Employment policies The Group depends on the skills and commitment
of its emplayees in arder to achieve its objectives Ongaing training
programmes seek to ensure that employees understand the Graup’s
customer service objectives and strive to achieve them The Group’s
selection, training, development and promotion policies ensure equal
opportunities for all employees regardless of factors such as gender,
mantal status, race, age, sexual preference and onentation, colour, creed,
ethnic onigin, religion cr belief, disabihity or trade union affihation All
decisions are based on ment Internal communications are designed

to ensure that employees are well informed about the business af the
Group Employees are encouraged to become involved in the financat
performance of the Group through a variety of schemes, principally the
Tesco employee profit-sharing scheme {(Shares in Success), the savings-
related share option scheme {Save As You Earn) and the partnership
share plan (Buy As You Earn)

Political and chantable donations Cash donations to chanties
amounted to £31,221,573 (2009 - £28,278,867) Total contnbutions to
community projects including cash, cause-related marketing, gifts-in-kind,
staff urme and management costs amounted to £61,592,464 (2009 -
£57,094,208) There were no political donations (2009 — £nil) During the
year, the Group made contnibutions of £49,365 (2009 — £55,468) in the
form of sponsorship for political events Labour Party £15,300, Liberal
Dermocrat Party £6,300, Conservative Party £8,384, Scottish National
Party £5,500, Plard Cymru £2,000, trade umons £12,181

Supplier payment policy Tesco PLC 15 a signatory to the Prompt
Payment Code More information about the Code can be found at
www promptpaymentcode org uk Payment terms and conditions are
agreed with suppliers in advance Tesco PLC has no trade creditors on
its Balance Sheet The Group pays its creditors on a pay on time basis
which varies according to the type of product and territory in which the
suppliers operate

Going coneern The Directors consider that the Group and the Cormpany
have adequate resources to remain in operation for the foreseeable
future and have therefare continued to adopt the going concern basis

in prepanng the financial statements As with all business forecasts, the
Directors’ staternent cannot guarantee that the going concern basis will
rermain appropriate given the inherent uncertainty about future events

Events after the Balance Sheet date
Thers were no material events after the Balance Sheet date

Auditors A resclution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
auditors of the Company and the Group will be propoased at the Annual
General Meeting

Directors' statement of disclosure of information to auditors

Having made the reguisite enquines, the Directors in office at the date of
this Annual Report and Finanaal Statements have each confirmed that,

so far as they are aware, there 15 no relevant audit information (as defined
by Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006} of which the Group’s auditors
are unaware, and each of the Directers has taken all the steps he/she ought
to have taken as a Director to make himselffherself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of
that information This canfirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006
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Corporate governance

Directors’ report on corporate governance

Tesco PLC1s committed to the highest standards of corporate governance
as we recognmise that strong governance 15 cructal in helping the business
to deliver its strategy, generating shareholder value and safeguarding our
shareholders' long-term interests

Below Board level, the company fosters a strong culture of good governance,
in¢luding maintaining high ethical standards and strong personal integrity
This 15 formahised in the Group Code of Business Conduct which sets out
our expectations of employees clearly All businesses within the Group are
required to monitor their comphance with the Group governance framework
and this informaticn 1s reviewed at Board level

Compliance with the Combined Code

The Combined Code on Corporate Governance sets out guidance in the
form of prinaples and provisions ont how companies should be directed
and controlled to follow good governance practice The Financial Services
Authonty (FSA) requires companies hsted in the UK to disclose, in refation
to Section 1 of the Combined Code, how they have applied the pnnctples
and whether they have complied with its provisions throughout the
financial year Where the provisions have not been comphed with
companies must provide an explanation for this

The Board considers that Tesca PLC complied in full with the Combined
Code pnnaples of Corporate Governance and Code of Best Practice for the
whole of the year ended 27 February 2010, with the exception of provision
A3 2, in respect of which the company was not in comphance for part of
the year

Provision A 3 2 requires that at least half of the Board, excluding the
Chairman, should comprse Non-executive Directors determined by the
Board to be independent The Board recognises the importance of a
balanced board with an approprate level of Independence Due to
unexpected changes to the Board in the previous year, with the resignation
of Caralyn McCall and Mervyn Davies as Non-executive Directors, the
Board was not in balance at the beginning of the year

At that stage, Ken Hanna's impending appointment to the Board had
already been announced, and he joined the Board with effect from

1 April 2009, at which point the Board became balanced and once again
fully comphant with provision A 3 2

Further information on the Combined Code can be found atwww frc org uk

Board composition and independence

As at 27 February 2010, the Board of Tesce PLC comprised eight Executive
Directors, eightindependent Non-executive Directors and Dawvid Reid,
Nen-executive Chairman Radney Chase 1s Deputy Chairman and Semor
Independent Director The size of the Board Is appropnate given the
diverse markets the business operates in and the breadth of operations
and services offered in each market

The structure of the Board and the integnty of the indwidual Directars ensure
that no single indwidual or greup dorminates the decision making process

Biographies for the Directors can be found en pages 36 and 37 of this report
Changes to the Board since 1 March 2009 are as follows
Non-executive Director

Ken Hanna Appointed 1 Apni 2009

Election of Directors

All Directors have to submit themselves for re-election at least every theee
years If they wish to continue serving and are considered by the Board

to be eligible The Company's Articles of Association require all new
Directors to be submitted for election by shareholders in their first year
following appeintment

The Chairman

Clear dwisions of accountabibity and respensibility exist and operate
effectively for the positions of Chairman and Chief Executive The
Chairman has pnmary responsibility for leading the Board and setting
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1ts agenda, while the Chief Executive has executive respansibilities for the
operattons and results of the Group and making proposals to the Board
for the strategic development of the Group

Senior Independent Director

The Board has appointed one Non-executive Director, Rodney Chase,
to act as Semor Independent Director The Senior Independent Director
15 avallable to shareholders to assist in resolving concerns, should the
alternative channels be inappropnate The Sentor Independent Director
15 alsa required to lead the discussion in relation to assessing the
effectiveness of the Chairman’s performance

Non-exacutive Directors

The Non-executive Birectors brng a wide range of skills and expenence,
as well as independent judgement on strateqy, risk and performance to
the Company

The independence of each Non-executive Director is assessed at least
annually The Combtned Code suggests that a Non-executive Director
should be independent in character and judgement and be free from
relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear
to affect, the Director's jJudgement

The terms and conditions of appotntment af Non-executive Directors are
avallable for inspection at the Company’s registered office

Board responsibilities

The Board held 8 meetings in the year it alse held a two day off-site
meeting which considered the Group's strategy The Board has set outa
clear Schedule of Matters Reserved for Board Decision sn order to ensure
its overall control of the Group's affars These include the approval of

* the Company’s strategic and operating plans,
* annual and interm financial statements,

* major acquisitions and disposals,

authonty evels for expenditure,

= treasury policies,

* nisk management and internal control systems,

* group governance pohcies, and

* succession planning for senior executives

The Board delegates to management the detalled planning and
impiementation of these matters in accordance with appropnate risk
parameters The Board moniters compliance with policy and achievernent
against objectives by holding management accountable for its actiaties
through regular updates 1n addition, each substantral business within the

Group is required to present to the Board on a regular basis, giving it the
opportunity to understand and explore issues as deemed necessary

Dunng the year ended 27 February 2010, the Board's scheduled activities
included the following

* approving interim and full year results,

receiving reports from the Remuneratien Committee, Audit Committee
and Nominations Committee,

* recewing reports from other key committees within the Group, including
the Compliance Committee, Corporate Responsibiity Commuittee and
Finance Commuittee,

s receiving reports on governance issues affecting the group, including
stakeholder management,

= recewving regular reports on risk management within the Group,
mcluding the Key Risk Register,

discussing and approving Group strategy,

recewving a report on the effectiveness of the Board,

recewving reports from key businesses within the Grougp, and

¢ recewving regular reports on the financal position of the Group and the
various businesses within the Group
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Al Directors have access to the services of the Company Secretary and
may take independent professional advice at the Company's expense
in conducting their duties The Company provides insurance cover and
indemnutres for its Directors and officers

Attendance at meetings

The Board scheduled 8 meetings 1n the year ended 27 February 2010,
and ad hoc meetings were also convened to deal with matters between
scheduled meetings as appropriate Its expected that all Chrectors attend
Board and relevant Committee meetings, unless they are prevented from
doing so by prior commitments, and that all Directors will attend the AGM
Where Directors are unable to attend meetings due to conflicts tn thewr
schedules, they receve the papers scheduled for discussion in the relevant
meetings, giving them the opportumty to relay any cornments to the
Chairman in advance of the meeting Directors leave the meeting where
matters relating to them, or which may constitute a conflict of interest

to them, are being discussed The table below shows the attendance

of Dwrectars at scheduled Board meetings and at meetings of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations Committees dunng the year

Board processes

The Board governs through a number of Board Commuttees — in particular,
the Audit, Remuneration and Nominations Committees - to which certain
responsibiities and duties are delegated These Committees are property
authonsed under the constitution of the Company to take decisions and
act on behalf of the Board within the parameters laid down by the Board
The Board 1s kept fully informed of the work of these Committees and any
Issues requinng reselution are referred to the full Board as appropnate

A sumrmnary of the operations of these Committees 1s set out below The
effectiveness of the Audit, Remuneratian and Nominations Committees is
underpinned by their Non-executive Director membership, which provides
ndependent insight on governance matters A copy of each Committee's
Terms of Reference 1s avallable on our website www tesco com/boardprocess
The Board 15 serviced by the Company Secretary, who reports to the
Chairman in respect of his core duties to the Board

Full Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

meetings Commitiae Committee Committee
Number of meetings Actual Passible Actual Possible Actual Possible Actual Possible
Non-Executive Directors
Dawvid Reid (Chairman) 8 8 - - - - 1 1
Charles Allen CBE 8 8 - - 7 7 1 1
Patrick Cescau 8 8 4 4 7 7 1 1
Rodney Chase CBE (Senior Independent Director) 8 8 4 4 7 7 1 1
Karen Cook 8 8 - - [ 7 1 1
Harald Einsmann 8 8 - - 6 7 1 1
Ken Hanna {appointed 1 4 09) & 8 3 4 6 7 1 1
Ken Hydon 8 8 4 4 - - 1 1
Jacquelne Fammenoms Bakker 8 8 - - - - 1 1
Executive Directors
Sir Terry Leahy 8 8 - - - - 1 1
Richard Brasher 8 8 - - - - - -
Philip Clarke 8 8 - - - - - -
Andrew Higginson 8 8 - - - - - -
Ttm Mason B 8 - - - - - -
Laune Mcllwee 8 8 - - - - - -
Lucy Neville-Rolfe CMG 8 8 - - - - —~ _
Dawvid Potts 8 8 - - - - - -

1 Ken Hanna was unable to attend two Board meetings, one Audit Committee meeting and ¢ne Remuneration Committee meeting due to pnor commitments arranged befare he

commenced his role at Tesca

PLC Board

Main Committees

Maonitoring Committees*

» Audit Commuittee
* Remuneration Committee
* Nominations Cammittee

Executive Committee

» Corporate Responsibility
Committee
s Comphance Committee

* Finance Committee

1

Operational Committees

Joint Venture Boards

Subsidiary Boards

* Reports are discussed by the PLC Board on a regular basis
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Corporate governance continued

Nominations Committea

Members

+ David Reid (Chairman)

¢ Charles Allen

Patrick Cescau

* Rodney Chase

¢ Karen Cook

* Dr Harald Emsmann

* Ken Hanna (from 1 Apni 2009)
« Ken Hydon

* Jacquelne Tammenoms Bakker
¢ Sir Terry Leahy

The Neminations Committee leads the process
for Board appointments and the re-election
and successton of Directors, as well as making
recornmendations for the membership of the
Audit and Remuneration Committees

David Reid
Chairman

The Commuttee 1s chared by David Retd and the Company Secretary
also attends meetings in his capacity as Secretary of the Committee
Where matters discussed refate to the Chairman, the Senior Independent
Director chairs the meeting

The Nominations Committee met formally once in the year to discuss
the ongoing shape and capability of the Board There were also a number
of ad hoc meetings during the year As well as reviewing the performance
and development of the Executive Directors and the senior executive levels
below the Board, the Committee also regularly considers

* the Board structure, size, and composition,

= the skills, expenence and knowledge of the Board and identifies
candidates to fill Board vacancies and enhance 1its capability,

succession pianning for directors and other senior executives in the
course af 1ts work, taking inta account the challenges and opportunities
facing the company, and what skills and expertise are therefore needed
on the Board in the future,

* the time commitment required from Non-executive Directors,

the leadership needs of the orgamsation, both executive and
non-executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of
the organtsation to compete effectively in the marketplace, and

strategic 1ssues and commercial changes affecting the Greup and the
market in which 1t operates

Individual members of the Committee were involved during the year
In Interviewing candidates for Board and senior executive positions

Full terms of reference of the Tesco PLC Naminations Committee are
available at www tesco com/boardpracess

Remuneration Committee

Mernbers (all iIndependent Non-executive
Dhrectors)

+ (Charles Alten (Chairman)

» Patnck Cescau

* Rodney Chase

* Karen Cook

* DrHarald £insmann

* Ken Hanna (from 1 Apnil 2009)

The Remuneration Committee's role 1s to
determine and recommend to the Board the
remuneration of the Executive Directors

It also monitors the fevels and structure of
remuneration for senior management and
seeks to ensure that the remuneration
arrangements are designed to attract, retain
and motivate the Executive Directors needed
to run the Company successfully

Charles Allen
Chairman
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At the inwitation of the Cornmittee, the Chairman of the Board normally
attends meetings and the Chief Executive attends as appropriate
Representatives of the Group’s Personnel and Finance functions attend

as appropriate to provide support and the Company Secretary also attends
In his capaaity as Secretary of the Committee

The Committee met seven times this year Each year it conducts a review
of the Committee's own effectiveness and its Terms of Reference The
responsibibties of the Remuneration Committee and an explanation of
how it apphes the Directors’ remuneration principles of the Combined
Code, are set outin the Directors’ Rermuneration Repart on pages 52 to 66

Full terms of reference of the Tesco PLC Remuneration Commuttee are
avallable at www tesco com/boardprocess

Audit Committeq

Members (all ndependent Non-executive
Directors)

¢ Ken Hydon (Charrman}

¢ Patrick Cescau

* Rodney Chase

+ Kers Hanna (from 1 Apnl 2009)

QOther regular attendees at the invitation
of the Commsttee include
* Chairman of the Board
¢ Finance Director and his representatives
* Head of Internal Audit
* Corporate and Legal Affairs Director
= Relevant Executive Directors
» External Auditors
Ken Hydon
The Company Secretary alsa attends i his Chairman
capacity as Secretary of the Commuittee

The Combined Code requires the Audit Commuttee to include at least one
member with recent and refevant financial expenence The Commttee
Chairman fulfils this requirement, and all other Committee members have
an apprapnate understanding of financial matters

The Audit Committee's pnimary responsibilities are
* to review the financal statements,

* to review the Group's internal control and nisk assurance processes,

+ to consider the appointment of the external auditors, thetr reports to
the Committee and their independence, which includes an assessment
of their appropnateness to conduct any non-audit werk, and

to review the programme of Internal Audit

The Committee met formally four times this year There was also an
additronal ad hoc meeting While fuifilling the above respansibilities,
during the year the Committee receved presentations frem significant
businesses within the Group, as well as on fraud, bnbery and corruption,
business continuity, IT centrals and governance and whistleblowing Each
year the Commuttee conducts a review of its own effectiveness and its
Terms of Reference The Commuttee also had regular private meetings
with the external auditors and the Head of internal Audit during the year

The need for traiming 1s kept under review and the annual agenda
ensures time 1s dedicated to technical updates which are generally
provided by external experts This year traiming was provided on
acceunting and reporting developments under [FRS and IAS and
governance developments proposed by the FRC With respect to Tesco
Bank, training was provided on regulatory, accounting, governance
and nsk management requirements Training 1s also provided to meet
specific Individual needs of Committee members

Full terms of reference of the Tesco PLC Audit Committee are avallable
at www tesco corm/boardprocess
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Management of the Group — Executive Committee

The Board delegates responsibility for formulating and implementing the
Group’s strategic plan and for management of the Group to the Executive
Cammittee, which is chaired by the Chief Executive and comprises the
esght Executive Directors and a senior executive, Colin Holmes, who was
appointed as a member of the Committee on 7 September 2009 The
Comymittee has authorty for deosion-making in all areas except those
set out In the Schedule of Matters Reserved for Board Decision and meets
formally on a regular basis A number of other senior executives also
attend the Committee and theur valuable operational expenience helps
broaden the debate Therr attendance facilitates the communtcation

of the Commuttee’s decisions to the rest of the Group The Company
Secretary attends in his capacity as Secretary of the Commitiee

The Executive Commuttee 15 respensible for implementing Group strategy
and palicy and for momitoning the performance and comphance of the
business, drawing on the work of relevant committees, and reporting on
these matters in full to the Board

The Executive Comimittee has set up further commuttees — including the
Finance, Compliance and Carpoerate Responsibility Commuttees {which are
described in more detall below) — and operational greups which have
responsibity for implermnenting the key elements of the Group's strategic
plan and managing 1ts UK and internatienal operations, joint ventures,
praperty acquisitions, finance, funding and people matters These
committees and groups have as mermbers an appropriate mixture of
Executve Directors and senior managernent from relevant functions

Procedures to deal with Directors’ conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures in place to deal with the situation where

a Director has a conflict of Interest As part of these procedures members
of the Board are required to

= consider each conflict situation separately on its particular facts,

« consider the conflict situation in conjunction with the rest of therr
duties under Cornpanies Act 2006,

keep records and Board minutes as to autharisation granted by
Directors and the scope of any approvals given, and

regularly review conflict authorisation

Training and development

All new Directors receive a personalised induction programme, tailored
to their expenence, background and particular areas of focus, which 1s
designed to develop their knowledge and understanding of the Group’s
culture and operations The programme has evelved taking into account
feedback from new directors, and will usually include an overview of the
business model and Board processes, meetings with the Executive team
and semor managers, site visits at home and abroad and briefings on
key 1ssues (including soctal, ethical and environmental {SEE) 1ssues)
Durectors also receve an induction to those Board Commuttees he or she
will serve on

The need for Director traimng 1s reqularly assessed by the Board and
reqular training sessiens are arranged to provide an opportunity for
upskilling of the Dwectors on a vanety of areas relevant to the Group's
business, ncluding SEE 1ssues In the last year the Board received tratning
focusing, inter aha, on the regulatory and governance 1ssues assoctated
with operating a financial services business, following the acquisition of
Tesco Bank in the previous year

The Board usually meets overseas once each year to facilitate the Directors'
understanding of the Group’s international operations In February 2010,
the Board wisited China and Korea to view first hand the progress and
direction of the business in these markets In July 2009, the Company
held its Annual General Meeting in Scotland and the Board took the
opporturuty to visit socme strategically significant parts of the business

tn this region

Board parformance evaluation

The performance of the Board is a fundamental component of the Group’s
success The Board regularly reviews 1ts own performance Dunng the year
ended 27 February 2010, the Board assessed 1ts own performance This
assessment was co-ordinated and directed by the Chairman with the
support of the Company Secretary The Chairman and the Company
Secretary carried out in-depth interviews with each Director The results of
the evaluation were considered by the Board, and confirmed the strength
of the strategic and entrepreneurtal leadership of the Company, a sound
governance framework and practices compliant with the Combined Code

The Chief Executive reviews the performance of each Executive Director
The Chairman reviews the performance of the Chief Executive and each
Non-executive Director During the year, the Chairman met several umes
with the Non-executive Directors, without the Executive Directors present,
to discuss Board issues and how to build the best possible team The Senior
Independent Director met with the Non-executive Directors, in the absence
of the Chairman, to assess the Chairman's performance

Risk management and internal controls

Accountabilities

Accepting that risk 15 an inherent part of deing business, our risk
managernent systems are designed both to encourage entrepreneunal
spint and alse provide assurance that risk is fully understood and managed
The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and internal
control within the context of achieving the Group's objectives Executive
management s responsible for implemenung and maintaining the
necessary control systems The role of Internal Audit 1s to monitor the
overall internal cantrol systems and report on their effectiveness to
Executive management, as well as to the Audit Committee, in order

to facilitate its review of the systems

Background

The Group has a five-year rolling business ptan to support the delivery of
Its strategy of long-term growth and returns for shareholders Every business
unit and suppart function dernives its objectives from the five-year plan and
these are cascaded to managers and staff by way of personal objectives

Key to delivering effective risk management s ensuring cur people have

a good understanding of the Group's strategy and our policies, procedures,
values and expected performance We have a structured internal
communications programme that provides empioyees with a clear
definition of the Group's purpose and goals, accountabilities and the
scope of perrmitted activities for each bustness unit, as welt as indwidual
Itne managers and other employees This ensures that alt our peaple
understand what 1s expected of them and that decision-making takes
place at the appropnate level We recognise that our people may face
ethical dilermmas in the normal course of business so we provide clear
guidance based on the Tesco Values The Values set out the standards
that we wish to uphold in how we treat people These are supported

by the Group Code of Business Conduct which was launched this year,
replacing the Code of Ethics, and offers guidance on relationships
between the Group and its employees, suppliers and contractors

We operate a balanced scorecard appreach that is known within the
Group as our Steering Wheel Thisunites the Group's resources around
our customers, people, operations, community and finance The Steenng
Wheel aperates at all tevels throughout the Group It enables the business
to be operated and menitored on a balanced basis with due regard for
all stakeholders

Risk managemant

The Group maintains a Key Risk Register The Register contains the key
nisks faced by the Group including their impact and likelthood, as well as
the controls and procedures implemented to mittgate these risks The
content of the Register 1s determined through regular discussions with
senior management and reviewed by the Executive Committee and the full
Board A balanced approach allows the degree of controllabihity to be taken
Into account when we cansider the effectveness of mitigation, recognising
that some necessary activities carry Inherent nsk which may be outside
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Corporate governance continued

the Group’s control Where our nsk management process dentifies
opportunities to improve the business these are built into our future plans
Our key nsks are summarnsed on pages 41 to 44 of the Business Review

The nsk management process 15 cascaded through the Group with
operating subsidiary boards mamtaming thew own risk registers and
assessing their own control systems The same process also applies
functionaily in those parts of the Group requiring greater oversight Far
example, the Audit Commuttee's Terms of Reference require it to oversee
the Finance Risk Register The Board assesses significant Soctal, Ethical
and Environmental (SEE) risks to the Group's short-term and long-term
value, and incorporates SEE risks on the Key Risk Register where they are
considered matenal or appropnate

We recognise the value of the ABI Guidelines on Responsible Investment
Disclosure and confirm that, as part of its regular risk assessment
procedures, the Board takes account of the significance of SEE matters
to the business of the Group We recognise that a number of investors
and other stakeholders take a keen interest In how companies manage
SEE matters and sc we report more detail on our SEE policies and
approach to managing matenal nisks ansing from SEE matters and the
KPIls we use both on our website (www tesco com/cr2010) and in our
Corporate Responsibility Report 2010 To provide further assurance,
the Group's Corporate Responsibility XPls are audited on a regular
basis by Internal Audit

Internal controls

The Board is responsible for the Company’s system of internal control and
for reviewing the effectiveness of such a system We have a Group-wide
process for clearly establishing the nsks and responsibilities assigned to
each level of management and the controls which are required to be
aperated and meomitored

The CEQs of subsidiary businesses are required to certify by way of
annual governance returns that appropriate governance and comphance
pracesses have been adopted For certain joint ventures, the Board places
reliance upon the internal control systerns operating within our partners’
infrastructures and the obligations upon partners' boards relating to the
effectiveness of their own systems

Such a system 1s designed 1o manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of internal controls and 1s
satisfied that the controls in place remain appropriate

Monitoring

The Board oversees the monitoring system and has set specific
responsibiht:es for itself and the vanous committees as set out below Both
Internal Audit and our external auditors play key roles in the monitoring
process, as do several other committees including the Finance Committee,
Compliance Committee and Corporate Responsibility Commuttee

The Minutes of the Audit Committee and the various other committees
(Finance, Comphance and Corporate Responsibihty Committees) are
distributed to the Board and each Comrmittee submits a report for formal
discussion at least once a year These processes provide assurance that
the Group 15 operating legally, ethically and in accordance with approved
finanaal and operational policies

Audit Committee

The Audit Comrmuttee reports to the Board each year an s review of the
effectiveness of the internal control systems for the financial year and the
penod to the date of approval of the financial statements Throughout
the year the Commuittee receives regular reparts from the external auditors
covening topics such as quality of earnings and technical accounting
developments The Commuittee also receives updates from Internal Audit
and has dialogue with senior managers on their control responsibiliies It
should be understood that such systems are designed to provide reasonable
but not abseolute, assurance aganst matenal misstatemenit or loss
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Internal Audit

The Internal Audit department is fully Independent of business operations
and has a Group-wide mandate It undertakes a programme to address
internal controf and nsk management processes with particular reference
to the Turnbull Guidance Tt operates a nisk-based methodology, ensuring
that the Group’s key nisks receive appropnate regular examination its
responsibilities tnclude mamtaining the Key Risk Register, reviewing and
reporiing on the effectiveness of risk management systems and internat
control with the Executive Commuttee, the Audit Committee and ultimately
to the Board Internal Audit facilitates oversight of nsk and control systems
across the Group through nisk committees in Asia and Europe and audit
commuttees in a number of our International businesses and joint ventures
The Head of Internal Audit also attends all Audit Committee meetings

External audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who have been the Company's external
auditor for a number of years, contnibutes a further independent
perspective on certan aspects of our internal financial contral systems
ansing frorn its work, and reports to both the Board and the Audit
Commuttee Qur policy in relation to the reappointment of the external
auditors Is to consider their engagement and independence annually
The Commuttee has satisfied itseif that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

15 :ndependent and there are adequate contrals in place to safeguard its
objectivity One such measure 1s the non-audit services policy that sets
out criteria for employing external auditors and identifies areas where 1t 15
inappropriate for PricewaterhauseCoopers LLP to work Non-audit services
work carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 1s predominantly the
review of subsidiary undertakings’ statutory accounts, transaction work
and corporate tax services, where their services are considered to be the
most approprate PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP also follows its own
ethical guidelines and continually reviews 1ts audit team to ensure Its
independence 15 not compramised

Finance Committee

Membership of the Finance Committee includes Non-executive Directors
with relevant financial expertise, Executive Directors and members of
senior management The Committee 1s chaired by Sir Terry Leahy, CEQ
The Committee usually meets twice a year and its role 1s to review and
agree the Finance Plan on an annual basis, review reparts of the Treasury
and Tax functions and to review and approve Treasury limits and
delegattons

Compliance Committee

Membership of the Compliance Committee includes three Executive
Directors and members of serior management The Committee 1s charred
by Lucy Newilie-Rolfe, Corporate and Legal Affairs Director The Committee
normally meets six times 2 year and its rermit 1s to ensure that the Group
complies with all necessary laws and regulations and othar comphance
policies in all of its operations world-wide The Comrmittee has established
a schedule far the reqular review of operational activities and legal
exposure Each business in the Group has a Compliance Committee
designed to ensure compliance with both local and Group policies, and
each Compliance Commuttee reports to the Group Comphance Committee
at least once a year

Corporate Responsibility Commuttea

The Corperate Responsibility Committee 1s chaired by the Corporate

and Legal Affairs Director, Lucy Newville-Rolfe and membership 1s made
up of senior executives from across the Group It meets at least four times
a year to support, develop and monitor policies on SEE i1ssues and to
review threats and apportunities for the Group Progress in developing
Cormmunity imttatives 1s monitored by the use of relevant KPls for the
businesses within the Group The Board formally discusses the wark of
the Committee on a regular basis, mcluding progress i implementing
our Community Plan

The Corporate and Legal Affairs department and the Trading Law and
Technical department provide assurance and advice on legal compliance,
health and safety, and SEE matters These functions repert on their work
on a regular basis and escalate matters as approprate
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Whistleblowing

The Group operates a whistleblowing policy and has a confidenbal
‘Protector Line' service accessible to concerned employees where they
can report, anonymously if necessary, onssues of malpractice within
the business Such issues include ilegal and unethical behaviour such as
fraud, dishonesty and any practices that endanger our staff, customers
or the environment

Complaints made are treated as confidential and are investigated Where
appropriate, matters will be escalated to the Director of Group Secunty
for further action

Management

In our fast mowving business, trading 1s tracked on a daily and weekly basis,
financial performance 15 reviewed weekly and monthly and the Steenng
Wheel s reviewed quarterly Steering Wheels are operated in business
units across the Group and reports are prepared of performance against
target KPis cavening the five segments of the Steering Wheel (Customer,
Operations, Community, People and Finance) on a quarterly basis,
enabling management to measure performance All major intttatives
require business cases normally covering a minmum period of five years
Post-investment appraisals, carried out by management, determine the
reasons for any sigruficant varance from expected performance

Relations with stakeholders

We are committed to having a constructive dialogue with stakeholders to
ensure we understand what 1s important to them and allow ourselves the
opportunity to present our position Engagernent helps us identify new
risks and opportumties to ensure that our long-term strategy is sustamable
In same instances we find that working with stakehalders in partnership
can help delwer shared goals We might not be able to satisfy all stakeholder
concerns ali the ime but through engagement we can do our best o
balance competing demands We know that customers need to be able

to trust our business and they will anly trust us If they beheve that we are
engaging on an appropriate basis with our stakehalders

Our programme of engaging with stakehaolders including customers,
staff, suppliers, investors, government, regulators, non-governmentat
orgarusations and others, 1s set aut in mere detail in our Corporate
Respansibiity Report 2010 and on our website {www tesco com/cr2010)

Shareholder engagement

We are committed to mamntaining a good dialogue with shareholders
through proactively organising meetings and presentations as well as
responding to a wide range of enguines We seek shareholder views on
arange of issues from strategy to corporate governance and SEE 1ssues
We recognise the importance of communicating appropriately any
significant Company developments

During the year, the Charman, Chief Executive and Finance Director
met with most of our leading shareholders to discuss issues relating to
the Board, strategy and governance matters, as well as new developments
within the business The Chawrman's meetings with major shareholders
took place independently from the Executive team In addition to ths,
our Investor Relations team engage with shareholders on a regular basis,
and on a wide range of 1ssues The Corporate Secretanat team also
organise regular meetings, on both a one-to-one and group basis, with
socially responsible investors (SRIs) to discuss the work the Group 1s
doing on corporate responsibiity and governance-related issues These
meetings are attended as apprapriate by Directors and other members
of sentor management

An fnvestor Relations report is produced for the Board periodically This
report summanses feedback fram shareholders particularly in terms of
our management and strategy, and ensures the Board has a balanced
perspective on the views of our major shareholders

It1s ngrmal that institutional shareholders may be in more regular contact
with the Group than other shareholders, but care 1s exercised to ensure
that any price-sensitive information Is released to all shareholders,
institutional and private, at the same time 1n accordance with applicable
legal and regulatory requirements All major presentations to institutional
shareholders are made available to private shareholders through the
Tesco PLC website

Every sharehclder may choose to receive a full Annual Report and
Financial Statements or the Annual Review and Summary Financial
Statements, either in paper or eleconic form These reports, together
with publicly-made trading statements, are available on the Group's
website, www tesco camiannualreport2010

The Tesco PLC AGM

The Annual General Meeting offers the opportunity for the Board to
communicate directly to shareholders Qur fast Annual General Meeting
1 July 2009 was held in Glasgow The 2010 AGM wiil be held in London
at 10 30am on Friday 2 July The choice of location 1s based on our policy
of widerung the opportunity for our shareholders around the country to
attend the AGM, by moving to a different location in the UK each year

The whole Board attends the meeting and Is available to answer questions
from shareholders present Ta encourage shareholder participation, we
offer electronic proxy voting and voting through the CREST electromic
proxy appointment service At our last Annual General Meeting, all
resolutions were voted by way of electronic poll This follows best practice
guidehines and allows the Company to count all votes, not just those

of shareholders attending the meeting The Chairman announces

the provisional voting results at the meeting, and the final resuits are
announced the same day through the Regutatory News Services and
the Tesco PLC website

By Order of the Board
Mr Jonathan Lloyd
Company Secretary

5 May 2010

Tesco PLC

Registered Number 445790

Registered 1n England and Wales

Registered Office Tesco House, Delamare Road, Cheshunt,
Hertfordshure EN8 950

VAT Registration Number GB 22043023
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Directors’ remuneration report

This report sets out the remuneration palicy for the Executive and Non-
executive Directors of Tesco PLC and descnbes the individual rernuneration
of the Directors for the year ended 27 February 2010 The report has been
drawn up In accordance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance,
Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium sized Compantes and Groups
{Accounts and Reports) Regqulations 2008 and the Finanaial Services
Authornty Listing Rules

Executive summary

Tesco aims to delver, sustainable and profitable leng-term growth
Despite challenging economic conditions across our markets, Tesco has
again delvered a strong performance aganst targets this year In doing
so, Tesco has continued to build on the track record it has established
over several years

Sales, Profit and ROCE Performance over 5 years

Balance of fixed and performance related remuneration

Fixed element Performance-related elements

Tesco 15 already a large and profitabte company A 10% increase in
Company value equates to some £3bnin additional shareholder value,
equivalent to the value of a top 50 FTSE organisation Over the last

S years, Tesco has delivered more than £10bn of additional shareholder
value through dwidends and share price growth Continuing to grow
profitability from such a high base 1s demanding but forms the core

of Tesco's strategy and its supporting processes including executive
remuneration Our remuneration strategy is intended to foster a culture
of outstanding performance, taking into account beth the short-term
and long-term needs of the business

In determining the level of executive reward, the Remuneration Committee
centinues to be conscious of the economic background and widespread
concern about executive remuneration being appropnately jusufied by
company performance It has therefere sought to ensure reward outcomes
are proportionate to Tesco’s performance outcome

The strong result against targets in 2009/10 included improvemnent on
most of the underlying performance measures relating to productvity
and growth Against this perfermance background, the main aspects

of executve rernuneration policy and practice for the year are as follows

* Operational Executive Director salanes were increased from 1 July 2009
by an average of 2 58% after the normal review (against an average
across the Group of 2 5%),

* annual bonus payouts ranged from 75% to 95% of maximum reflecting
strong performance during the year against financal and strategic
milestones The maximum potential bonus was 250% of salary for the
Group CEQ, 300% of salary for the US CEQ and 200% of salary for
other Executive Birectors,

* long-term ncentive payout was 124 of a potential maximum of 150%
of salary,

¢ share optrons vested in full reflecting sustained strong earnings delivery,

= no matenal changes were made to policy, rermuneration mix or scate
of Incentives,

deferred awards, already earned from prior years, representing
4 5 mullion shares bacame available to Directors,

there have been no substantial changes to the commercial structure
of the terms of existing awards, however, a number of shares have
been released from awards already earned from prior years to satisfy
tax habilities crystallised in the year,

= muiner changes to remuneration arrangements relating to leaving
conditions were approved by shareholders, and

there continued to be a high level of share ownershep by
Executive Directors

Executive Director remuneration strategy

Tesco has a long-standing pelicy of valuing talent and expenience We seek
to provide incentives for delivering high, sustainable and profitable growth
which leads to a strong increase in additional value for shareholders We
operate in 3 keenly compettive and rapidly changing retail environment
Business success depends on the skills of each member of the key team,
but cutstanding business performance comes from teamwork Tesco has a
stable and successful managerment tearn, and incentivising and rewarding
that team at sentor levels to deliver ever higher levels of performance s
vital to our ongoing success and our ability to create shareholder value

We beheve our incentives should support the continued progress and

the strengthening of our returns from across the Group, as well as the
creatron and development of significant new businesses

Base salary Short-term performance

Long-term performance

¢ 12%-33% depending on

| 1 1 | 1 I
Cash bonus Deferred Performance Share usuae Group New
share bonus Share Plan optons Business
Group & Incentive Plan
Intemational

individual incentive arrangements
and perfarmance
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The Remuneration Committee believes that the majonity of total
remuneration should be perfarmance-related and delivered largely
tn shares closely to align the interests of shareholders and Executive
Directars In determining the balance between the fixed and vaniable
elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages, the
Committee takes into account both policy and market practice

Total remuneration levels for Executive Directors are reviewed annually by
the Commuttee taking into account thew value to the Company in terms of
continuing strong performance, potential and competitive market practice
Consideration is also given to reward Jevels at the next tier of management
and across the Group in order to sustan a common sense of purpose and
shanng of success as well as to ensure that executive arrangements remain
appropriate In the context of wider Group remuneration When setting the
rernuneration of Executive Directors, the Committee considers the Group’s
performance against a mixiure of corporate cbjectives and financial
measures These corporate objectives inctude specific measures based
on envirenmental, social and gevernance (ESG) factors, an integral part
of the corporate strategy Inclusion of these specfic measures in a number
of parts of the remuneration structure helps to reinforce positive and
rasponsible behaviour by sentor management To find out more go to
www tesco comfannualreport2010

Performancae related remuneration

The remuneration structures for Executive Directors and other key
executives are tallored to emphasise the delivery of strong year-on-year
earnings growth as well as sustained performance in the longer term
More than two-thirds of total remuneration {excluding pension} 1s linked
to the performance of the business Lang-term performance 1s rewarded
through delivery of shares and short-term performance through a
combination of cash and compulsorly deferred shares This combines
emphasis on strang year-on-year performance with long-term executive
share ownership, providing a strong link between the incentives received
and shareholder value

Performance measures

The Executive Directors have a range of performance targets across the
various incentive plans which reflect the objectives of the Group and therr
own responsibilities and are aligned with long-term shareholder value
creation Targets are generally set to reward performance Improvement
compared to prior periods, with maximum awards only paying out for
delwery of strong performance

The measures are summanised tn the table below and are based on

*» delivery of improved bottom-line financial results, measured through
earnings, bath in the present year and sustainably over time,

= enhancement of efficient prafitability, measured through return on
capital, whilst growing the business,

* improving share price via the use of share options throughout the
organisation,

» achievement of durable improvements in the underlying drivers
of performance such as cost reduction, energy effiiency, reduced
environmental impact and sales growth captured through vanous
corporate measures, and

* laying foundations for future performance through measures such
as accessing new sales footage, developing people and implementing
community programmes which are also captured through the
corporate measures

The sustamability of our business is key and the Remuneration Commuittee
1s satisfied that the measures and targets do not ncentivise Executive
Dhrectors to take an inappropriate level of risk

Short-tarm Performance Measures
Measures Participation Incentivises Maximum potential | Performance period | Delivered via
% of salary
Earnings per share All Executive Year on year 125% (US CEQ 62 5%) |} One year Anntzal cash and
Directors earnings growth annual deferred
share bonuses
(3-year deferral)
Corporate objectives All Executive Delivery of strategic 55% (US CEQ 275%) | One year Annual cash and
Directors bustness priornties, annual deferred
entrepreneynal share bonuses
spirit and building (3-year deferral)
framework for
future growth
Total shareholder All Executive Share price and 20% (US CEC 10%) Cne year Annual deferred
return Directors dividend growth share honuses
Versus competitors (3-year deferral)
Speafic US Us CEQ Delwery against 200% One year Annual cash and
objectives financial and annual deferred
strategic milestones share bonuses
for US business {3-year deferral)
Speafic US Group CEQ Delivery against 50% One year Annual deferred
objectives financial and share bonuses
strategic milestones {3-year deferral)
for US business
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Long-term Performance Measures

Directors except

success and

Maasuras Participation Incentivises Maximum patential | Performance period | Delivered via
% of salary (unless
otherwise stated)
EPS relative to RPI All Executive Longer-term 200%* Three years Executive share
Dhrectors earnings growth options
Group ROCE All Executive Long-term business 100% Three years Performance Share
Directors success and Plan
shareholder returns
International ROCE All Executive Long-term business 50% Three years Performance Share

Plan

International RCCE

rew businesses within
whole Group
performance

Us CEO shareholder returns
S EBIT and ROCE us CEO Establishment of 2 rmilhon shares** 201011 - 201314 US Long Term
successful US fncentive Plan
business
US EBIT and RQCE Group CEQ Entrepraneunal spint 2 S milhon shaves** 201011 - 201314 Group Mew Busness
Group ROCE and establishment of Incentive Plan

* Thisis the amount on which the number of shares under option is calculated The actuat reabsable value of these options will depend on any growth in share price between the date of grant

and the date of exercise

** Dwidends acerue on these awards in the form of dividend equivalents

Participation in the vanous elements is governed by the Remuneratian
Commuttee and indnvidual Executive Directors are awarded incentives

Funding of aquity awards
Executive incentive arrangements are funded by a mix of newly 1ssued

under the elements which are most refevant to therr sphere of respensibility

If performance 1s lower than the maximum targets, incentive payments will
reduce accordingly and wall be zero if threshold levels of performance are

not attained The Commuttes has reviewed the perfarmance condwions far
each of the incentive arrangements against the Group's business strateqgy,

shares and shares purchased n the market Where shares are newly 1ssued
the Company complies with ABI dilution guidelines on their issue Currently
shares to beissued in respect of executive plans are equivalent to ¢ 4% of
shares in 1ssue

Fixed remuneration

its growing global leadership, 1ts position as one of the companies at the

top of the FTSE 100 and the intensely competitive sectorin which it operates,

and has cancluded that they provide a set of comprehensive and robust
measures of management’s effart and success in creating shareholder value

Share ownership guidelines
The Remuneranon Committee believes that Executive Directors holding
shares ahgns their interests with shareholders and reinforces their
commitment to the business Executive Directors are required to buid
and maintain a shareholding with a value at least equal to their basic
salary Shares held in plans which are not subject to forfeiture are included
in this measurement New appotntees will typically be allowed three
years to establish this shareholding Full parucipation in the long-term
Performance Share Plan 1s conditignal upon matntaining the minirmum
shareholding All Executive Directors satisfy this requirement, apart fram
Laurie Mcliwee, who was appointed to the Board on 27 January 2009
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Basic pay

Basic pay 1s designed to attract and retain talented individuals It needs
to reflect individual capability and any changes in responsibilities as the
Group faces new aopportunities and challenges As the Group continues
to diversify into new product areas and services, as well as expanding
internationally, it seeks to reflect this in the benchmarking that s used
We examne salary levels at the major retalers, the leading FTSE
companies and ensure consideratian is given to key internatianal
compettors We also take into account pay conditions throughout the
Graup as well as the prevailing econormic climate i deciding executive
annual salary increases The average increase for senior management
below Board level last year was 2 58%, in ine with the average increase
for other staff which was typically around 2 5% Pay fevels Group-wide
are determined with consideration to a number of factors, including the
prevailing economic environment, discussions with employee
representation groups and market practice

Basic salanes are typically increased with effect from 1 July each year
and the Remuneration Committee will again be taking into account the
prevailing economic chmate in setting Executive Dhrector salanes for the

coming year

Basic salary 1 July 2009
Dhrector £000
Richard Brasher 812
Philip Clarke 812
Andrew Higginson 812
Sir Terry Leahy 1,410
Tim Mason 812
Laune Mclhwee* 6509
Lucy Neville-Rolfe* 609
David Potts 812

* Laurie Mcllwee and Lucy Newille Rolfe's basic salanies were increased by 10 796 and 9 9%
respectively reflecting theirincreased experence since their appointment
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Pensions

Pension provision is central to our ability to foster loyalty and retain
experience which 15 why Tesco wants to ensure that the Tesco PLC Pension
Scheme 15 a highly vatued benefit All Executive Birectors are members

of the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme which provides a pension of up to
two-thirds of base salary on retirement, normally at age 60, dependent
on service The Final Salary Scheme is now closed to new entrants but has
been replaced throughout the organisation by a different defined-benefit
pension scheme based on career average earnings Since Apnl 20086,
foltowing implementation of the regulations contained within the Finance
Act 2004, Executive Directors have been eligible to recewe the maximum
pension that can be provided from the reqistered pension scheme The
balance of any pension entitlerment for ail Executive Directors i1s delivered
through an unapproved retirement benefits scheme (SURBS) Except for
Tim Mason, the SURBS 15 *secured’ by using a fixed charge over a cash
depositin a designated account

Qver the last few years pension contnbutions by our Executive Directors
have been increasing progressively In 2009/10 the level of contribution
was 8% of salary which 15 In hine wath senior management’s contnbution
levels Contributicns will nse over the next two years to 10% by 2011/12
Further details of the pension benefits earned by the Dtrectors ¢can be
found on page 58

All employee share schemes
The Executive Directors are ehgible to parucipate in the Company's all
employee share schemes on the same terms as other UK employees

» Shares In Success Shares in the Company are allocated to participants
in the scheme up to HMRC approved ltmits (currently £3,000 per
annum} The amount of profit allocated to the scheme 1s determined
by the Board, taking account of Company performance

Buy as You Earn An HMRC approved share purchase scherme under
which employees invest up to a mit of £110 on a four-weekly basis
to buy shares at market value m Tesco PLC

Save as You Earn An HMRC approved sawings-related share option
scheme under which employees save up to a limit of £250 on a four
weekly basis via a bank/building society with an option to buy shares
in Tesco PLC at the end of a three-year or five-year pertod at a discount
of up to 20% of the market value There are no performance conditions
attached to SAYE options

Other benefits
The Executive Directors are eligible for car benefits, ife assurance,
disability and health insurance and staff discount

200910 Performance measurement

Short-term performance 2009/10

Earnings per share

The reported underlying diluted Group EPS for 2009/10 was 31 66p,
an increase of 91% on last year

Corporate objectives

The corporate objectives are based on our balanced scorecard, known
as the Steering Wheel Corporate objectives for the awards made in
respect of the financial year 2009110 included increasing sales frem
new space, spedfic profit targets for international businesses and for
retailing services, like-for-like sales growth and the development of the
non-food business, focus on developing trading madels internauonally,
enhancing talent management and capability, embedding the new
international Community Plans and Community Premises, and reducing
our envirenmental iImpact Performance against most targets was within
the target range

Total shareholder return

The graph below highhights the Group's total shareholder return
performance over the last five financial years, relative to the FTSE 100
index of companies This index has been selected to provide an established
and broad-based comparater group of retall and non-retail companies of
a similar scale to Tesco

TSR 1s the notional return from a share orindex based on share price
movemnents and declared dividends

The Commuttee considers TSR performance against the FTSE 100 and a
comparator group of international retailers that includes Ahold, Carrefour,
J Sainsbury, Metro, Mornisons, Safeway Inc, Target and Walmart

Following the Remuneration Committee's consideration of the extent to
which the various perfermance measures (EPS, corporate objectives and
TSR) in respect of the 2009/10 award were achieved, the Executive Directors
have been awarded 95% of the potential maximum for the cash element
and 94% of the potential maximum for the deferred shares element of their
annual bonus The Committee believes that this level of bonus appropnately
reflects the strong performance against financial and strategic milestones

US objectives

Addstional awards are made to Tim Masen and Sir Terry Leahy subject to
perfarmance conditions which measure the progress of the US business
against a range of aggressive targets related to the development of

this business Duning 2009/10 advances were made on most rmeasures
including store development, sates growth, cost management and
customer factors However, the ongoing economic downtum did continue
to act as a constraint over the year on the pace of growth against the
demanding development objectives

The Remuneration Commmiitee has assessed the bonus outturn for
2009/10 and Tim Mason has been awarded 65% of the potential
maximum for both the cash and deferred shares elements of that part
of hus annual bonus which 15 measured by reference to US-speafic targets
Sir Terry Leahy has been awarded 65% of the potential maximum

for that part of his annuai bonus which 1s measured by reference to
US-speafic targets and which 1s satisfied in deferred shares

Long-term performance 2009/10

Earnings per share

The three-year performance period for the 2007/8 Executive Option grant
over shares with a value of 200% of salary at the date of grant ended at
the financial year end 2009/10 Vesting of these options was conditonal
on the achievement of earnings per share performance condsttons, with
the first 100% subject to the achievement of underlying diluted EPS
growth of at least RPI plus 9% over three years with the balance vesting
for achieving growth of at least RPI plus 15% There 15 no re-testing of
performance The increase in underlying diluted EPS relative to RPl over
the three years from 2007/8 10 2009/10 exceeded 15% and these options
will therefore vest in full an the third anniversary of their grant

Return on capital employed

Followtng the completion of the three-year performance period for the
2007/8 PSP award, the Committee considered the leve! of performance
against the target for the first 75% of the PSP award of achieving post-tax
Group ROCE of 14 2% by the end of 200910 Post-tax ROCE (calculated

on a like-for-like basis with the target originally set) at the end of 200910
was 14 2%, so the fuli amount of the first 75% of the award wiil vest

The Commuttee also exercised 1ts judgement as to the extent to which

the remaining 25% of the PSP award should vest as a result of superior
ROCE perfermance, taking into account factors including the level of
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

ROCE achieved, the expected ROCE for additional and existing capital
mnvestment, whether capital spend was in ine with strategic objectives
and balanced short-term and long-term investment needs, the level

of sales and underlying profit growth and whether this reflected other
developments (n the marketplace Having considered these factors

in detail the Commettee concluded that ali of the remaming 25% of the
award should vest A total of 100% of the 2007/8 PSP award measured
on group performance will therefore vest

For the 50% of salary award which related to International ROCE
performance, the Committee considered the level of performance agamst
the target for the first 75% of the International PSP award of achieving
post-tax International ROCE of 8 1% by the end of 2009/10 Post-tax
Internattonal ROCE (calculated on a like-for-like basis with the target
originally set) at the end of 2009/10 was 6 9% so 23 1 of the first 75% of
the award will vest The Committee also exercised its jJudgement as to the
extent to which the remaining 25% of the PSP award should vest as a
result of supenor ROCE performance, taking inte account the factors
outlined above, the Committee concluded that all of the remaiming 25%
of the International PSP award should vest A total of 48 1% of the 2007/8
PSP award measured on international performance will therefore vest

Future performance measures

The Committee has determined that ne change 1s required for the coming
year in the form of incentive arrangements, nor in the relative balance
between them The maximum cpporturity under incentive arrangements
will remain the same for the 2010/11 year (as set out on pages 53 and 54)
The sarme principles as descnibed earlier were also adopted in the
determunation of performance targets

Short-term performance targets

We do not disclose specific future targets for reasans of commercial
sensitivity However 1715 intended that performance will continue to be
measured against stretching EPS, TSR and Corporate Objective targets
aligned with the delivery of our strategy The continuing difficult market
conditions in the US have led to the start-up phase of the US business
lasting fenger than onginally envisaged and so the Group CEQ and

US CEO will continue to have the opportunity to receive an annual bonus
relating to the achievement of financial, strategic and operational targets
which measure the early-stage development of the US business Success
against these measures will contribute to building a strong platform for
long-term sustainable growth of the US business

Long-term performance

Earnings per share

Qptions were granted in 2009/10 to Executive Directors over shares

with a value of 200% of salary, with an exercise price equal to the market
value at the date of grant, and any gain 1s therefore dependent on
increasing the share price between the date of grant and exercise Vesting
of these options I1s conditional on the achievernent of earnings per share
perfarmance conditions, with the first 100% subject to the achievement
of underlying diluted EPS growth of at least RPI plus 9% over three years
and the balance vesting for achieving growth of at least RPI plus 15%
Performance aganst this target will be measured at the end of 20114142
to determine the level of vesting

Return on capital employed - Group and international

The rules of the Performance Share Plan allow awards to be made over
shares up to 150% of salary In the year ended 27 February 2010 awards
were made to all the Executive Directors except Tim Mason over Tesco PLC
shares equal to 2 total of 150% of salary An award was made to Tim Mason
over Tesco PLC shares equal to a total of 100% of salary For all the
Executive Directors, awards over up to 100% of salary will vest (together
with reinvested dividends) subject to the achievernent of Group ROCE
targets The awards over the equivalent of a further 50% of salary made
to the Executive Directors other than Tim Mason will vest (together with
reinvested dividends) subject to the achievement of targets based on
International ROCE in order to incentwise and reward delivery of higher
returns from invested capital outside the UK {but excluding the US)

The first 75% of the awards will vest on a straight-tine basis at the end

of the three-year performance penod, with 25% vesting for baseline
performance and the full 75% vesting for maximum performance agamst
target The target in respect of the first 75% of the 2009/10 PSP award 1s
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achievenent of 13 3% Group ROCE and 7 0% International ROCE at the
end of the three-year performance period i 2041/12 The remaining 25%
of the awards will vest for superior ROCE performance as judged by the
Remuneration Committee taking into account the factors cuthned above

If the Remuneration Commuttee exercises its judgement to allow some,

or all, of the remaining 25% of the PSP awards to vest, we will describe

i the Directors' Remuneration Reportin the relevant year those factors
taken into account in determining the level of the award whrch would vest
There 1s no re-testing of performance n respect of any targets

Return on capital employed — US

The Group 15 seeking to build a substantal presence in the US, which
in time has the potential to become a significant source of value for
our shareholders

The Tesco PLC US Long Term Incentive Plan 2007 (the US LTIP) has been
designed to deliver reward only if the US business realises this potential
The US CEQ was made an award of two mullion shares under the US LTIP
in 2007 Awards were also made to gther sentor members of the US
management team No other Executive Directors will participate in the
Plan Awards under the plan vest based en the ROCE and EBIT performance
of the US business as set out an page 63

A key part of the Group's long-term strategy 1s to consider new business
ventures which have the potenbal for significant long-term value creation
for our shareholders The Group New Business Incentive Plan (Group Plan)
supports this ininative Iniially only the Group CEQ wilt parucipate in the
Group Plan However, awards may be made to other employees at the
discretion of the Remuneration Committee in the future where this s
appropriate to do 5o in order to support the Group’s new business ventures

As the Company's US venture 1s currently the most developed new
business imitiative, the award made to the Group CEQ under the Group
Plan 1s focused on the performance of the LS venture, although the
Remuneratton Commuttee has the flexibiity to consider and include other
new business develapment opportunities within the proposed award An
award of 2 5 million shares was made to the Group CEO in Novemnber 2007
This award will vest based on the ROCE and EBIT performance of the

US business as set out on page 63, however the plan also requires Group
and International ROCE targets to be met and any payouts under this plan
will be scaled back on a pro rata basis to the extent they are not met In
addition, the Remuneration Commuttee will consider the findings of the
Governance Qversight Committee (described below) and epimions of the
Audit Cornmittee as to whether the level of reported results achieved reflects
the underlying financial performance of the Company when considenng I,
and the extent to whch, the award made to the Group CEO wilt vest.

Service agreements

The Executive Directars all have rolling service agreements with no fixed
expiry date These contracts are terminated on notice of 12 months by
the Company and six months’ netice by the Executive If an Executive
Director’s employment is terminated {other than pursuant to the notice
provisions in the service agreement or by reason of resignation or
unacceptable performance or conduct} the Company will pay a sum
calculated on the basis of basic salary and the average annual bonus paid
far the last two years No account will be taken of pension Termination
payments will be subject to mitigation This means that amounts will

be paid in mstalments to permit mitigation If the termination oceurs
within one year of retirement, the termination payment will be reduced
accordingly To reflect hus length of service with Tesco and the early age
of his appointment as CEQ, Sir Terry Leahy's service agreement provides
for hus full pension entitlement to become available on retirement on or
after his 57th birthday

The Remuneration Committee has agreed that new appomntments

of Executive Directors will normally be on a notice penad of 12 months
The Committee reserves the nght to vary this period to 24 months for the
mitial pened of appointment and for the notice penod to then revert to
12 months The service agreements are available to shareholders to view
on request from the Company Secretary
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Outside appointments

Tesco recognises that ets Executive Directors may be invited to become
Non-executive Directars of other companies Such Non-executive duties
can broaden experience and knowiedge which can benefit Tesco

Subject to approval by the Board, Executive Directars are allowed to
accept Non-executive appointments and retain the fees received, provided
that these appomtments are not likely to lead to conflicts of interest

Executive Directors’ biographies which include details of any outside
appointments can be found on pages 36 and 37 of this Report Fees
retained for any Non-executive directorships are set out below

Lompany in which Fee ratained

Non-executive n 200910
Director directorship held £000
Philip Clarke Whitbread PLC S5
Andrew Higginson BSkyB PLC 63
Lucy Newville-Rolfe The Carbon Trust 18

Non-executive Directors

Non-executive Directors have letters of appontment setting out their
duties and the time commitment expected The letters are availlable to
shareholders to view from the Company Secretary upon request

The Chairman meets with each Non-executive Director separately to
review individual performance All Non-executive Directors are subject
to re-election by shareholders every three years at the Annual General
Meeting and therr appointment can be terminated by either party without
notice The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors 15 determined
by the Chairman and the Executive Committee after considering external
market research and indiidual contnbution Non-executive Directors
receive a basic fee of £65,000 per annum The Chairs of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees receive £30,000 (n addition to therr basic
Non-executive fee) and Non-executive Directors who are members of
these Committees receve an additional £12,000 for each Committee
The Senior Independent Director, Rodney Chase, wha ts also the Deputy
Chairman, receives a total fee of £135,000 per annum The Remuneration
Commuttee determines the Chairman’s remuneration, having regard to
tme commitment and packages awarded to Chairmen of other companies
of a similar size and complexity Dawid Reid, Non-executive Chairman,
receives an annual fee of £610,000 and has the benefit of a company car
and chauffeur

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commuttee (the Committee) 1s governed by formal
Terms of Reference which are reviewed annually The Terms of Reference
are available from the Company Secretary upon request or can be viewed
at www tesco com/boardprocess

Compaosition of the Committee

The Cammittee consists entirely of independent Non-executive Directors
The mernbers of the Committee during the year were Charles Allen
(Charman of the Commutzee), Patnick Cescau, Rodney Chase, Karen Coak,
Harald Einsmann and Ken Hanna Ken Hanna was appomted a member of
the Remuneration Committee effective from 1 Aprl 2009 The Directors'
biographies can be found on pages 36 and 37 of this Report

No member of the Commuittee has any personal financial interestin the
matters being decided, other than as a shareholder, nor any day-to-day
trvolvernent in running the business of Tesco Jonathan Lioyd, the Company
Secretary, 1s Secretary to the Committee Dawid Reid, Non-executive
Chairman, Sir Termy Leahy, Chief Executive of the Group and Laune Mcllwee,
Group CFOQ, all attend meetings at the invitation of the Commuttee They
are not present when their own remuneration I1s being discussed

The Commuttee is supported by the Group Personnel and Finance
functions and has continued to use the services of Deloitte LLP whom it
appointed as an external, ndependent advisor Deloitte LLP also provided
adwvisory services tn respect of corporate tax planning, share schemes,
international taxation, corporate finance and treasury to the Group during
the year Members’ attendance at Committee meetings 1s listed in the
Carporate Governance section on page 47 of this Repart

To find out more go to www tesco com/annualreport2010

Role of the Committee
The Committee’s purpose is to

« determine and recommend to the Board the remuneration pohicy for the
Chairman and Executive Directors,

« ensure the level and structure of remuneration 15 designed to attract,
retain, and motivate the Executive Directors needed to run the Company,

= agree performance frarmmeworks and targets, and review performance
against these,

« menitor the level and structure of remuneration for semor management
ensurtng 1t 1s aligned with shareholders interests, and

* ensure the remuneration relationship between the Executive Directors
and senior executives of the Company below this level i1s appropriate

The Comrruttee normally meets at least four times a year and has a ralling
schedule of items within its remit In the financial year ended 27 February
2010 the Committee met 7 times, and there was also an off-site meeting
to consider remuneration strategy

Key activities
During the year, the key activities of the Committee included

¢ approval of the 2008/09 Directors’ Remuneration Report,

* review and approval of awards made under the Executive Incentive Plan,
Performance Share Plan and Discretionary Share QOption Plan,

* annual review of all elements of the Executive Directors' reward
packages, and those of senior management,

* review of all share plan performance measures aganst 2008/09
performance targets,

¢ agreement of final vesting amounts of the 2006 Performance Share
Plan Award, and 2006 Discretionary Share Option Plan award,

= design and targets for 2009/10 Annual Bonus,
+ consideration of targets for the 2009 Performance Share Plan,

« review of Its performance and agreemenfof steps to enhance is
effactiveness,

¢ review of comphance with director shareholding guidelines ,

+ consideration of developments in best practice and updated guidelines
an executive compensation from shareholder adwisory badies, and

+ review of the Chairman's pay and benefits

Governance Oversight Committee

The Governance Oversight Committee (GOC) has been established

to review and report at the end of each financial year on the allocation

of capitat and other Group resources The GOC comprnises the Senior
Independent Director of the Company (wha chairs the GOC), the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Remuneration
Comrruttee The Chairman of the Group also attends the GOC and the
Company Secretary serves as its secretary The GOC reports its findings

to the Remuneration Cormnmittee each year The Remuneration Committee
takes these inta account, along with the view of the Audit Committee,

to ensure that financoial performance against targets i1s indicative of strong
and robust business performance [f appropriate, vesting under the

plans may be adjusted by the Remuneration Compmuttee {In respect of
Executive Directors) or the Board (in respect of all other employees who
are participants) [n accordance with the Combined Code, any such
adjustments to vesting for Executive Directars will be reported to
shareholders in the Directors’ Remuneration Report at the relevant time

Comphliance

In carrying out its duties, the Remuneration Committee gives full
consideration to best practice The Committee was constituted and
operated throughout the penod in accordance with the principles outhned
n the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authonty denved from the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance The auditors’ report, set out on
page 69, covers the disclosures referred to in this report that are specfied
for audit by the Companies Act 2006 This report also complies with
disclosures required by the Director Remuneration Report Regulations
2602 Details of Directors’ emoluments and interests are set out on
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Tables 1-11 are audited information

Table 1 Directors’ emoluments

Fixed emoluments Performance-related emoluments
Short term
Short term deferred Total Total
Salary  Allowances Benefus? cash shares Long-term® 2009/t0 2008/9
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors

Richard Brasher 805 - 63 771 763 - 2,402 2,267
Philip Clarke 805 - 38 771 763 324 2,701 2720
Andrew Higginsan 805 - 56 771 763 329 2,724 2,754
Sir Terry Leahy 1,398 - 115 1,340 1,784 583 5,220 5,102
Tim Mason — base salary’ 816 305 343 914 909 329 3,616 3,225
Tim Mason — supplement! 200 - - 225 224 - 649 560
Tim Mason - total 1,016 305 343 1,139 1,133 329 4,265 3,785
Laune Mcllwee 588 - 50 579 572 - 1,789 91
tucy Neville-Rolfe 589 - 69 579 572 - 1,809 1,606
David Potts 805 - 45 771 763 324 2,708 2,719

Non-Executive Directors
Charles Ailen 95 - - - - - 95 9N
Patnck Cescau 89 - - - - - 89 5
Rodney Chase 135 - - - - - 135 129
Karen Cook 77 - - - - - 77 73
Harald Einsmann 77 - - - - - 1 73
Ken Hanna* 79 - - - - - 79 -
Ken Hydon 95 - - - - - 95 9N
Dawid Reid (Charman) 610 - 67 - - - 677 657
Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker 65 - - - - - 65 9
Total 8,133 305 846 6,721 7113 1,889 25,007 22172

1 Tim Mason's salary 1s made up of a base salary and a nen-pensionable salary supplement (shown separately) Allowances are made up of compensation payments for addiboenal tax due
on equity awards made prar 1o his move to the US Tim Mason's benefits are made up of car, travel, medical, tax retated costs and services and free shazes awarded under the all employee
Share Incentive Plan

2 With the exception of Tim Masaon, benelits are made up of car benefits, chauffeurs, disabihity and health insurance, stalf discount, gym/leisure club membership and free shares awarded
under the all employee Share Incentive Plan

3 The long term bonus figures shown in table 1 relate to the additional 12 5% enhancements allocated in Apni 2009 and February 2010 on long-term awards under the ole benus scheme
The long-term bonuses awarded an 15 October 2009 under the Performance Share Flan were awarded in the form of nil cost options with the exception of Tim Mason who receved an
unfunded promise to deliver shares Detalls of these awards are shown in table &

4 Ken Hanna was apppointed dunng the year The figure n table 1 s from his date of appaintment

Table 2 Directors’ pension details

Executive Directors are members of the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme which provides a pension of up to two-thirds of base salary on retirerment, normally
at the age of 60, dependent upon service The scheme also provides for dependants’ pensions and tump sums on death in service The scheme s a
defined benefit pension scheme, which 1s approved by HMRC

(a)

Increase in Transfer Transfer

accrued Transfer value of vatue of Transfer
Total Increase pension valueof{a)at total accrued  total accrued valua of Increase
atcrued In accrued during 27 February pension at pension at  total accruwd In transfer
pension at pension the year 2010 (ess 18February 2B February pansionat value (less
Age at Yearsof 27 February dunng {netof Director’s 2009 2009 27 February Director’s
27 February Company 2010"7 the year inflation)® contributions) (old basis)®  (new basis)® 2010  cominbutions}
2010 service E000 £000 £000 £000 £0Q0 £Q00 £000 £0D0
Richard Brasher 48 23 359 7 27 366 3,030 4,133 4,842 709
Philip Clarke 49 35 390 27 27 384 3,530 4793 5,579 786
Andrew Higginson 52 12 329 37 37 581 3,354 4,265 5,202 937
Sir Terry Leahy? 53 31 832 57 57 1,014 12,130 13,767 15,924 2157
Tim Mason 52 28 424 29 29 450 4,493 5,734 6,662 928
Laurie Mcllwee 47 9 178 73 73 944 218 1,257 2,306 1,049
Lucy Neville-Relfe 57 13 244 39 39 722 3,216 3442 4,452 1,010
Dawid Potts 52 37 428 29 29 465 4,705 5,932 6,891 939

1 The accrued pension 1s that which would be paid annually on retwement at 60 based on service to 27 February 2010

Some of the Executive Durectors’ benefits are payable from an unapproved pension arrangement This is secured by a fixed and floating charge on a cash depasit

The basis used for calculating transfer values was revised dunng the year because changes in financial conditions meant that the previous basis for calculating transfer vatues, used since 2008,
no longer produced reasonable values Transfer values at 28 February 2002 have been restated using the new basis far comparative purposes

Sir Terry Leahy 15 entitled to retire at any age from 57 to 60 indusive with an immediaze pension of ;wo-thirds of base salary

inflation aver the year has been allowed for using the September 2009 statutery revaluation order

[P
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Table 3 Gains made on executive share optionsZ?

Market

Value realisable’

Number of Cption price at
Date Date Date of options price exercise 2009110 200819
of grant exerasable exercise exercised (pence) {pence) £000 £000
Richard Brasher 26 06 00 26 0603 241109 106,613 20500 42736 237 -
2604 01 260404 241109 101,215 24700 42736 183 -
150402 150405 241109 1€0,386 25900 42736 169 -
140403 14 04 06 241109 151,500 197 50 42787 350 -
300404 3004 07 241109 296,150 25325 42787 517 -
220403 220408 241109 255,195 31275 42787 294 -
080506 Q80509 241109 345,261 31860 42787 377 -
Philp Clarke - - - - - - - -
Andrew Higginson 300404 300407 280709 434,353 25325 36913 503 -
Sir Terry Leahy 301199 301102 273109 228,901 17300 426 86 581 260
00400 200403 230210 17,673 209 50 423 88 38 -
26 0600 260603 230210 780,487 20500 423 88 1,708 -
Tim Masaon 1504 02 1504 05 120110 358,301 25900 426 40 600 -
300404 3004 07 120110 434,353 25325 426 40 752 -
220405 220408 120110 379,856 31275 426 40 432 -
080506 080509 120110 404,896 31860 426 40 436 -
Laune Mcllwee 220405 220408 230210 105,500 31275 423 88 17 -
08 05 06 08 05 09 230210 108,286 318 60 423 88 114 -
Lucy Neville-Rolfe 220405 220409 1711 09 108,050 31275 43064 127 -
080506 080509 171109 116,133 318 60 43064 130 -
David Potts - - - - - - - -
Total 4,834,109 7,665 260

1 The value reahsable from shares acquired on exercise 1s the difference between the market value at exercise and the exercise price of the option, altheugh the shares may have been retained
2 Gains made on Save As You Earn share options are not in¢luded above These are detalled intable 5
3 Gains made on nil cost options awarded under the Performance Share Plan and the Executive Incentive Plan are not inciuded above These are detailed in table 6 and table 3

Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 27 February 2010

Executive Share Gption Schemes (1994) and (1996) and Discretionary Share Optien Plan (2004)

Options as at Options Options  Options as at Exerase Date from
28 February granted exercised 27 February price which Expiry
Date of grant 2009 inyear' In year? 2010 (penca) exercisabie date
Richard Brasher 2606 2000 106,613 - 106,613 - 20500 2606 2003 2606 2010
2604 2001 101,215 - 101,215 - 24700 2604 2004 2604 2011
1504 2002 100,386 - 100,386 - 25900 1504 2005 1504 2012
14 04 2003 151,900 - 151,200 - 19750 1404 2006 14 04 2013
3004 2004 296,150 - 296,150 - 25325 3004 2007 3004 2014
2204 2005 255,795 - 255,795 - 31275 2204 2008 22 04 2015
08 05 2006 345,261 - 345,261 - 31860 08 05 2009 0805 2016
08 05 2007 278,627 - - 278,627 47375 0805 2010 0805 2017
1205 2008 353,114 - - 353,114 42700 12052011 12052018
06 05 2009 - 467,848 —- 467,848 33840 0605 2012 0605 2019
Total 1,989,061 467,848 1,357,320 +,099,589
Philip Clarke 2204 2005 379,856 - - 379,856 31275 2204 2008 2204 2015
08 05 2006 404,896 - - 404,896 31860 0805 2009 0805 20t6
08 05 2007 298,844 - - 298,844 47375 08405 2010 08405 2017
12 05 2008 353,114 - - 353,114 42700 12052011 12052018
Q6 05 2009 - 467,848 - 467,848 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 1,436,710 467,848 — 1,904,558
Andrew Higginsen 3004 2004 434,353 - 434,353 - 253 25 3004 2007 3004 2014
22 04 2005 379,856 - - 379,856 31275 2204 2008 2204 2015
08 05 2006 404,896 - - 404,896 318 60 08 05 2009 0805 2016
08 05 2007 298,844 - - 298,844 47375 08052010 08052017
1205 2008 353,114 - - 353,114 42700 1205 2011 1205 2018
06 05 2609 - 467,848 - 467,848 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 1,871,065 467,848 434,353 1,904,558
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 4 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 27 February 2010 continued
Executive Share Optian Schemes (1994) and {(1996) and Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004)

Options as at Options Options Options as at Exercise Date from
28 February granteg exerosed 27 Fubruary price which Expiry
Date of grant 2009 inyear’ tn year? 1010 {penca} exercisable date
Sir Terry Leahy 30111999 228,901 - 22890 - 17300 30112002 30112009
2004 2000 17673 - 17,673 - 20950 2004 2003 2004 2010
26 06 2000 780,487 - 780,487 - 20500 26062003 2606 2010
26 04 2001 647,773 - - 647,773 24700 26042004 2604201
1504 2002 642,471 - - 642,4M 25900 15042005 15042012
14 04 2003 939,747 - - 939,747 19750 14 04 2006 1404 2013
30 04 2004 766,041 - - 766,041 25325 3004 2007 30042014
2204 2005 658,673 - - 658,673 31275 22042008 2204 2015
08 05 2006 709,353 - - 709,353 31860 08 052009 08052016
08 05 2007 523,556 - - 523,556 47375 08052010 08052017
12 05 2008 618,548 - - 618,548 42700 120520117 12052018
06 05 2009 - 812,647 - B12,647 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 6,533,223 812,647 1,027,061 6,318,809
Tim Mason 15 04 2002 358,301 - 358,301 - 25900 15042005 15042012
3004 2004 434,353 - 434,353 - 253 25 3004 2007 30042014
22 04 2005 379,856 - 379,856 - 31275 2204 2008 22042015
08 05 2006 404,896 - 404,896 - 218 60 08 052009 0805 2016
1008 2007 333,319 - - 333,319 42475 1008 2010 1008 2017
12 05 2008 353,114 - - 353,114 42700 12052011 12052018
0605 2009 - 467,848 - 467,348 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 2,263,839 467,848 1,577,406 1,154,281
Laurne Mcliwee? 22 04 2005 105,500 - 105,500 - 31275 2204 2008 22042015
08 05 2006 108,286 - 108,286 - 318 60 08 (5 2009 08 05 2016
08 05 2007 77,192 - - 77,192 47375 08 072010 0805 2017
12 05 2008 91,335 - - 91,335 42700 12052011 12052018
06 05 2009 - 325,059 - 325,059 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 382,313 325,059 213,786 493,586
Lucy Newville-Rolfe 22 04 2005 108,050 - 108,050 - 31275 22042008 2204 2015
08 05 2006 116,133 - 116,133 - 318 60 08 05 2009 0805 2016
08 a5 2007 189,973 - I 189,973 47375 08052010 08052017
1205 2008 231,850 - - 231,850 42700 12052011 08405 2018
0605 2009 - 327,494 - 327,494 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 646,006 327494 224,183 749,317
David Potts 22 04 2005 379,856 - 379,856 31275 22042008 22042015
08 05 2006 404,896 - - 404,896 31860 08052009 08052016
08 05 2007 298,844 - - 298,844 47375 08052010 08052017
12 052008 353,114 - - 353,114 42700 12052011 12052018
0605 2009 - 467,848 - 467,848 33840 06052012 06052019
Total 1,436,710 467,848 - 1,904,558
Total 16,558,925 3,804,440 4,834,109 15,529,256

1 Executive share aptions are subject to performance conditions measured over three years as set out on page 56 EPS growth for the penod 2006/7 to 2008/9 exceeded RP) by 31%,
therefare share options awarded on B May 2006 vested n full on 8 May 2009 Executives have until the tenth annwersary of the date of grant to exercise their options

2 The market price a1 exercise is shown 1n Table 3 The share price 35 at 27 February 2010 was 420 0p The share price during the 52 weeks 1o 27 February 2010 ranged from

301 40pto 43795
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Table 5 Share options held by Directors and not exercised at 27 February 2010

Savings related share option scheme (1981)

Value Value
As at Oplions Optians Asat Exercise realisable realisable
28 February granted exercised 27 February price 200910 2008/9
Date of grant 2009 n year In year® 2010 {pence) £000 £000
Richard Brasher 0411 2004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
02112005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 - -
0511 2008 1,077 - - 1,077 3110 - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Philip Clarke 0411 2004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 = -
05112008 1,077 - - 1,077 3110 - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Andrew Higginson 0411 2004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
0811 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 - -
05112008 1,077 - - 1,077 M0 - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Sir Terry Leahy 0411 2004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
08 11 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 - -
05112008 1,077 - - 1,077 o - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Tirn Mason 04112004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
0211 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
0811 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 - -
05 11 2008 1,077 - - 1,077 3110 - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Laurie Mcliwee 0811 2006 615 - 615 - 3070 1 -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 - -
0511 2008 1,077 - - 1,077 o -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
2,51 948 615 2,844 1 3
Lucy Newille-Relfe 04112004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
0811 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 4100 - -
0511 2008 1,077 - - 1,077 Mo - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Dawd Potts 0411 2004 1,424 - 1,424 - 2320 3 -
02 11 2005 1,298 - - 1,298 2480 - -
0811 2006 1,066 - - 1,066 3070 - -
0711 2007 819 - - 819 100 - -
05112008 1,077 - - 1,077 3110 - -
1111 2009 - 948 - 948 3280 - -
5,684 948 1,424 5,208 3 2
Total 42,299 7,584 10,583 39,300

1 Save As You Earn is an all employee share scheme Options are not subject 10 performance conditians All options are exercisable from 1 February in the year which 1s 6 years fram the
year of grant All options expire 6 ranths from therr exercise date {1 @ on 1 August of the relevant year) Afl directors exercised their 04 11 (4 options on 1 February 2010 when the market

price was 422 30p No options lapsed n the year

Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010 61

10da) UOPIRIBLINIUDY

cammandl




Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 68 Long-Term Performance Share Plan’

Shares Options Date of
Share price As at awarded/ exercised/ Asat  release/date
Date of award! on award date 28 February options shares released Shares 27 February fremwhich Expiry
grant {pence} 2009 granted i year in year’ lapsed" 210 exercisable date
Richard Brasher 28 07 2004 253 45 118,367 - 118,367 - - 28072008 -
1210 2005 30275 197,648 7721 205,369 - - 12072009 -
2007 20065 346 25 203,056 7,694 - 20,861 189,889 20072010 -
1411 2007 47110 247,667 9,674 - - 257,341 14072010 14112017
08 072008 35376 339,360 13,256 - - 352,616 08072011 08072018
1510 2009 37400 - 329,382 - - 329,382 15072012 15102019
Total 1,106,098 367,727 323,736 20,861 1,129,228
Philip Clarke 28 07 2004 25345 175,774 - 175,774 - - 28072008 -
12 %0 2005 30275 231,787 9,055 240,842 - - 12072009 -
20 07 2006¢ 346 25 217,789 8,253 83,503 22,375 120,164 20072010 -
1411 2007 47110 247,667 9,674 - - 257,341 14072010 14112017
08 07 2008 35376 339,360 13,256 - - 352,606 0B 072011 08072018
1510 2009 37400 - 329,382 - - 329,382 15072012 15102019
Total 1,212,377 369,620 500,119 22,375 1,059,503
Andrew Higginson 28 07 2004 253 45 175,774 - 175,774 - - 28072008 -
1210 2003 30275 231,787 6,339 238,126 - - 12072009 -
2007 2006% 346 25 217,789 8,253 83,503 22,375 120,164 20 072010 -
1411 2007 47110 247,667 9,674 - - 257,341 14072010 14112017
08 072008 35376 339,360 13,256 - - 352,616 08072011 08072018
1510 2009 374 00 - 329,382 - - 329,382 15072012 15102019
Total 1,212,377 366,904 497,403 22,375 1,059,503
Sir Terry Leahy 28 Q7 2004 25345 304,794 - 304,794 - - 28072008 -
1210 2005 30275 406,080 15,865 421,945 ~ - 12072009 -
2007 20065 346 25 381,553 14,459 - 39,199 356,813 20072010 -
1411 2007 47110 433 836 16348 - - 450,784 14072010 14112017
08 07 2008 35376 589,465 23,029 - - 612,494 08072011 08072018
1510 2009 37400 - 571,958 - - 571,958 15072012 15102019
Total 2,115,728 642,259 726,739 39,199 1,992,049
Tem Mason? 28 07 2004 253 45 90,431 - 90,431 - -~ 28072008 -
1210 2005 30275 124,226 4,852 129,078 - = 12072009 -
2508 2006 346 25 217,789 8,253 - 22,375 203,667 20072010 -
1411 2007 47110 165,111 6,450 - - 171,561 14072010 -
08 07 2008 35376 226,240 8,838 - — 235,078 08 07 2011 -
1510 2009 37400 - 219,588 - - 219,588 15072012 -
Total 823,797 247981 219,509 22375 829,894
Laurie Mcliwee’ 20072006 346 25 52,808 1,221 48,748 5,281 - 20072009 -
1010 2007 465 50 41,890 1,354 - - 43,244 1007 2010 -
08 072008 35376 62,141 2,092 - - 64,233 08 072011 -
1510 2009 37400 - 247,036 - - 247,036 15072012 15102019
Total 156,839 251,703 48,748 5,281 354,513
Lucy Neville-Rolfe? 2007 2006 346 25 59,235 1,370 54,90 5,704 - 20072009 -
1411 2007 47110 162,613 6,352 - - 168,965 14072010 14112017
08 072008 35376 237552 9,280 - - 246,832 08072011 08072018
1510 2009 37400 - 247,036 - - 247,036 15072012 15102019
Total 459,400 264,038 54,901 5704 662,033
Dawvid Potts 2807 2004 253 45 175,774 - 175,774 - - 28072008 -
12 10 2005 30275 231,787 9,055 240,842 - - 12072009 -
20 07 2006° 346 25 217,789 8,253 83,503 22,375 120,164 2007 2010 -
1411 2007 47110 247,667 9,674 - - 257,341 14072010 14112017
08 072008 35376 339,360 13,256 - - 352,616 08072011 08072018
1510 2009 37400 - 329,382 - - 329,382 15072012 15102019
Total 1,212,377 369,620 500,119 22,375 1,059,503
Total 8,298993 2,879,852 28712714 160,545 8,147,026

1 The Periormance Share Plan replaced the Long-term Executive Incentwve Scheme The first award under the new plan was made in 2004 All awasds except those described in nates 2-3
and 5-6 have been made in the form of nil cost options

2 Tim Masan's awards since 2006 have been made in the form of unfunded promises to deliver shares

3 Laurie Mdllwee was appainted an 27 January 2009 His 2006, 2007 and 2008 awards were made in the form of conditionat shares under the semor management Performance Share Plan
Lucy Newlle Rolfe’s 2006 award was also made in the form of conditional shares under the senior managemens Performance Share Plan On 20 July 2009 53 531 shares were released to
Lucy Newlle-Reoife and 47,327 shares were released to Laurie Mcliwee at a share price of 369 95p On 12 August 2009, 1,370 shares were released te Lucy Neville-Rolfe and 1,221 shares
were released ta Laune Mcllwee at a share price of 369 05p
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Table 6 Long-Term Performance Share Plan' continued

4 The awards are subject to performance conditions based on Return on Capital Employed targets The Group ROCE for 2008/9 was 13 34%, therefore targets for PSP awards granted
on 20 July 2006 were partially met and 96% of these awards vested The batance of the awards {10%) lapsed Executives are required to retain the vested awards for a further 12 months
with the exception of the circumstances covered in notes 5 and 6 Shareholder approval was obtained at the 2007 AGM for the removal of the requirement for any vested shares 10 be
retained for a further 12 months and this apphes to awards made after July 2007 All awards are increased to reflect dividend equivalents as each dividend 15 paid with the exception of

the 2004 award on which no dividends accrue

5 Following approval by the Remuneration Commuttee, Executives were offered the opportunity to surrender the nil cost optiens awarded on 20 July 2006 111 exchange for an equivalent
number of restricted shares, and to fund the mcome tax and natienal nsurance due on these awards at the point of exchange (27 Novernber 2009) The balance of shares shawn isin the
form of restricted shares and remains subject to the retention pernied which ends on 28 July 210

6 Following approval by the Remuneration Committee Executives were given the opportunity to surrender the il cost aptions awarded on 20 July 2006 1n exchange for an award of an
equevalent number of restricted shares on 25 February 2010, and to sell sufficient shares to cover the tax hability due The post tax number of shares under award remains subject ta the
retention gened and will not be released unul 20 July 2010 The share price an 25 February 2010 was 416 175p

7 Duectors exercised PSP awards as follows

Duector Date Price (pence) Opuons exerased  Vahue realsed £000 Director Date Pnce{pence) Opuonsexercised  Value realised £000
Richard Brasher 24 1109 428 325 321420 1,377 Sit Terry Leahy 271109 429 275 731 980 3099
230210 421225 2316 10 230210 421 225 4,759 20
Philip Clarke 12 05 09 350 85 ¥75774 617 Tim Mason 1905 09 355 03 90,431 321
291209 43000 238,126 1,024 181109 424 85 127,623 542
230210 421225 2,16 " 230210 421 225 1,455 6
2502 10 416 175 83 503 348 Dawd Potts 230210 421 225 416,616 1755
AndrewHigginson 28 07 09 368 40 413900 1,525 250210 416175 83,503 348
250210 416 175 83,503 348
Table 7 Group New Business Incentive Plan
Shares Options
Share awarded/ exercised/
price on As at options shares As at Date frorm
Date of award date 28 February granted released 27 Fabruary which Expiry
awardfgrant {pence) 2009 N year N year 2010 exercisable date
Sir Terry Leahy 1411 2007 48200 2,579,393 100,779 - 2,680,172 Four
tranches
2011-2094 1411 2017
Total 100,779 - 2,680,172

1 The Group New Business Incentive Plan (2007) was approved by shareholders on 29 June 2007 The awards made under this plan will normally vest in four tranches, four, five six and
seven years after the date of award for nif constderation The award 15 1n the form of nil cost opiions Awards may be adjusted to take account of any dividends paid ar that are payable

in respect of the number of shares earned

2 The vesting of the award made to the Group CEQ under this pian will be conditional upon achievement against Group and International performance conditions The performance
conditons under this award will be aligned with the targets set for awards made under the Performance Share Plan (PSP} in each of the years 2007 to 2009 which will become capable
of vesting between 2010 and 2012 (f less than threshold performance 15 achieved for each of these PSP awards then no portion of the Group Plan award will become capable of vesung
If maximum Group and International performance 1s achieved for each of these PSP awards {1 e the 2007 — 2009 PSP awards vestn fullin 2010 - 2012 then the whale of the Group Plan
awargd will become eligible for vesting subject to achievement of the appropnate new business performance targets referred to below If Group and International performance for any
of these PSP awards 15 between threshold and maximum levels then the Group award wilt become ehigible for vesting on a pro rata basis, subject always to the achievement of the

appropriate new business targets referred to below

3 Once performance against the Group and International targets has been determined, the extent to which the award made to the Group CEQ under this Plan 15 capable of vesting will be
condit:onal on the financial performance of the specified new business venture, as determined by the Remunerat:on Committee

Summary of US business performance conditions

ROCE hurdle 201011 201112 2012113 201314
Maximum performance 6% ROCE 9% ROCE 11% ROCE 12% ROCE
Target performance 4% ROCE 6% ROCE 8% ROCE 10% ROCE
Vesting percentage (% of maximum award)
Vesting levels at maximum performance Up 10 25% Up 1o 50% Up to 75% Up to 100%
Vesting levels at target performance Upto 6 25% Up to 10% Upto125% Upto1875%
Table 8 US Long Term Incentive Plan
Share price on As at Shares Shares Asat
Dateof award date 28 February awarded released 27 Fabruary Date of
award/grant (pence) 2009 nyear In year 2010 release
Tim Mason 1411 2007 48200 2,063,514 80,622 - 2,144,136 Fourtranches 2011-2014
Total 80,622 - 2,144136

1

The Li5 Long Term Incentive Plan (2007) was approved by sharehalders on 29 June 2007 The awards made under this plan will normally vest 1n four tranches faur, five, six and seven
years after the date of award for nil considerauon Vestung will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related to the return on capital employed

n the US business over the seven-year plan The targets are set out under table 7

The maximum rnumber of shares which may be awarded under the US LTIP 15 two miihon shares to the US CEQ and 15 million shares to any other participant An award of two million
shares was made to Tim Mason, US CEQ in Novernber 2007 Awards may be adjusted to Lake account of any dividends paid or that are payable in respect of the number of shares earned
The extent to which awards will vest under the US LTIP s conditional on the financial performance of the Company®s US business, based on the achievemnent of stretching Earnings Before
tnterest and Tax (EBIT) and Return On Capital Employed {ROCE) targets set by reference to the US long-term business plan

A percentage of the EBIT of the US business far the refevant years may be allocated to an EBIT pool (the 'profit pool') The profit pool will be capped at 10% in any one year and s
expected to be approximately 5% of cumulative EBIT aver the four measurement years (2010411 to 2013/14) The portion of an award which may vest wilt be determined by reference to
the value of the EBIT pool as well as performance against the ROCE hurdles for the relevant year, as cuthned in the table above To the extent that the ROCE hurdles for any one year are
met {either in full ar i pare), but there 15 insufficient value in the profit pool 19 fund the vesting of awards then the actuat vesting in that year wilk be scaled back so that the profit pool s
not exceeded That portion of the award that has not paid out in that year due to the profit peol being restricted may vest in future years, provided that the profit poaol in any later year
perrmts this

The targets for the US LTIP have been based on the business plan in respect of the inimal phase of the US business The Remuneration Committee has the responsibility to review these
targets in light of the seale and scope of the US business in order to ensure that they remain apprapriate and challenging In particular, the Remuneration Committee will seek the input of
the Audit Commuittee and the Governance Oversight Committee in arder to ensure that financial performance against the targets 15 indicative of strong and robust business performance
Any matenal adjustments made in respect of the targets will be reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and will be disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 9 Executive Incentive Plan’

Shares Shares Date of
Share price As at awarded/ released/ Asat  releasefdate
Date of on award 28 Febryary opLIGns options 27February fromwhich
awargd/grant {pence) 2009 granted* exercised? 87 2010 exercisable
Richard Brasher 2005 2005 31100 105,865 4,133 109,998 =~ 20052008
26 05 2006 31850 178,436 6,971 185,407 - 26052009
240520075 45675 150,216 5,868 — 156,084 24052010
02 05 20085 42405 149192 5,828 - 155,020 02 05 201
1905 2009 35116 - 204,291 79,336 124,955 1905 2012
Total 583,709 227,091 374,741 436,059
Philp Clarke 2005 2005 31100 157,210 4,321 161,531 - 20052008
26 05 2006 318 50 209,257 8175 217,432 - 2605 2009
24 05 20076 45675 161,118 6,294 68,639 98,773 24052010
02 05 20088 42405 149,192 5,828 63,559 91,461 0205201
1905 2009 35116 - 204,291 79,336 124,955 13052012
Total 676,777 228,909 590,497 315,189
Andrew Higginson 2005 2005 31100 157,210 4272 161,482 = 20052008
2605 2006 318 50 209,257 5,723 214980 - 26052009
24 05 2007¢ 45675 161,118 6,294 68,639 98,773 24 052010
02 05 20085 42405 149,192 5,828 63,559 91,461 0205 20N
19 05 2009 35116 - 204,29 79,336 124,955 1905 2012
Total 676,777 226,408 387,996 315,189
Sir Terry Leahy 20 05 2005 31100 272,606 10,645 283,251 - 2005 2008
2605 2006 318 50 366,610 14,323 380,933 - 26052009
24 05 20075 456 75 282,268 11,028 - 293,296 24052010
02 05 2008° 42405 403,030 15,746 - 418,776 02 05 20M
1905 2009 35116 - 443,564 172,255 271,309 19052012
Total 1324514 495,306 836,439 983,381
Tim Mason? 2005 2005 31100 157,270 4,321 161,531 - 20052008
24 05 2007 45675 183,105 7,154 - 190,259 24052010
02 05 2008 42405 299,078 11,685 - 310,763 Q2 0520M
19 05 2009 35116 - 257,040 - 257,040 1905 2012
Total 639,393 280,200 161,551 758,062
Lucy Neville-Raolfe 24 05 20073 45675 76,815 3,000 - 79,815 24052010
02 05 2008° 424 05 97,957 3,827 - 101,784 (0205201
19 05 2009 35116 - 143,003 55,535 87,468 19052012
Total 174,772 149,830 55,535 269,067
Dawid Potts 2005 2005 31100 157,210 6,138 163,348 - 2005 2008
26 05 2006 31850 209,257 8,175 217,432 - 2605 2009
24 05 20076 45675 161,118 6,294 68,639 98,773 24052010
02 05 20088 42405 149,192 5,828 63,559 91,461 02 05 2011
1905 2009 35116 - 204,291 79,336 124,955 19052012
Total 676,777 230,726 592,314 315,189
Total 4,752,719 1,838,470 3,199,053 3,392,136

1

2
3
4
5

The Executive Incenuve Plan replaced the Short-term Executive Incentive Scheme The Ffirst award under the new plan was made in 2005 The awards are subject to performance

conditions based on TSR, earmings per share and corparate obyectives

Since 2007 Tum Mason's awards have been made in the form of an unfunded promise to geliver shares His 2005 award was made m the form of wl cast opliens
The awards are increased to reflect dividends equivalents as each dividend is paid

No optiens lapsed in the year under the Executive Incentive Plan

Fallowing approval by the Remuneration Commuittee, Executives were offered the opportunity to surrender the nil cost options awarded on 24 May 2007 and 2 May 2008 1n exchange for
awards of an equivalent number of restricted shares, and ta fund the iIncome tax and national insurance due on these awards at the point of exchange (27 November 2009) The balance
of shares shown is.1n the form of restncted shares, and will not be released unul the date speafied in the table

Following approval by the Remuneration Commuttee, Executives were gwven the opportunity to surrender the nil cost options awarded on 24 May 2007 and 2 May 2008 in exchange for
awards of an equivalent number of restnicted shares on 25 February 2010, and to sell sufficiant shares to cover the tax habiity due The post tax number of shares under award remains
subject to the retention period and will nat be released until the date specified in the table The share price on 25 February 2010 was 416 175¢

For all Directors except for Trm Mason, the 2009 award was made in the form of restricted shares The Remuyneration Committee gave approval for Executives to sell sufficient shares to
cover the tax iabihty due at the ime of award Fhe post tax number of shares will not be released until 19 May 2012

Directors exercised EIP awards as follows

Director Date Price {perice] Options exerased  Value realised £000 Director Date Price (pence) Optionsexerased  Valuerealised £000

Richard Brasher 241109 428 325 292,058 1251 Sie Terry Leahy 27109 429 275 656,652 2819
230210 421 225 3,347 14 230210 421225 7,332 32

Philip Clarke 120509 350 85 157,210 552 Tim Mason 1905 09 35503 157,210 558
291209 430 0D 219,252 943 181109 424 85 4,272 18
230210 421 225 2,501 " 230210 421 225 49 0
250210 416175 132,198 550 David Patts 230210 421225 380,780 1,604

Andrew Higginson 28 0709 368 40 376462 1,276 250210 416175 132,198 550
2502130 416175 132,198 550
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Table 10 Directors’ interests in the Long-Term Incentive Plan’
g

Number of Numbarof Value of
shares as at shares asat shares Matket price
Year of Award 28 February Shares Shares 27 Fabruary released Release on release
release date 2009 awarded released 2010 £000 date’ (pence)
Phihp Clarke 2010 090403 252901 40,811 293,712 - 1,258 180210 428 275
2011 040504 208,291 63,849 272140 - 1,166 180210 428 275

Total 461,192 104,660 565,852 - 2424
Andrew Higginson 2010 090403 264,143 42,625 306,768 - 1,314 180210 428 275
201 040504 208,291 63,849 272,140 - 1,166 180210 428 275

Totat 472,434 106,474 578908 - 2,480
Sir Terry Leahy 2010 090403 474135 76,512 550,647 - 2,358 180210 428 275
2011 040504 367,350 112,609 479,959 - 2,056 180210 428 275

Total 841,485 189,121 1,030,606 - 4,414
Tirn Mason 2010 090403 264,143 42,625 306,768 - 1,314 180210 428 275
201 040504 208,29 63,849 272,140 - 1,166 180210 428 275

Total 472,434 106,474 578,908 - 2,480
Laurie Mcllwee? 34 2010 240507 58,863 1,502 24,914 35,851 104 240510 -
20m 210508 62,383 2,206 26,482 38,107 110 21051 -
2012 200509 - 80,230 32,894 47,336 137 200512 -

Total 121,246 84,338 84,290 121,294 351
Dawid Potts 2010 090403 252,901 40,811 293,112 - 1,258 180210 428 275
2011t 040504 208,291 63,849 272,140 - 1,166 180210 428 275

Total 461,192 104,660 565,852 - 2,424

Total 2,829,983 695,727 3,404,416 121,294 14,573

1 Thus Plan has been replaced by the Perlormance Share Plan and Executive Incentive Plan
2 Bonus shares shown for Laune Mcllwee were awarded under the senior management bonus scheme before he joined the Board These shares cannot be retained for an addivional

three year pertod and enhanced

3 Following approval by the Remuneraban Committee, all remaining shares awarded under this plan were released, and executives were allowed ta sell a sufficient number of shares to
cover the tax hability due on release Executives agreed not to sell the post tax number of shares until the orginal release date
4 Following approval by the Remuneration Committee Laune Mcllwee surrendered his conditional shares for an equivalent number of restncted shares on 25 February 2010, and sold
suffscient shares to cover the tax habiity due The post tax number of shares fer each award remains subject to the onginal holding penod The share price on 25 February 2010 was
416 175p and the total value of shares sald to settle the tax iabilsty was £351,278

Date of award

090403

04 05 04

240507

210508

200509

Award price {pence)

19725

24875

456 63

415 45

35605
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Tabla 11 Disclosable interests of the Directors, including family interests, in Tesce PLC 5p Ordinary shares

28 February 2009
27 February 2010 {or on appomtment if later)
Options Options
to acquire to acquire
Ordinary aordinary Grdinary ardinary
sharas'? shares?? shares' shares?
Executive Directors

Richard Brasher 1,186,704 2,044,136 189,825 3,684,552
Phalip Clarke 1,311,821 2,849,105 1,544,598 3,331,548
Andrew Higginson 1,586,895 2,849,105 1,287,438 3,765,901
Sir Terry Leahy 7,806,736 10,639,425 5992724 12,558,542
Tim Mason 4,134,570 1,159,489 4,365,664 2,641,390
Laurie Mcllwee 237,241 743,466 320,878 384824
Lucy Newille-Rolfe 443,091 1,417,358 197,903 1,226,627
Dawid Potts 2,559,979 2,849,105 1,737,555 3,331,548

Non-Executive Directors
Charles Allen - - - -
Patrick Cescau’ - - - -
Rodney Chase - - - -
Karen Cook - - - -
Harald Einsmann® 355,984 - 303,209 -
Ken Hanna! - - - -
Ken Hydon 30,093 - 30,093 -
David Rexd 194,080 - 193,825 -
Jacqueline Tammenoms Bakker - - - -
Total 20,347,194 24,551,189 15,963,712 30,924,932

1

~

oo

Ordinary shares shewn in this table nclude restricted shares held under the Performance Share Plan shown in table 6, restncted shares held under the Executive Incentive Plan shown in
table 9, shares held under the Long-Term tncentive Plan shownin table 10 and shares held under a promise by Tim Mason under the Performance Share Plan, US Leng-Term Incentive
Plan and Executive tncentive Plan shown in tables 6, 8 and 9 respectively Between 28 February 2010 and 30 Apnl 2310, 353 shares were purchased by Executive Directors as part of the
Buy As You Earn seheme, Tim Mason sold 157,520 shares at 440 1p an 22 April 2010, and David Potts exercised options over 784,752 shares on 22 Apri 2010 and sold the shares at 440 00p
Optians te acquire Ordinary shares shown in this table comnpnise eptions held under the Executive Share Option Stheme and Discretionary Share Opuion Plan shown in table 4, Save As
Yau Earn scheme shown in table 5, and nd cost options held under the Performance Share Plan, Group New Business Incentive Plan and Execunive Incentive Ptan shown in tabies 6, 7 and
9 respectively

During the year a number of awards were reclassified from nil cost options 1o restncted shares after Executive Directors agreed 1o exchange awards already earned under the Performance
Share Plan and the Executive Incentive Flan to crystallise their tax due While the commeraial structure of the awards remained the same, the restricted shares are now classified under
Ordwnary shares

Ken Hanna was appointed on 1 Aprii 2009

On 21 Apnl 2009, Patnick Cescau purchased a neminal ameunt of £160,000 of Tesco PLC 6 625% 12/10/10 bonds at 2 pnce of 105 75p per bond On 15 May 2009, Haralgd Einsmaan purchased
a norming! amount of £110,000 Tesco PLC 5 00% 24/02/14 bonds at a price of 104 40p per bond Furtherinformation on Tesco bonds can be found in note 21 of the Group financial statements
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required by the Companies Act 2006 to prepare financial
staternents for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
state of affarrs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the finangial
year and of the profit or loss of the Group for the financial year Under that
taw the Directors are required to prepare the Group finangal statements in
accordance with International Finanoial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
endorsed by the European Umion {(EU) and have elected to prepare the
Company financal statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards

in preparing the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors
are required to

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
+ rmake reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates,

= for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS, as endorsed by the EU,

for the Company financial statements state whether applhicable UX
Accounting Standards have been fellowed, and

prepare the financial staternents on the going concern basis, unless it 1s
Inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will continue
In business

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial staterments

68 Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

The Directors are respansible for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of
the Company and the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the
financial statements and the Directors' Remuneration Report comply with
the Companies Act 2006, and as regards the Group financial statements,
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The Business Review includes a fair review of the business and important
events iImpacting it, as well as a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties of the business

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the
Annual Review and Surmmary Financial Statement and Annual Report
and Financial Statements published on the Group's corporate website
Legislation in the UK concerning the preparation and dissermination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and of
the Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities

[




Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Tesco PLC for the
52 weeks ended 27 February 2010 which compnse the Group Income
Statement, the Group Staterment of Comprehensive Income, the Group
Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement, the Group Statement
of Changes in Equity and the related notes The financial reporting
framewaork that has been applied in their preparation 15 applicable taw
and International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs} as adopted by
the European Union

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Staternent of Directors’ responsibilities set
out on page 68, the Directors are respansible for the preparation of the
Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit the Group financial staternents
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Audiing
(UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board®s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This repart, including the opintons, has been prepared for and only for the
Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16

of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, In giving
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to
any other person to whom this repart I1s shown or into whose hands 1t may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in wrniting

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves cbtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures
tn the financial staternents sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from matenal misstaterment, whether caused
by fraud or error This Includes an assessment of whether the accounting
policies are appropniate 1o the Group's circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
stgnificant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on finanaal statements
In our opimon the Group financal statements

* give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs as at
27 February 2010 and of its profit and cash flows for the 52 weeks
then ended,

= have been properiy prepared i accordance with IFRSs as adopted
by the European Urion, and

+ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Cornpanies Act 2006 and Arucle 4 of the 1AS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion

» the information given in the Directors’ Report for the 52 weeks ended
27 February 2010 for which the Group financtal statements are prepared
15 consistent with the Group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you If, In
our opinion

* certamn disclosures of Directors’ remuneration speaified by law are not
made, ar

* we have not received all the infarmation and explanations we require
far our audit, or

a corporate governance statemnent has not been prepared by the Parent
Company

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

* the Directars’ statement, set out on page 45, in relation to going
concern, and

* the part of the Carporate Governance Statement relating to the
Company's compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008
Combined Code specified for our review

Other matter

We have reported separately on the Parent Company financial statements
of Tesco PLC for the 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010 and on the

ation in the Birectors’ Remuneration Report that 1s descnbed as
been gudit Gl

W\
Richard Winter {Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
5 May 2010
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Group income statement

52 waeks 53 weeks
2010 2009
Restated*
Year ended 27 February 2010 notes Em Em
Continuing operations
Revenue (sales excluding VAT) 2 56,910 53,898
Cost of sales (52,303) (49,713)
Gross profit 4,607 4,185
Admimstrative expenses (1,527) (1,252)
Profit ansing on property-related tems 3 377 236
Operating profit 3,457 3,169
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and associates 13 33 10
Finance income 5 265 116
Finance costs 5 (579) (478)
Profit befare tax 3 3,176 2917
Taxation 6 (840) (779)
Frofit for the year 2,336 2,138
Attributable to
QOwners of the parent 2,327 2133
Minority interests 9 5
2,336 2,138
Earnings per share
Bas:c 9 29.33p 2714p
Diluted ] 29.19p 26 96p
* See note 1 Accounting pelicies
Non-GAAP measure: underlying profit before tax
52 weeks 53 weeks
2010 2009
Restated*
notes Em £m
Profit before tax 3,176 2,917
Adjustments for
FAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — fair value remeasurernents 5 (151) 838
IAS 19 Non-cash Income Staternent charge for pensions 28 24 27
IAS 17 ‘Leases’ —impact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free periods 1 M 27
IFRS 3 Amortisation charge from intangible assets ansing on acquisition 1 127 32
IFRIC 13 *Customer Loyalty Programmes' — fair value of awards 1 14 33
Exceptional items
IAS 36 Impairment of gogdwill ansing on acquisitions 1 131 -
Restructuring costs 1 33 -
Underlying profit before tax 1 3,395 3124

* Seenote 1 Accounting palicies

The notes on pages 75 te 120 form part of these financal statements
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Group statement of comprehensive income

52 waeks

53 weeks

2010 2009
Restated*
Year ended 27 February 2010 notes £m £m
Change in fair value of avallable-for-sale financial assets and investments 1 3
Currency translation differences 343 (275)
Total loss on defined benefit pension schemes 28 (322) (629)
{Losses)gains on cash flow hedges
Net farr value (losses)/gains {168) 505
Reclassified and reported in the Group Income Statement 5 (334)
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive ncome 6 54 375
Total other comprehensive income (87) (355)
Profit for the year 2,336 2138
Total comprehensive income for the year 2,249 1,783
Attnbutable to
QOwners of the parent 2,222 1,784
Minonty interests 27 m
2,249 1,783

* Seenote 1 Accounting policies
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Group balance sheet

27 Fabruary 28 February 24 February
2010 2009 2008
Restated* Restated*
notes £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets 10 4,177 4,076 2,336
Property, plant and equipment 11 24,203 23152 19,787
Investment property 12 1,731 1,539 1112
Investments in joint ventures and associates 13 152 62 305
Other investments 14 863 259 4
Loans and advances to customers 17 1,844 1,470 -
Dervative financial iInstruments 22 1,250 1,478 216
Deferred tax assets 6 38 49 104
34,258 32,085 23,864
Current assets
Inventeries 15 2,729 2,669 2,430
Trade and other receivables 16 1,888 1,820 1,311
Loans and advances to customers 17 2,268 1,918 -
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets 18 144 1,541 -
Denvative financial instruments 22 224 382 97
Current tax assets 6 9 6
Short-term investments 1,314 1,233 360
Cash and cash equivalents 19 2,819 3,509 1,788
11,392 13,081 5,992
Mon-current assets classified as held for sale 7 ir 398 308
11,765 13,479 6,300
Current habihties
Trade and other payables 20 19,442) (8,665) (7,359}
Financial habilities
Borrowings 2 €1,529) (3,471) (2,084}
Denvative financial instruments and other habilities 22 {146) (525) (443}
Customer deposits 24 (4,357) {4,538) -
Deposits by banks 25 (30) (24) -
Current tax labilities (472) (362) (453)
Provisions 26 (39) (10) 4)
(16,015) (17,595) (10,345)
Net current habihties (4,250) (4,116) (4,045)
Non-current iabilities
Financial habihties
Borrowings 21 {11,744) (12,391) (5,972)
Dernvative financial instruments and other hablities 22 {776) {302) (322}
Past-employment benefit obligations 28 (t,840) {1,494) (838)
Deferred tax habtlities [ {795) (676) (791}
Provisions 2% (172) (200) (23)
€15,327) (15,063) {7,946)
Net assets 14,681 12,906 11,873
Equity
Share capital 29 399 395 393
Share premium account 4,801 4,638 4,511
Other reserves 40 40 40
Retained earnings 9,356 7,776 6,842
Equity attnibutable to owners of the parent 14,596 12,849 11,786
Minority interests 85 57 87
Total equity 14,681 12,906 11,873

* See note 1 Accounting pohcies

Sir Terry Laah

Laurie Mcllwee A
i
Directors

The finanoial statements on pages 70 to 120 were authonsed for 1ssue by the Directors on 5 May 2010 and are subject to the approval of the

shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 2 July 2010
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Group statement of changes in equity

Attnibuiable 1o owners of the parent

Issued Capitat
share Share Other redemption Hedging  Translation Treasury Retained Minonty Total
capital premum reserves reserve reserve reserve shares earmings Total Interests equty
£m £m £m £m £m Em Em £m £m £m £m
At 28 February 2009 (restated™) 395 4,638 40 13 175 173 (229 7644 12,849 57 12906
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 2,327 2,327 9 2,336
Other comprehensive iIncome
Change In farr value of
availlable-for-sale Financial assets - - - - - - — 1 1 - 1
Currency translation differences - - - - - 325 - - 325 18 343
Loss on defined benefit schemes - - - - - {2) (320 (322 - (322)
Loss on cash flow hedges - - - - (163) - - - (163) - (163)
Tax on components of other
comprehensive Income - - - - - 33) - 87 54 - 54
Total other comprehensive income - - - - (163) 290 - {232) (105} 18 8%
Total comprehensive iIncome - - - - (163) 290 - 2,095 2,222 27 2,249
Transactions with owners
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (24) - {24} - (24)
Share-based payments - - - - - 73 168 M - 2491
Issue of shares 4 163 - - - - - - 167 - 167
Purchase of minority interest - - - - - - - 9 91 3 94
Dividends paid to minonty interests  — - - - - - - - - (2) (2)
Dividends authorised in the year - - - - - - - (968) (968) - {968)
Tax on 1items charged to equity - - - - - - - 18 i8 - 18
Transactions with owners 4 163 - - - - 49 (691 475) 1 (474)
At 27 February 2010 399 4,801 40 13 12 463 {180) 9,048 14,596 85 14,681
Attributable to owners of the parent
Issued Capital
share Share Other redemption Hedging  Translatran Treasury Retained Minarity Total
capllal premium reServes TeServe reserve reserve shares earnings Total Interasts equity
£m Em £m £m £m £m £m £m £ £m £m
At 23 February 2008 393 4,511 40 12 4 245 {204) 6,814 11,815 87 11,902
IFRIC 13 restatement - - - - - - - 29) {29 - (29)
At 23 February 2008 (restatec™) 393 4,511 40 12 4 245 {204) 6,785 11,786 87 11873
Profit for the year - - - - - - - 2,133 2133 5 2,138
Other comprehensive income
Change in farr value of
avallable-for-sale investments - - - - - ~ - 3 3 - 3
Currency translation differences - - - - - (269) - - (269) (6) {273)
Loss on defined benefit schemes - - - - - (2) - 627) (629) - (629)
Gains on cash flow hedges - - - - 17 - - - 1M - M
Tax on components of other
comprehensive Income - - - - - 199 - 176 375 - 375
Total other comprehensive income - - - - 171 (72) - (448) (349) 6) {355)
Total comprehensive income - - - - 1M (72) - 1,685 1,784 [4)] 1,783
Transactions with owners
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (165) - {165) - (163)
Share-based payments - - - - - - 140 68 208 - 208
lssue of shares 3 127 - - - - - - 130 - 130
Share buy-backs n - - 1 - - - - - - -
Purchase of minonty interest - - - - - - - - - (26) (26)
Dwidends paid to munority interests  — - - - - - - - - 3 (3)
Fair value reserve ansing
on acquisition of Tesco Bank - - - - - - - (71) (71) - (7N
Dwidends authorised in the year - - - - - - - (B83) (883) - (883)
Tax on items charged to equity - - - - - - - 60 60 - 60
Transactions with owners 2 127 - 1 — - (25) (826) 7210 (29) (750
At 28 February 2009 (restated®) 395 4,638 A0 13 175 173 (229 7,644 12,849 57 12,806

* See note 1 Accounting palicies
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Group cash flow statement

52 waaks 53 weeks
2010 2009
Year ended 27 February 2010 notes Em £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 3 5,947 4978
Interest paid (690) {562)
Corporation tax pard (512) (456)
Net cash from operating activities 4,745 3,960
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidianes, net of cash acquired (65) (1,275)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,820 994
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investment property (2,855) (4,487}
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 4 -
Purchase of iIntangible assets {163) (220)
Increase in loans to jomnt ventures (45) (242)
investments in jaint ventures and assoclates (4) (30}
Investments in short-term and other investments (1,918) (1,233)
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments 1,233 360
Dividends received 35 689
Interest received a Q0
MNet cash used In Investing activities €1,877) (5,974}
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital 167 130
Increase in borrowings 862 7387
Repayment of borrowings (3,601) (2,733)
Repaymaent of gbligations under finance leases (4a1) (18}
Oividends paid (968) (883)
Dividends paid to minanty snterests {2) (3}
Own shares purchased {24) (265)
Net cash from financing activities (3,607) 3,615
Net (decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents {739) 1,601
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,509 1,788
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 49 120
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 19 2,819 3,509
Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note
52 wanks 53 weeks
2010 2009
Year ended 27 February 2010 note £m £m
Met (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (739) 1,601
Investment in Tesco Bank (230) -
Elimination of net increase in Tesco bank cash and cash equivalents {167) (37)
Debt acquired on acquisition of Homever - (611)
Transfer of joint venture loan receivable on acquisition of Tesco Bank - {91)
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from debt and lease finanang 2,780 (4,636)
Dwidend received from Tesco Bank 150 -
Increase in short-term investments a1 an
Increase In joint venture loan recervables 45 242
Other non-cash movements (249) (759)
Decreasef(increase) tn net debt in the year 1,671 (3,418)
Opening net debt 32 (9,600) (6,182}
Closing net debt 32 (7,929) (9,600

NB The reconcliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt note 1s not a prmary statement and does not form part of the ¢ash flow statement and farms part of the notes to the

financial statements
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Note1 Accounting policies

General information

Tesco PLC s a public hmited cormpany incorperated and dormuciled in the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2086 {Registration number
445790) The address of the registered office 15 Tesco House, Delamare
Road, Cheshunt, Hertfordshire, EN8 9SL, UK

The financial year represents the 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010 (pnior

financial year 53 weeks ended 28 February 2009 and includes 53 weeks of
trading for the UK, Republic of freland (RO} and United States of America

{US) businesses)

As described in the Report of the Directors, the main activity of the Group
15 that of retailing, retaling services and financial services

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Internattonal Finanaal Reporting Standards (IFRS) and International
Finanoial Reporting Interpretation Commuttee (IFRIC) interpretations as
endorsed by the European Union, and those parts of the Companies Act
apphcable to campanies reporting under I[FRS

Basis of preparation

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, generally
rounded to the nearest milhon They are prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments, share-based payments,
custormer loyalty programmes and pensions that have been measured
at fair value

The accounting policies set out below have been apphed consistently
to all periods presented 1n these consolidated financial statements

Basis of consolidation

The Group finanaal statements consist of the financial staternents of
the ultimate Parent Company (Tesco PLQ), all entities ¢controlled by the
Company (115 subsidiaries) and the Group's share of its interests in joint
ventures and associates

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries, Joint ventures and associates to bring the accounting policies
used into ine with those of the Group

Subsidiaries
A substdiary 1s an entity whose operating and financing policies are
controlled, directly or tndirectly, by Tesco PLC

The accounts of the Parent Company’s subsidiary undertakings are
prepared to dates around the Group year end

The financial statements of subsidianes are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases

Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses or income and
expenses ansing from intragroup transactions, are ehminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statements

Joint ventures and associates

A Joint venture 15 an entity in which the Group holds an interest on a long-
term bawis and wihich 15 jointly controlled by the Group and one or more
other venturers under a contractual agreement

An associate 1s an undertaking, not being a subsidiary or joint venture,
over which the Group has significant influence and can participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the entity

The Group's share of the results of joint ventures and associates 1s included
in the Group Income Statement using the equity method of accounting
tnvestrments in jont ventures and assoctates are carned in the Group Balance
Sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net
assets of the entity, less any imparment invalue The carrying values of
Investrments in joint ventures and associates nclude acquired goodwaill

If the Group's share of losses in a joint venture or assoctate equals or
exceeds Its investment in the joint venture or associate, the Group does

not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obhigations to do so or
rmade payments on behalf of the joint venture or assocrate

Unrealised gains ansing from transactions with joint ventures and
assaciates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's Interest in the entity

Use of assumptions and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical expenence and vancus other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the arcumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and habiliues
that are not readily apparent from other sources Actual results may differ
from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis Rewisions to accounting estimates are recognised i the period In
which the estimate 15 revised if the revision affects only that peniod, or in
the period of the revision and future periods If the rewision affects both
current and future penods

Criucal estimates and assumptions are made In particular with regard to
establishing uniform depreciation and amornsation periods for the Group,
impairment testing (inctuding foans), provisions for onerous leases and other
provisians, assumptions for measunng pension provisions and fair value of
share-based payments, determimation of the fair value of obligations to
purchase minonty interests and far value of derwvative financial instruments,
classification of leases as operating [eases versus finance leases (including on
sale and leasebacks), the likelihood that tax assets can be realised and the
classification of certain operations as held for sale

Changes in accounting policy and disclosure
The Group has adopted the following new and amended standards and
interpretations as of 1 March 2009

* IFRIC 13 ‘Custemer Loyalty Programmes’, effective for annual penods
beginning on or after 1 July 2008, requires customer loyalty awards to
be accounted for as a separate cormponent of the sales transaction in
which they are granted Part of the fair value of the consideration
received relating to the customer toyalty awards 15 deferred and
subsequently recognised over the penod in which the awards are
redeemed The results for the 53 weeks ended 28 February 2009 have
been restated accordingly The impact on the Group Income Statement
far the year ended 28 February 2009, 15 a £429m reduction in total
revenue, £396m reduction in cost of sales and a £9m decrease to the
taxation charge for the year The net impact 15 a decrease of £33mto
profit before tax and £24m to profit after tax The net impact to the
Group Balance Sheet as at 28 February 2009 15 a £53m reduction in
shareholders’ equity, £73m increase in trade and other payables and
a £20m reduction in the provision for deferred tax The net impactto
the Group Balance Sheet as at 24 February 2008 1s a £29m reduction in
shareholders’ equity, £40m increase in trade and other payables and
an £11m reduction in the provision for deferred tax The pnor year effect
of the restaternent on basic and diluted earrungs per share 15 a reduction
of 0 36p per share, and 0 35p per share, respectively

» Amendment to IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payment' —Vesung Condittons
and Cancellattons, effective for annual pencds beginning on or after
1 January 2009 clanfies that only service and performance conditions
are vesting conditions Any other conditions are non-vesting conditions
wihich have to be taken into account to determine the fair value of the
equity Instruments granted The award must be treated as a cancellation
where the award does not vest as a result of a fallure to meet a non-
vesting condition thats within the control of either the Group or the
counterparty Cancellations are treated as accelerated vestings and all
remaining future charges are iImmediately recognised in the Group
Income Statement with the credit recogmised directly in equity The
results for the year ended 28 February 2009 have been restated
accordingly The impact on the Group Incorme Statement, Group
Balance Sheet, basic and diluted earnings per share for the prior year
was not matenal
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

+ |IFRS 8 'Operating Segments’, effective for annual periods begtnring
on or after 1 January 2009 replaces {AS 14 ‘Segment Reporting’ and
requires operating segments to be reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker
The chief operating decision-maker, who 1s responsible for resource
allocation and assessing performance of the operating segments, the
key performance measure being trading profit, has been identified as
the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

= |AS 1 {rewised) 'Presentation of Financial Statements’, effective for
annual penods beginning on or after 1 January 2009, prohibits the
presentation of items of Income and expenses (that 1s, ‘non-owner
changes in equity’) in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity,
and requinng ‘non-owner changes In equity’ to be presented in a
performance statement The Group has elected to present two
statements a Group Income Statement and a Group Statement of
Comprehensive Income The consclidated finangial information has
been prepared under the revised disclosure requirements There was
no impact on the results or net assets of the Group Due to the adoption
af IFRIC 13 and the amendments to IFRS 2, a Group Balance Sheet as
at 24 February 2008 has been presented as required by IAS 1 (revised)
when there Is a retrospective restatement

* Amendments to IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments — Disclosures', effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 requires
enhanced disclosures about fair value measuremens and hiquidity risk

Sale and repurchase agreement (Tesco Bank)

+ in order to align with emerging industry practice the Treasury Bills and
related Mediwum Term Notes previously recognised have been restated in
Group Balance Sheet as at 28 February 2009 These batances arose as a
result of a secuntisation and assocated sale and repurchase agreement
entered into as part of the Special Liquidity Scheme during the year
ended 28 February 2009 The effect of the change in the prior yearis a
reduction in loans and advances to banks and other financial assets of
£588m, with a related reduction in current borrowings

IFRS 3 Business combinations

Under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations', any adjustments to the provisional
fair values allocated within 12 months of an acquisition date are calculated
as if the fair value at the acquisition date had been recogrised fram

that date As a result, goodwill relating to the following acquisitions has
been restated

= Homever (acquired 30 Sepiember 2008) — the net impact of the
restatement Is an increase in goodwill of £14m, increase in trade
and other recevables of £22m, increase In trade and other payables
of £2m and increase in non-current provistons of £34m

Tesco Bank {acquired an 19 December 2008) - the net impact of the
restatement IS an increase in goodwill of £35m, increase in deferred
tax assets of £28m, increase in nan-current provisions of £99m and
a decrease in retained earnings of £36m

Revenue
Retailing
Revenue consists of sales through retad outlets

Revenue s recorded net of returns, relevant vouchers/offers and value-
added taxes, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer Relevant vouchersfoffers include money-off
coupons, conditional spend vouchers and offers such as buy one get one
free (BOGOF) and 3 for 2

Commission income is recorded based on the terms of the contracts and
15 recogrmised when the service 15 provided

Financial Services
Revenue consists of interest, fees and commission receivable

Interest income an financial assets that are classified as loans and

receivables is determined using the effective interest rate method This is
the method of caleulating the amortised cost of a financial asset or for a
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group of assets, and of allocating the interest income over the expected
life of the asset The effective interest rate 1s the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash flows to the instrument’s initial carrying amount
Calculation of the effective interest rate takes nto account fees recevable,
that are an integral part of the instrument's yield, premiums or discounts
on acquisition or issue, early redemption fees and transaction costs

Fees i respect of services are recognised on an accruals basis as senvice
1s provided The arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of
providing the service 15 incurred as the service s rendered The price 1
usually fixed and always determinable Significant fee types include credit
card related services fees such as interchange, late payment and balance
transfer fees

The Group receives insurance cornmission from the sale of general
insurance pohictes, which 15 dependent on the profitability of the underlying
Insurance policies

Clubcard and loyalty muatives

The cost of Clubcard and toyalty smitiatives is treated as a deduction from
sales and part of the fair value of the consideration recewved 1s deferred and
subsequently recognised over the perod that the awards are redeemed

The fair value of the points awarded 15 deterrmined with reference to the
fair value to the customer and cansiders factoers such as redemption via
Clubcard deals versus money-off-in-store including Double Up and
redemption rate

Computers for Schools and Sport for Schools and Club vouchers are 1ssued
by Tesco for redemption by participating schaols/clubs and are part of cur
overall Community Plan The cost of the redemption {1 e meeting the
obligation attached to the vauchers) s treated as a cost rather than a
deduction from sales

Otherincome

Finance income, excluding income anising from financial services, 15
recogrised in the period ta which 1t relates using the effective interest rate
method Dividends are recognised when a legat entittement to receve
payment arises

Operating profit

Operating profit is stated after profit ansing on property-related items but
before the share of results of joint ventures and associates, finance mcome
and finance costs

Property, plant and aquipment
Property, plant and equipment assets are carried at cost less accumnulated
depreciation and any recognised imparrment in value

Property, plant and equipment assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis to their residual value over therr anticipated useful econgmic Lives

The following depreciation rates are apphed for the Group

+ freehold and leasehold buildings wath greater than 40 years unexpired —
at 2 5% of cost,

¢ leasehold propertres with less than 40 years unexpired are depreciated
by equal annual instalments over the unexpired penod of the lease, and

* plant, equipment, fixtures and fittngs and motor vehicles - at rates
varying from 9% to 50%

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over ther expected useful
lives on the same basis as owned assets or, when shorter, over the term of
the relevant lease

All property, plant and equipment are reviewed for mpairment i
accordance with |1AS 36 'Impairment of Assets' when there are indications
that the carrying value rmay not be recoverable
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition or construction

of qualifying assets are capitalised Qualfytng assets are thase that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended
use All other borrowing costs are recogrised in the Group Income
Statement In finance costs, excluding those ansing from financial services,
in the period in which they aceur For Tesco Bank finance cost on financial
liabihities is determined using the effective interest rate method and is
recognised in cost of sales

Investment property

Investment property I1s property held to earn rental income andior for
capital appreciation rather than for the purpose of Group operating
activities Investment property assets are carried at cost less accumulated
deprectation and any recognised imparment in value The depreciation
policies for investment property are consistent with those descnbed for
owner-occupled property

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership to the lessee
All other leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as a lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
recesvables at the amount of the Group's netinvestment in the leases
Finance lease income 15 allocated to accounting penods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the lease

Rental income from operating leases 1s recogrused on a straight-ine basis
over the term of the relevant lease

The Group as a lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at
their fair value ar, if lower, at the present value of the min:mum fease
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease The corresponding
liability 1s included in the Group Balance Sheet as a finance lease obligaticn
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction
of the lease obhigations so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
rernaining balance of the habiity Finance charges are charged to the
Group Income Statement

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Group Income
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction 1s one where a vendor sells an asset and
immediately reacquires the use of that asset by entering into a lease with
the buyer The accounting treatment of the sale and leaseback depends
upaon the substance of the transaction (by applying the lease classification
pnnciples described above) and whether or not the sale was made at the
asset’s fair value

For sale and finance leasebacks, any apparent profit or lass from the

sale 1s deferred and amortised over the lease term For sale and operating
leasebacks, generally the assets are sold at fair value, and accordingly

the profit or loss from the sale 1s recognmised immediately in the Group
Income Statement

Foltowing imitial recognition, the lease treatment is consistent with those
principles described above

Business combinations and goodwill
All business combnations are accounted for by applying the purchase
method

On acquisition, the assets {including intangible assets), habtities and
contingent habilities of an acguired enuty are measured at therr fair value
The interest of mmanty shareholders 1s stated at the minarity's proportion
of the fair values of the assets and labilites recognised

The Group recogrises intangible assets as part of business combinations at
fair value on the date of acquisition The determination of these fair values
15 based upon management’s jJudgement and includes assumpttons an the
trming and amount of future Incremental cash flows generated by the
assets acquired and the selection of an appropriate cost of capital The
useful ives of intangible assets are estimated, and amortisation charged
on a straight-line basis

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the net assetsinet
habilties of the acquired subsidiary, joint venture or associate at the

date of acquistion If the cost of acquisttion 15 less than the fair value

of the Group's share of the net assats/net habilittes of the acquired entity
{1 e a discount on acquisiton) then the difference i1s credited ta the Group
Incorme Statement in the penod of acquisition

At the acquisition date of a subsidiary, goadwill acquired 1s recegrised as
an asset and is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to
benefit from the business combination’s synergies and to the lowest level
at which management monitors the goodwill Goodwill anisng on the
acquisition of Joint ventures and associates 1s included within the carrying
value of the investment

Goodwiil 1s reviewed for impairment at least annually by assessing the
recaverable amount of each cash-generating unit to which the gaodwilk
relates The recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair value less costs to sell,
and value in use When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unitis less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss 1s recognised

Any impairment 1s recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement
and 1s not subsequently reversed

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the attnibutable
amount of goodwill is included in the determunation of the profit or loss
on disposal

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before 29 February 2004 (the date of
transition to IFRS) was retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject
to being tested for impairment at that date Goodwili wrnitten off to
reserves under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been restated and will not
be included in determining any subsequent profit or loss on disposal

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets, such as software, pharmacy licences, customer
relattonships, contracts and brands, are measured mitially at cost and are
amortised on a straight-line basis aver thew estimated useful lives, at
2%-100% of cost per annum

Internally-generated intangible assets — Research and development
expenditure
Research costs are expensed as incurred

Development expenditure incurred on an individual projectss carned
forward conly if alt the cnitena set out in IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets' are
met, namely

* an asset 1s created that can be wdentified {such as software or new
processes),

« 1t1s probable that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits, and

+ the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably
Following the initial recognihon of development expenditure, the cost

15 amartised over the project’s estimated useful ife, usually at 14%-25%
of cost per annum

SJuSWaeIs jeduRULy

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there Is any indication
that those assets are imparred If such indication exists, the recoverable

Tesco PLC Annual Repart and Financial Statements 2010 77

Famesnbit



Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

armount of the asset s estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any) Where the asset does not generate cash
flows that are iIndependent from other assets, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating urit to which the
asset belongs

The recoverable amount s the higher of fair value less costs to sell, and
value in use |f the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit} 1s estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating umt) 1s reduced to its recoverable amount
An impairment loss 15 recognised as an expense iImmed:ately

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset {or cash-generating unit} 1s increased to the revised estimate of
the recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no
impairment {ass had been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prior years A reversal of an impairment loss 1s recognised as a
credit to the Group Income Statement mmediately

Other investments

Other investments in the Group Balance Sheet comprise loan recevable
and avallable-for-sale financial assets Refer to the fimancial instruments
accounting policy for further detail

Loan recervables are recogrused at amortised cost and available-for-sale
financial assets are recognised at fair value

Inventories

Inventories comprise goods held for resale and properties held for, or in the
course of, development and are valued at the lower of cost and fair value
less costs to sell using the weighted average cost basis

Short-terminvestments
Shart-term investments in the Group Balance Sheet consist of depasits
with money market funds

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equwvalents in the Group Balance Sheet consist of cash at
bark, in hand and demand deposits wtth banks together with short-term
deposits with an onginal matunty of three rmonths or less

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale If
their carrying amount will be recovered through sale rather than
continuing use This cendition 1s regarded as met only when the sale 1s
highly prabable and the asset (or disposal group) ss available for immediate
sale in 1ts present condition Management must be commutted to the sale
and it should be expected to be completed within one year from the date
of classification

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

Pensions and similar obligations
The Group accounts for pensians and other post-employment benefits
(principally private healtheare) under [AS 19 ‘Employee Benefits'

In respect of defined benefit plans, abligations are measured at discounted
present value {using the projected untt credit method) whilst plan assets
are recorded at far value The operating and financing costs of such plans
are recognised separately in the Group Income Statement, service costs
are spread systematically over the expected service hives of employees and
financing costs are recogmised in the periads in which they anse Actuanal
gans and losses are recognised immediately in the Group Statement of
Comprehensive income

Payments to defined contnbution schemes are recognised as an expense
as they fall due
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Share-based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form

of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services
in exchange for shares or nghts over shares (equity-settled transactions) or
in exchange for entitlements o cash payments based on the vatue of the
shares (cash-settled transactions)

The fair value of employee share option pfans s calculated at the grant
date using the Black-Scholes model In accordance with IFRS 2 ‘Share-
Based Payment’, the rasulting cost is charged to the Group Income
Statement over the vesting peniad The value of the charge 1s adjusted
to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting

Taxation
The tax expense mcluded in the Group Income Statement consists of
current and deferred tax

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date Tax)s recognised in the Group Income Statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised 1n other comprehensive Income
or directly In equity, /n which case 1Lis recognised other comprehensive
Income or equity, respectively

Deferred tax ts provided using the balance sheet hability method,
providing for temparary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and llabilizies for finanoial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for taxation purposes

Deferred tax 1s calcutated at the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date Deferred tax I1s charged
or credited in the Group Income Statement, except when it relates to items
charged or credited directly to equity or other comprehensive income, In
which case the deferred tax 1s also recogrised in equity, or other
comprehensive INcome, respectively

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 15 probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utihsed

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets I1s reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 15 no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be availabte to allow all or part of the assetto
be recovered

Deferred tax assets and llabiities are offset against each other when there
15 a legally enforceable nght 1o set-off current taxation assets against
current taxation habiities and it 1s the mtention to settle these on a net basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on
the date of the transaction At each balance sheet date, monetary assets
and habihties that are denominated i foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date All differences are taken to
the Group Income Statement for the period

The financial statements of foretgn subsidiaries are translated into Pounds
Steriting according to the functional currency concept of IAS 21 ‘The Effects
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates' Since the majonty of consolidated
companies operate as ndependent entities within therr local economic
environment, their respective local currency is the functional currency
Therefore, assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiaries denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the date
of the Group Balance Sheet, profits and losses are translated inta Pounds
Sterling at average exchange rates for the relevart accounting penods
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred
to the Group's transtation reserve Such translation differences are
recognised as incorne or expenses In the period In which the operaton

15 disposed of




Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisitton of a foresgn
entity are treated as assets and labilities of the forergn entity and
translated at the closing rate

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial habilities are recognised on the Group's
Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
prowvisions of the instrument

Trade receivables

Trade recervables are non interest-beanng and are recognised nitially at
fair value, and subseguently at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method, reduced by appropnate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts

Investments
Investments are recognised at trade date Investments are classified as
either held for trading or available-for-sale, and are recogrused at fair value

There are no investments classified as held for trading

For avallable-for-sale investments, gains and losses ansing from changes
In fair value are recognised directly in equity, until the security 1s disposed
of or s determined to be imparred, at which time the cumulatve gain or
loss previously recogrised in equity 15 included in the net result for the
period Interest calculated using the effective interest rate method (s
recognised in the Group Income Statemnent Dividends on an avarlable-for-
sale equity Instrument are recognised in the Group Income Statement
when the entity's night to receive payment i1s established

Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or
deterrminable payments that are not quoted in an active market and
include amounts due from customers and amounts due from other banks
The Group has no intention of trading these loans and advances and
consequently they are not classified as held for trading or designated

as fair value through profit and loss Loans and advances are imtially
recogrised at fair value plus directly related transaction costs Subsequent
1o initiak recagnition, these assets are camed at amortised ¢ost using the
effective Interest method less any impairment losses Income from these
financial assets 1s calculated on an effective yield basis and s recognised
in the Group Inceme Statement

Impairment of loans and advances

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its [oans and advances to determine whether there 1s any indication that
those assets have suffered an ymparrment toss Animpairment loss has
been incurred If there 1s objective evidence that an event or events since
initial recogmition of the asset have adversely affected the amount or
timing of future cash flows from the asset

If there 15 objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset
or group of financial assets classified as loans and advances has been
incurred, the Group measures the amount of the loss as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset or group of assets and the
present value of estimated future cash flows from the asset or group of
assets discounted at the effective interest rate of the instrument at imittal
recogmtion Impairment losses are assessed indwidually for financial assets
that are individually significant and collectively for assets that are not
indwvidually significant fn making collective assessments of impairment,
finanoal assets are grauped into portfolios on the basis of similar nsk
charactenstics Future cash flows from these portfolios are estimated on
the basis of the contractual cash flows and histanical loss expenence for
assets with simikar credit nsk charactenstics Historical loss expenence is
adjusted, on the basis of current observable data, to reflect the effects of
current conditions not affecting the penod of histoncal experience

Impairment losses are recognised in the Group Income Statement and the
carrying amount of the financtal asset or group of financial assets reduced
by establishing an allowance for impairment losses Ifin a subsequent

period the amount of the impairment loss reduces and the reducticn
can be as¢ribed to an event after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised loss 1s reversed by adjusting the allowance Once
anmpairment loss has been recogmised on a financial asset or group of
financial assets, Interest income 1s recognised on the carrying amount
using the rate of interest at which estimated future cash flows were
discounted in measuring Impairment

Loan impairment pravisions are established on a portfoho basis taking
into account the level of arrears, secunity, past loss experience, credit
scores and defaults based on portfolio trends The maost significant
factors in establishing the prowvisions are the expected loss rates and the
related average ife The portfolios include credit card receivables and
other personal advances The future credit quality of these portfolios Is
subject to uncertainties that could cause actual credit losses to differ
matenally from reported loan impatrment provisions These uncertainties
include the economic environment, notably interest rates and their
effect an customer spending, the unemployment level, payment
behaviour and bankruptcy trends

Financial habilities and equity instruments

Financial habihties and equity instruments are classified according to
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into An equity
nstrument s any contract that gives a residual interest In the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its habilitres

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at
fair value, net of attributable transaction costs Subseguent to initial
recogrition, interest-bearning barrowings are stated at amortised cost
with any difference between cost and redemption value betng
recognised in the Group Income Statement over the penod of the
borrowings on an effective interest basis

Trade payables
Trade payables are non interest-bearning and are stated at amartised cost

Equity instruments
Equity nstruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct 1ssue costs

Dervative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses denvative financial instruments to hedge 1ts exposure
to forergn exchange, interest rate and commodity risks ansing from
operating, financing and investing activties The Group does not hold
orissue denvative financal instruments for trading purposes, however,
if denvatives do not qualify for hedge accounting they are accounted for
as such

Bervative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value
The fair value of denvative financial instruments 1s determined by
reference to market values for simifar financial instruments, by
discounted cash flows, or by the use of option valuation models Where
denvatives do not qualfy for hedge accounting, any gains or losses

on remeasurement are Immediately recognised in the Group Income
Statement Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition
of any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship and the item being hedged

In order to quakify for hedge accounting, the Group 1s required to
document from inception the relationship between the item being
hedged and the hedging instrument The Group is also required to
document and demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between
the hedged item and the hedqing mstrument, which shows that the
hedge will be highly effective on an ongomng basis This effectiveness
testing Is performed at each penod end to ensure that the hedge
remains highly effective
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Dervative financial instruments with maturnity dates of more than ane
year from the balance sheet date are disclosed as nan-current
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 1 Accounting policies continued

Fair value hedging

Denvative finanaal instruments are classified as fair value hedges when
they hedge the Group's exposure to changes sn the fair value of a
recognised asset or habiity Changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the Group
Income Statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the
hedged item that 15 attributable to the hedged nisk

Dernvative financial instruments qualifying for fair value hedge accounting
are principally interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps

Cash flow hedging

Derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when
they hedge the Group's exposure to vaniabiity in cash flows that are either
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or
hability, or a heghly probable forecasted transaction

The effective element of any gain or loss from remeasuring the derivative
Instrument s recognised directly in equity

The associated cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from equity and
recognised in the Group Income Statement in the same period or periods
during which the hedged transaction affects the Group Income Statement
The classification of the effective portion when recogmised in the Group
Income Staternent 1s the same as the classification of the hedged
transactian Any element of the remeasurement of the denvative
instrument which does not meet the cntena for an effective hedge 15
recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement within finance
INCOIME OF COsts

Dervative instruments qualify:ng for cash flow hedging are pnincipally
farward fareign exchange transactions and interest rate swaps

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires
or1s sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer quahfies for hedge
accounting At that pomt in ime, any cumulative gain or loss on the
hedging instrument recogmised in equity 1s retained In equity until the
forecasted transaction oceurs or the onginal hedged item affects the
Group Income Statement [f a forecasted hedged transaction is no lenger
expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised In equity s
transferred to the Group Income Statement

Net investment hedging

Dervatve financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges
when they hedge the Greup's net investrnent tn an averseas operation

The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from remeasuring
the denvative instrument is recegnised directly in equity Any ineffective
element Is recognised immediately in the Group Income Statement Gains
and losses accumufated in equity are included in the Group Income
Staternent when the foreign operation 1s disposed of

Denvative instruments guabfying for net investment hedging are
principally forward foreign exchange transactions

Treatment of agreements to acquire minority interests
The Group has entered into a number of agreements to purchase the
remaining shares of subsidianes with minonty shareholdings

Under [AS 32 ‘Finanaal Instruments Presentation’, the net present value of
the expected future payments are shown as a financial hability At the end
of each penod, the valuation of the hability 15 reassessed with any changes
recognised in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs
for the year Where the hability is in a currency other than Pounds Sterling,
the liability has been designated as a netinvestment hedge Any change in
the value of the habthty resulting from changes in exchange rates is
recognised directly in equity
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Provisions

Provisians are recagrused when there is a present legal or constructive
abligation as a result of a past event, for which it is probable that a transfer
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and where
arehable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation

Provisions for onerous leases are recognised when the Group believes
that the unavoidable costs of meeting the lease obligations exceed the
economic benefits expected to be recerved under the lease Where
rnatenial, these leases are discounted to their present value Provisions
for dilapidation costs are recagrised on a lease by lease basis

Otherrecent accounting developments
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective in 2010 or 1ssued
and early adopted

In preparing the Group financial statements for the current year, the Group
has adopted the following new and amended standards and
interpratations which have no impact on the results or net assets of the
Group (unless atherwise stated)

¢ Amendment ta IAS 23 ‘Borrowing Costs', effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 The standard has been revised to
require capitakisation of borrowsng costs when such costs relate to a
qualify:ng asset

*= Amendment to IAS 32 'Financial Instruments Presentation’ and 1AS 1
'Presentation of Financial Statements’- Puttable Instruments and
Instruments with Obligations Arnising on Liquidation, effective for annual
pertods beginmng on or after 1 January 2009

+ Amendment to IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’ —
Presentation on Classification of Rights Issues, effective for annual
pericds beginmng on or after 1 January 2009

* Amendments to IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of IFRSs’ and 1AS 27
‘Consclidated and Separate Financial Statements’ — Cost of an
Investment of a Subsidiary, Jontly Controlled Entity or Assocate,
effective for annual reporting perods beqinning on or after
1 January 2009

« |FRIC 9 ‘Reassessment of embedded dervatives’ and IAS 39 ‘Financial
Instruments Recogrnition and Measurement — Embedded Dernvatives
{amendments)’ effective for annual pericds beginring on or after
1 July 2008

IFRIC 14 ‘The Lim:t on a Defined Benefit Asset, Mimimum Funding
Requirements and therr Interaction’, effective for annual penods
beginning on or after 1 January 2008

¢ |FRIC 15 ‘Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate’, effective for
annual periods beginrung on or after 1 January 2009

.

IFRIC 16 ‘Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation’, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective and
under review as to thetr impact on the Group

+ Amendments to IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payment' — Graup Cash-Settled
Transactions, effective for annual periods beginnuing on or after
1 January 2010 In addition to incorporatung IFRIC B ‘Scope of IFRS 2!,
and IFRIC 11 * IFRS 2 -~ Group and treasury share transactions', the
amendments expand on the guidance of IFRIC 11 to address the
classification of group arrangements that were not covered by that
interpretation The new guidance 15 not expected to have a matenal
impact on the Group's financial statements

1AS 27 (revised) ‘Consoldated and Separate Financial Statements’,
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 The
revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-
controling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in
control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains
and losses The standard also specifies the accounting when control of
an entity 1s lost Any remaimning interest in the entity 1s remeasured to fair
value, and a gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement The
Group will apply [AS 27 (revised) prospectively to transactions with non-
controlling interests from 28 February 2010
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Note 1 Accounting policies continued

IFRS 3 (revised) ‘Business Cormbinations', effective for business
combinations for which the acquisition date 1s on or after the beginning
of the first annual reporung penod beginming on or after 1 July 2009
The revised standard continues ta apply the acquisition method to
business combinations, with some significant changes, including all
payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at farr value at the
acguisition date, with the contingent payments that are classified as
debt subsequently remeasured through the Group Income Statement
There s a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the
nen-controlling interest in the acquiree etther at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquirer’s net assets

Al acquisition-related costs should be expensed The Group will apply
IFRS 3 (revised) prospectively to alf business combinations from

28 February 2010

= Amendment to tAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement’ - Eligible Hedged Items, effective for annual periods
begimming an or after 1 July 2009 The amendment provides clanfication
on how the principies that determine whether a hedged nsk or portion
of cash flows 1s eligible for designation should be applied in particular
situations

= IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments', effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2013 This 15 the first part of a new standard on
classification and measurement of financial assets that will replace IAS 39

= Amendment to |AS 24 'Related Party Disclosures’, effective for annual
pencds beginming on or after 1 January 2011

* |FRIC 17 ‘Distnbutions of Non-Cash Assets to Qwners’, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

= IFRIC 18 ‘Transfers of Assets from Customers’, effective for transfers of
assets from customers receved an or after 1 July 2009

* [FRIC 19 ‘Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments’,
effective for annual pencds beginning on or after 1 July 2010

The Group continually reviews amendments to the standards made under
the IASB's annual improvements project

Use of non-GAAP profit measures — underlying profit before tax
The Directors believe that underlying profit before tax and underlying
diluted earnings per share measures provide additional useful information
for shareholders on underlying trends and performance These measures
are used for internal performance analysis Underlying profit 1s not defined
by IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with other
companies’ adjusted profit measures Itis notintended to be a substitute
for, or supernior to [FRS measurements of profit

The adjustments made to reported profit before tax are

» IAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — fair value remeasurements —
Under IAS 32 and IAS 39, the Group applies hedge accounting to its
varieus hedge relatronships when allowed under the rules of IAS 39
and when practical to do so Sometimes the Graup 1s unable to apply
hedge accounting to the arrangements but continues to enter into
these arrangements as they provide certainty or active management
of the exchange rates and interest rates applicable to the Group
The Group believes these arrangements remain effective and
economically and commercially viable hedges despite the inability
to apply hedge accounting

Where hedge accounting I1s not applied to certain hedging
arrangements, the reported results reflect the movement in fair value of
refated dervatives due to changes in foreign exchange and interest
rates In addition, at each perod end, any gain orloss accruing on open
contracts 15 recagnised in the Group Income Statement for the penod,
regardless of the expected outcome of the hedging contract on
termination This may mean that the Group Income Statement charge 1s
highly volatile, whilst the resulting cash flows may not be as volatile The
underlying profit measure remaoves this valatiity to help better identify
underlying business performance Dunng 2010 there was no impact
(2005 — £10m) of the IAS 32 and IAS 39 charge arose in the share of
post-tax profit of joint ventures and associates, with the remainder in
finance iIncome/costs

* IAS 19 Incorne Statement charge for pensions — Under 1AS 19
‘Employee Benefits', the cost of providing pension benefits in the
future 15 discounted to a present value at the corporate bond yield
rates applicable on the last day of the previous financial year
Carporate bond yield rates vary over time which in turn creates
volatility in the Group Income Statement and Group Balance Sheet
IAS 19 also Increases the charge for young pension schemes, such as
Tesco’s, by requinng the use of rates which do not take into account
the future expected returns on the assets held in the pension scheme
which will fund pension habilitres as they fail due The sum of these
two effects can make the [AS 19 charge disproportionately higher and
more volatile than the cash contnbutions the Group 1s required to
make in order to fund all future labilties Therefore, within underlying
profit we have included the ‘normal’ cash contributions for pensions
but exciuded the volatile element of IAS 19 to represent what the
Group believes to be a fairer measure of the cost of providing post-
employment benefits

« |AS 17 ‘Leases’ — impact of annual uphfts in rent and rent-free penods
- The amount charged to the Group income Statement in respect of
operating lease costs and ncentives I1s expected 1o increase significantly
as the Group expands its international business The leases have been
structured In a way to Increase annual lease cests as the businesses
expand |AS 17 ‘Leases’ requires the total cost of a lease to be
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease,
irrespective of the actual timing of the cost The impact of this
treatment in 2010 was a charge of £41m (2009 — £27m) to the Group
Income Statement after deducting the impact of the straight-line
treatment recognised as rental income within share of post-tax profits
of jeint ventures and assaciates

* IFRS 3 Amortisatson charge from intangible assets ansing on
acquisition — Under IFRS 3 'Business Combinations', intangible assets
are separately identified and valued The intangthle assets are
required to be armortised on a straight-line basis over their useful
economic lives and as such 1s a nan-cash charge that does not reflect
the underlying performance of the husiness acguired

* |FRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes' — This new interpretation
requires the fair value of customer loyalty awards te be measured
as a separate compenent of a sales transaction The underlying profit
measure removes this fair value allocation te present underlying
business performance, and to reflect the performance of the
operating segments as measured by management

Exceptional items - Due to ther sigrificance and special nature,
certain other items which do net reflect the Group's underlying
performance have been excluded from underlying profit These gains
or losses can have a significant impact on both absolute profit and
profit trends, consequently, they are excluded from the underlying
profit of the Graup For the year ended 27 February 2010, exceptional
iters are as follows

- |AS 36 Impairment of goodwll ansing on acquisitions — the carrying
value of goodwill relating to Japan was not fully recoverable,
resulting n an impairment charge of £131m (2009 — £n1l), and as
such Is @ non-cash charge that does not reffect the underlying
performance of the business The recoverable amount for Japan
was based on value n use, calculated from cash flow projections for
five years using data from the Group’s latest internal forecasts, the
results of which are reviewed by the Board

= Restructunng costs - These relate to certain costs associated with
the Group’s restructuring actvities For the year ended 27 February
2010, the Group incurred £33m (2009 - £nil}, relating to
restructuring activities

There were no exceptional items 1n 2009
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note2 Segmantal reporting

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be determined based on the Group's internal reporting to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (*CODM")

The CODM has been determined to be the Executive Comrittee of the Board of Directors as it1s pnmanily responsible for the allocation of resources
to segments and the assessment of performance of the segments Previously, segments were determined and presented in accordance with I1AS 14
‘Segment Reporting'

The CODM uses trading profit, as reviewed at monthly Executive Committee meetings as the key measure of the segments’ results as it reflects the
segments' underlying trading perfarmance fer the period under evaluation Trading profitis a consistent measure within the Greup

Segmental trading profit s an adjusted measure of operating profit, which measures the perfarmance of each segment before exceptional items
{goodwill impairment and restructuring charges), profit ansing on property-related items, impact on leases of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free perods,
amortisation charges from intangible assets ansing an acquisition, adjustments to fair value of customer loyalty awards and replaces the IAS 19 pension
charge with the 'mormal’ cash contributions for pensions

On the adoption of IFRS 8, the Group revised its operating and reporting segments The Group’s operating segments were previously defined
geographically — UK, Rest of Europe, Asia and US The Group's operations {retail and retailing services) are managed by geography, with Tesco Bank
as a separate reporting segment because of its different regulatory environment Accordingly, the segments under IFRS 8 are UX, Rest of Europe (ROE
compnses Republic of Ireland, Hungary, Paland, the Czech Republic, Stovakia and Turkey), Asia (compnsing Thailand, South Korea, Malaysia, China,
Japan and India), US and Tesco Bank

Comparative informatian has been restated to reflect these new segments

Segment assets include itemns directly attnbutable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis Unallocated s comprised
mainly of denvative recevables, interest-bearing loan recervables and taxation-related assets

fnter-segment turnover between the operating segments 15 not matenal

The segment results for the year ended 27 February 2010, for the year ended 28 February 2009 and the reconcihiation of the segment measures to the
respective statutary items included in the consolidated finanwal information are as follows

Total at Total
Year ended 27 February 2010 uk ROE Asi us Buk ehonge  exhange  exchange
At constant exchange rates £m Em Em £m £m £m £m Em
Continuing operattons
Sales inc VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 42,254 9,979 8,737 324 860 62,154 383 62,537
Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 39,104 8,704 8,148 319 860 57,135 367 57,502
Effect of IFRIC 13 (546) (19) (25} - - (590) (2) (592)
Revenue 38,558 8,685 8,123 319 860 56,545 365 56,910
Trading profit/{loss) 2,413 466 422 (151) 250 3,400 12 3412
Trading margin* 6 2% 5 4% 52% {47 3%} 29 1% 59% - 59%
Total
Year ended 27 February 2010 K ROE A s Tesco )
At actual exchange rates £m £m £m fm £m £m
Continuing operations
Sales inc VAT (excluding IFRIC 13} 42,254 9997 9,072 354 860 62,537
Revenue {excluding IFRIC 13) 39,104 8,724 8,465 349 860 57,502
Effect of IFRIC 13 (546) {20} (26) - - (592)
Revenue 38,558 8,704 8,439 349 860 56,910
Trading profitf(loss) 2,413 474 440 (165) 250 3412
Trading margin* 62% 54% 5 2% {47 3%} 29 1% 59%
Total at Total
Year ended 28 February 2009 uk ROE Asi s Bak enange  exchange  exchonge
At constant exchange rates £m £m £m £m £m £m £m Em
Continuing operations
Sales inc VAT {excluding IFRIC 13) 41,357 8,373 7,020 181 163 57,004 2,332 59,426
Revenue {excluding IFRIC 13) 38,028 7,335 6,592 179 163 52,257 2,070 54,327
Effect of IFRIC 13 (378) (26) (18) - - (422) (7) (429
Revenue 37,650 7,309 6,534 179 163 51,835 2,063 53,898
Trading profit/{loss) 2,309 an 345 (123) 68 3010 76 3,086
Trading margin* 61% 5 6% 5 3% (68 7%) 41 7% 5 8% 57%

* Trading margin 15 based on revenue excluding IFRIC 13
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Note 2 Segmental reporting continued

Total
Year ended 28 February 2009 UK ROE Asia us o e::::;:':-;l
At actual exchange rates £m £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Sales inc VAT (excluding IFRIC 13) 41357 10,120 7,578 208 163 59,426
Revenue (excluding IFRIC 13) 38,028 8,862 7,068 206 163 54,327
Effect of IFRIC 13 (378) (31) (20 - - (429)
Revenue 37,650 8.8 7,048 206 163 53,898
Trading profit/(lass) 2,309 496 355 (142} 68 3,086
Trading margin® 61% 5 6% 5 0% (68 9%) 41 7% 5 7%
* Trading margin s based on revenue excluding IFRIC 13
Reconciliation of trading profit to profit before tax
2010 2009
Restated
£m £m
Trading profit for reportable segments 3,412 3,086
Adjustments for
Prgfit ansing on property-related items 3717 236
|AS 19 Non-cash Group Incame Statement charge for pensions 24 52}
IAS 17 ‘Leases’ — impact of annual uplifts 0 rent and rent-free periods (51 (36)
IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ — amortisation charge from intangible assets arising on acquisition {127) {32}
IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes' — fair value of awards (14) {33)
Exceptional items
1AS 36 Imparwrment of goodwill artsing on acquisitions 131) -
Restructuring costs (33) -
QOperating profit 3,457 3,169
Share of post-tax profit from joint ventures and associates 33 110
Finance income 265 116
Finance costs (579) (478)
Profit before tax 3,176 2917
Taxation (840) (779)
Prafit for the year 2,336 2,138
Segmant assets
Total
Tesco Otherf at actuat
Ux ROE Asia us Bank unallocated exchange
At 27 February 2010 £m Em £m £m Em Em £m
Total segment non-current assets 14,741 6,588 AL 790 3,738 1,286 34,258
Total segment non-current assets includes
Investments In Joint ventures and associates 55 - 95 - 2 - 152
Total
Tesco Other/ atactual
UK ROE Asia us Bank unaltacated exchange
At 28 February 2009 £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
Total segment non-current assets 15,441 5,748 5,883 721 2,748 1,467 32,008
Restatement of acquisitions through
business combinations - - 14 - 63 - 77
Total segment nen-current assets - restated 15,441 5,748 5,897 ral 2,81 1,467 32,085
Total segment non-current assets includes
Investments in joint ventures and associates 49 — 13 - - -~ 62
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 2 Segmental reparting continued

Other sagment information

Tatal
Tesco at actual
UK ROE Asia us Bank exchange
Year ended 27 February 2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital expenditure {including acquisitions through business combinations)
Property, plant and equipment 1,485 518 736 141 44 2,924
Investment property - 8 8 - - 16
Goadwill and other intangible assets 124 21 91 - 25 21
Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment (570} (260) (226} (29) (6) (1,091}
Investment property - (8 (8} - - (16)
Amortisation of intangible assets (116} (20) (14) - (127 (277)
Goodwill impairment losses recognised 1n the Group Income Statement - - {131) - - (131
Impairment losses recognised in the Group Income Statement (27) (18) 6 - - {51
Reversal of prior perrod impawment losses through the
Group Income Staternent 27 40 10 - - 77
Other segment information
Total
Tesco atactual
UK RGE Asia us Bank exchange
Year ended 28 February 2009 - restated Em £m £m £m £m £m
Capital expenditure {(including acquisitions through business combinations)
Property, plant and equipment 2,392 852 1,404 305 25 4978
Investrment property - 48 152 - - 200
Goodwill and other intangible assets ni7 15 399 - 1,060 1,691
Deprecation
Property, plant and equipment (565) (249) (176) (20) (O] (1,011
investment property - (9 (ie) - - (25)
Amortisation of intangible assets (99) (16) (&) - (32) (153)
Goodwill impairment losses recognised in the Group Income Statement - - - - - -
Impairment losses recognised sn the Group Income Statement 21 {41} (4) - - {66}
Reversal of prior pertod impairment losses through the
Group Income Statement 21 50 17 - - 88
Nota 3 Income and expenses
2010 2009
From ccmtlnumg operatlons £Em £m
Profit before tax s stated after charging/(crediting} the following
Profit arising on property-related items 377) {236)
Rental income, of which £351m (2009 - £304m) relates to investment properties (469) (349)
Direct operating expenses arising on rental earning investment properties 103 9
Costs of inventonies recogrmised as an expense 42,504 40,779
Stock losses 1,000 870
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and investment property 1,107 1,036
Net reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment and inpairment of mvestment property {26) (22)
Amortisation of internally-generated development intangible assets 103 a8
Amortisation of other intang:bles 124 65
QOperating lease expenses! 927 738

t Operating lease expenses include £83m (2009 — £81m) for hure of plant and machinery
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Note 3 Income and expenses continued

Dunng the year, the Group (including its overseas subsidianes) obtained the following services from the Group's auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
and network firms

2010 2009
£m £m

Audit services

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and Group financial statements 0.6 06
Non-audit services

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and netwaork firmns for other services

The audit of the accounts of the Company's subsidianes pursuant to legislatton 35 31
Other services pursuant to such legislation 01 01
QOther services relating to taxation 04 08
Qther services relating to corporate finance transactians 0.1 13
All other services 0.6 06
Total auditor remuneration 5.3 65

In additian ta the amounts shown above, the auditors receved fees of £0 1m (2009 — £0 1m) for the audit of the mamn Group pension scheme

A description of the work of the Audit Commuttee 1s set out in the Corparate Governance Report on page 46 and includes an explanauon of how
objectivity and independence 1s safequarded when non-audit services are provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Note 4 Employment costs, including Diractors’ remuneration

2010 2009

Restated

£m £m

Wages and salaries 5,057 4,707
Social security costs 435 410
Post-employment benefits (nate 28) 403 439
Share-based payments expense (note 27} 300 246
6,195 5,802

The average number of employees by operating segment duning the

yearwas
Average number Average number of
of employees full-ume equivatents
Restated Restated
2010 2009 2010 2009
UK 287,266 286,052 196,604 194,135
Rest of Europe 86,642 86,760 77,847 78914
Asla 94,536 92,773 94,248 88,099
us 3,246 2,583 3,246 2,583
Tesco Bank 404 300 393 284
Total 472,094 468,508 372,338 364,015

* The comparatives have been restated to reflect Tesco Bank as a separate segment
In 2009, Tesco Bank employees were included in the UK reporting segment
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 5 Finance income and costs

2010

2009

£Em £m
Finance income
Bank interest receivable and similar income on cash and cash equivalents 114 91
Net pension finance income (note 28) - 25
Total finance income (on historical cost basis) 114 116
IAS 32 and |AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ - fair value remeasurements 151 -
Total finance income 265 116
Finance costs
Interest payable on short-term bank oans and overdrafts repayable within five years (135) (152)
Fimance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts [¢)] (13)
6% t25m GBP MTN 2008 - (2)
5 25% 500m EUR MTN 2008 - (4)
5125% 192m GBP MTN 2009 (8) m
6625% 150m GBP MTN 2010 (10) [410)]
475% 750m EUR MTN 2010 (25) (26)
3 875% 500m EUR MTN 2011 (13) (14)
5 625% 1,500m EUR MTN 2012 (74) (35)
5% 600m GBP MTN 2014 (30} (4}
5125% 600m EUR MTN 2015 {27) {1
4% RPI GBP MTN 2016%@ {12) (23)
5 875% 1,500m ELUR MTN 2016 (72) (33)
5 5% 850m USD Bond 2017 {23) (23)
5 5% 350m GBP MTN 2019 19 (20)
6125% 900m GBP MTN 2022 {55) (1)
5% 515m GBP MTN 2023 {26) 21)
3 322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 (11) (20)
6% 200m GBP MTN 2029 12) (12)
5 5% 200m GBP MTN 2033 1) 1%)
1982% RPi GBP MTN 2036 (5) (14)
615% 1,150m USD Bond 2037 (34) (35)
5% 300m GBP MTN 2042 (15) (15)
5125% 600m EUR MTN 2047 (21) {21)
5 2% 500m GBP MTN 2057 (26) (26)
Other MTNs (13) (9
Capitalised interast (note 11) 155 152
Total finance costs (on historical cost basis) (531) (400)
Net pension finance cost (note 28) (48) -
IAS 32 and [AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ - fair value remeasurements - {78)
Total finance costs {579) (478)

(@) Interest payable on the 4% RPI GEP MTN 2016 includes £1m (2009 ~ £93m) of Retail Price Index (RP) related amortisation
{b)Interest payable on the 3 322% LPI GBP MTN 2025 includes £2m (2009 — £11m) of RP| related amortisation
{¢) Interest payable on the 1 982% RPI GBP MTHN 2036 includes £1m (2009 — £10m) of RPI retated amortisation

Finance income of £20m (2009 - finance costs of £30m) resulted from hedge ineffectiveness
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Note 6 Taxation

Recogmised in the Group Income Statement

10 2009
flestated
£m £m
Current tax expense
UK corporation tax 566 673
Foreign tax 128 88
Adjustments in respect of prior years {91) {164)
603 597
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temperary differences 10 110
Adjustments n respect of prior years 124 97
Change In tax rate 3 (25)
237 182
Total iIncome tax expense 840 779

UK corporation tax 1s calculated at 28 Q9% (2009 - 28 2%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year Taxation in other junsdictions 1s calculated at

the rates prevaiing in the respective junsdictions

Reconciliation of effective tax charge

2010 2009
Restated
£m £m
Profit before tax 3,176 2,917
Effective tax charge at 28 0% (2009 ~ 28 2%} (889) (823)
Effect of
Non-deductible expenses 13) (190)
Differences in gverseas taxation rates 93 111
Adjustments in respect of pnor years (33) 67
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 5 3
Change in tax rate (3) 25
Total income tax charge for the year (840) (779)
Effective tax rate 26.4% 26 7%
Tax on items credited directly to aquity
010 2009
£m £m
Current tax credit on
Share-based payments 15 46
Deferred tax credit on
Share-based payments 3 14
Tatal tax on items credited to equity 18 B0
Tax relating to componants of other comprehensive income
2010 2009
£Em £m
Current tax (charge)/credit on
Foreign exchange movements {33} 199
Deferred tax credit on
Pensions a7 176
Total tax on items credited to other comprehensive income 54 375
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 6 Taxation contnued

Deferred tax
The following are the major deferred tax assetsi{liabiities) recogmsed by the Group and movements thereon during the current and pror year

Accelerated Retwement Short term wec;[l;:::
tax benefit Share-based tm:ng IAS 32 and  taxtemporary
deprecsation obligation payments differences Tax losses 1A5 39 differences Totat
Em £Em £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 23 February 2008 (restated) (1,068) 233 76 36 12 13 1 {687)
(Charge)/credit to the
Group Income Statement (194) 7 (46) 70 1 {8) (12) {182)
Credhit directly to equity - - 14 - - - - 14
Credit to other comprehensive income - 176 - - - - - 176
Acquisition of subsidianes 12 - - (14) - 42 - 40
Foreign exchange translation 3 1 - (2 3 - 7 12
At 28 February 2009 (restated) (1,247) a7 44 90 16 47 6 627
(Charge}/credit to the
Group Income Statement (257) 7 9 (7 21 {1 1 237
Credit directly to equity - - 3 - - - - 3
Credit to other comprehensive income - 87 - - - - - 87
Acquisition of substdianes - - - - 2 - - 2
Foreign exchange and other movements 8 - - 8 P4 - (3) 15
At 27 February 2010 (1,496) 511 56 91 a1 36 4 {757)

Certain deferred tax assets and habiliues have been offset The following 1s the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial
reporting purposes

2010 2009

Restated

Em £m

Deferred tax assets 38 49
Deferred tax labilities (795) {676)
{757) 627)

The impact of adopting IFRIC 13 on the 2009 opening balance sheet was an £11m reduction in deferred tax labilities

No deferred tax 1s recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and jaint ventures, because the earnings are continually reinvested by
the Group and no tax is expected to be payable on therm in the foreseeable future The temporary difference unrecognised at the year end amounted to
£2,766m (2009 - £1,726m} Furthermore the intreduction of a dvmdend exemption in the UK tax legislation with effect from 1 July 2009 means that
earmings can be remitted from certamn substdiary undertakings where no tax will be payable on repatnation

Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the fellowing items {because 1t 1s not probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the Group can utilise the benefits)

2010 2009

Em £m

Deductible temporary differences 1 12
Tax losses 286 192
287 204

As at 27 February 2010, the Group has unused trading tax losses of £1,019m {2009 - £744m) avallable for offset against future profits A deferred tax
asset has been recogrised i respect of £142m (2009 - £58m) of such losses No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining
£877m (2009 — £686m) due ta the unpredictability of future profit streams Included tn unrecogrised tax losses are losses of £297m (2009 - £32min
2013} that will expire in 2014 and £550m (2009 - £647m between 2014 and 2029} that will expire between 2015 and 2030 Other losses will be carned
forward indefinitely

In addition, the Group has UK capital losses of £342m (2009 - £310m) in respect of which no deferred tax asset has been recognised

Mote 7 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

2010 2009
£m £m
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 373 398

The non-current assets classified as held for sale consist mainly of properties in the Unmited Kingdom due to be sold within one year
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Note 8 Dividends

52 wasks ended

53 weeks ended

17 Fabruary 2010 28 February 200%
pance/share £m  pence/share £m

Amounts recognised as distributions to owners in the year
Final dividend for the prior financral year 8.39 660 770 603
Interim dividend for the current financial year 3.89 308 357 280
12.28 968 1127 883
Proposed final dvidend for the current financial year 9.16 731 8139 662

The proposed final dwvidend was approved by the Board of Directors on 19 April 2010 and 1s subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting The proposed dividend has not been included as a hability as at 27 February 2010, in accordance with 1AS 10 ‘Events After the
Balance Sheet Date' It will be pard on @ July 2010 to shareholders who are on the register of members on 1 May 2010

Note 9 Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Basic earmings per share amounts are calculated by dwiding the profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares inissue during the year

Diluted earrings per share amounts are calculated by dwviding the profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year (adjusted for the effects of potentially dilutive options)

The dilution effect 1s calculated on the full exerase of all potentially dilutive ordinary share options granted by the Group, mcluding perfermance-based

options which the Group considers to have been earned

All operations are continuing for the years presented

52 wasks anded 53 weeks ended
27 Fabruary 2010 28 February 2009
Restated
Potentially Potenuially
dilutive dutive
Basic shareeoptions Diluted Basic  share options Dituted
Praofit (£m) 2,327 - 2,327 2,133 - 2,133
Waeighted average number of shares (millions) 7,933 39 7,972 7,859 53 7912
Earnings per share {pence) 29 33 (0.14) 29.19 2714 (018) 2696

There have been no transactions nvolving ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of approval of these financial statements which

would significantly change the earmings per share calculations shown above

Reconcihation of non-GAAP underlying diluted eamings per share

S waeks ended 53 weeks ended
27 Fabruary 2010 28 February 2009
Restated
£m panceishare £m pence/share
Profit 2,327 2919 2,133 26 96
Adjustments for
1AS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments’ — fair value remeasurements {151) (1.90) a8 1
Total IAS 19 Non-cash Group Income Statement charge for pensions 24 0.30 27 034
1AS 17 ‘Leases’ —impact of annual uphfts in rent and rent-free periods M1 0.52 27 034
IFRS 3 Amortisation charge from intangible assets ansing on acquisition 127 1.59 32 041
IFRIC 13 ‘Custorner Loyalty Programmes' — fair value of awards 14 0.18 33 o4
Exceptional itemns
IAS 36 Impairment of goodwill ansing on acquisitions 131 1.64 - -
Restructunng costs 33 0.41 - ~
Tax effect of adjustments at the effective rate of tax (2010 - 25 4%*, 2009 - 26 7%} 22) 0.27) (56) (070
Underlying earnings from operations 2,524 31.66 2,284 28 87

* The effective tax rate of 25 4% excludes the adjustment far goodwill impaurment
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Nota 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets

internally Pharmacy
generated and Other
development software intangible
costs hcences assets Geadwill Total
£y £m Em £fm £m

Cost
At 28 February 2009 879 310 318 3,283 4,790
Restatement of acquisitions through business combinations - - - 49 49
At 28 February 2009 (restated) 879 310 318 3,332 4,839
Foreign currency trans!ation 9 1 14 136 170
Additions ik 50 2 98 261
Reclassification across categories 136 N 1 1 137
Disposals (2) (2) - (h {3}
At 27 February 2010 1,133 368 335 3,566 5,402
Accumulated amortisatron and impairment losses
At 28 February 2009 426 197 42 98 763
Foreign currency translation 3 6 3 1 13
Amortisation for the year 103 43 131 - 277
Reclassification across categories a2 {3 4 Q) 42
Imparment charge for the year - - - 13 131
Disposals - ()] - - (U]
At 27 February 2010 574 242 180 229 1,225
Net carrying value
At 27 February 2010 559 126 155 3,337 4177
At 28 February 2009 (restated) 453 113 276 3,234 4,076
Cost
At 23 February 2008 691 278 48 1,927 2,944
Foreign currency translation 6 7 €] 205 214
Additions 192 26 2 - 220
Acquisitions through business combinations —restated - - 270 1,201 1,471
Reclassification across categaries (2 - 2 - -
Disposals (8) (1) - (N (10}
At 28 February 2009 (restated) 879 310 318 3,332 4,839
Accurnulated amortisation and impairment losses
At 23 February 2008 340 163 7 98 608
Foreign currency transtation - 4 - - 4
Amortisation for the year 88 3 34 - 153
Reclassification across categories {1) - 1 - -
Disposals (1} {1 - - (2)
At 28 February 2009 (restated) 426 197 42 98 763
Net carrying value
At 28 February 2009 (restated) 453 13 276 3,234 4076
At 23 February 2008 351 115 M 1,829 2,336

There are no intangible assets, other than goodwill, with indefirute usefut lives
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Note 10 Goodwill and other intangible assets conunued

Impairment of goodwnll

Goodwill arising en business combinations 1s not amortised but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or mere frequently if there are indications
that goodwill may be rmpaired Geodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of cash-generating units according to the level at
which management monitor that goodwill

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating umits are based cn the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to seli In 2010, recoverable amounts
are based on value in use Value 1 use 15 calculated from cash flow projections for generally five years using data from the Group's latest internal
forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board The key assurnptions far the value in use calcutations are those regarding discount rates,
growth rates and expected changes in margins Management estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect the current market assessment
of the ume value of money and the risks specific to the cash-generating umits Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past experience
and expectations of future changes in the market Given the current economic climate, a sensitivity anatysis has been performed in assessing the
recoverable amounts of goodwill

The carrying amount for Japan has been reduced to its recoverable amount through the recognition of an impairment loss of £131m agamnst goodwll
This has been included in cost of sales in the Group Income Statement The key assumptions for Japan include a long-term growth rate of 11%
{2009 - 1 5%) and a pre-tax discount rate of 6 1% (2009 - 7 3%)

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term average growth rates of generally 1% to 4% (2009 - 2% to 10%)

In the case of Poland, it 1s reasonably possible that a change in key assumptions would cause the goodwill to exceed 115 value in use With headroom
of £46m (2009 - £84m) and assuming a 10 6% pre-tax discount rate (2009 — 11 3%), a O 3% (2009 - 0 4%) increase in the discount rate would cause

goodwill to exceed 1ts value In use

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 6%-14% (2009 - 7% 10 249%) On a post-tax basis, the discount rates ranged from

4% to 13% (2009 — 5% to 19%) These discount rates are dernved from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital as adjusted for the specific

risks relating to each gecgraphical region

In February 2010 and 2009 impairment reviews were performed by companng the carrying value of goodwill with the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating units to which goodwail has been allocated

The companents of goedwall are as follows

2010 2009

Restated

£m £m

UK 645 616
Tesco Bank 802 802
Thalland 157 153
South Karea 489 392
Japan 55 196
China 594 540
Malaysia 77 76
Poland 424 354
Czech Repubiic 35 47
Turkey 54 53
Other 5 5
3,337 3,234
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 11 Property, plant and equipment

tand and
bunldings Other® Tatal
£m £Em £m

Cost
At 28 February 2009 22,349 7,495 29,844
Farewgn currency transkation 793 234 1,027
Additions® 2,189 735 2,924
Transfers (279) 71 {208)
Classified as held for sale 2 4 &
Disposals (1,669} (141 (1,810
At 27 February 2010 23,385 8,398 31,783
Accumulated depreciation and irnpairment losses
At 28 February 2009 2,540 4152 6,692
Foreign currency translation 80 121 pio)
Charge for the year 354 737 1,091
Transfers 34 {48) (82)
Classified as held for sale (39 1 (38
Disposals {178) (83) (261)
Impairment losses 51 - 51
Reversal of impairment losses (74) ~ (74)
At 27 February 2010 2,700 4,880 7580
Met carrying value@Q @
At 27 February 2010 20,685 3,518 24,203
At 28 February 2009 19,809 3,343 23152
Capital work 1n progress incjuded above?
At 27 February 2010 1,652 193 1,845

{a) Other assets consist of plant equipment, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles
{b}Includes £155m (2009 — £152m) In respect of interest capitahsed, principally relating
taland and bullding assets The capitalisation rate used to determine the amaunt of
finance costs capitalised dunng the year was 5 1% {2009 - 5 1%) Interest capitalised
1s deducted in determining taxable profit in the year in which 1t s incurred
() Net carrying value includes
(1) Caprtalised interast at 27 Fabruary 2010 of £805m {2009 ~ £910m)
{n) Assets held under finance leases which are analysed below

2010 2009
Land and Landand
buildings Other™  buildings Cther®
£m Em £m £m
Cost 139 582 121 578
Accumnulated depreciation
and imparment losses (36) (430) (22) (390)
Net carrying value 103 152 99 188

These assets are pledged as secunty for the finance lease habilities

(@) The net carrying value of lang and buildings compnses

2010 2009

£m Em

Freehold 17,855 17,332
Long leasehold — 50 years or more N 1,450
Short leasehold — less than 50 years 1,859 1,027
Net carrying value 20,685 19,809

(e} Carrying value of land and buildings includes £3m {2009 - £4m) relating to the
prepayment of lease premiums
() Capital work in progress does not include land
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Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Land and
buildings Other® Tetal
£m £m £m

Cost
At 23 February 2008 19,210 6,340 25,550
Foreign currency transiation 434 191 625
Additionst® 3,545 1,013 4,358
Acguisitions through business combmations 586 34 620
Reclassification across categories (305) 45 (260)
Classified as held for sale (74) (8) 82)
Disposals (847} (120} (967)
At 28 February 2009 22,349 7,495 29,844
Accumulated deprecration and impairment losses
At 23 February 2008 2,280 3,483 5,763
Foreign currency transtation 55 103 158
Charge for the year 352 659 1,011
Redassification across categones ) - {3)
Classified as held for sale 18 3 15
Disposals (128) (90) {218)
Impairment losses 56 - 56
Reversal of impairment losses (88) — (88)
At 28 February 2009 2,540 4,152 6,692
Net carrying value @@
At 28 February 2009 19,809 3,343 23,152
At 23 February 2008 16,930 2,857 19,787
Capital work in progress included above!?
At 28 February 2009 1,375 159 1,534

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group has determuned that for the purposes of impairment testing, each store Is a cash-generating unit Cash-generating units are tested for
imparment if there are indications of impairment at the balance sheet date

Recoverable amounts for cash-generating units are mainly based on value in use, which 1s generally calculated from cash flow projections for five to
twenty years using data from the Group's latest internal forecasts, the results of which are reviewed by the Board The key assumpticns for the value in
use caleulations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates and expected changes In margins Management estimate discount rates using pre-tax
rates that reflect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the cash-generating units Changes in seling prices
and direct costs are based on past experience and expectations of future changes i the market

The forecasts are extrapolated beyond five years based on estimated long-term growth rates of generally 1% to 4% (2009 - 2% to 10%)

The pre-tax discount rates used to calculate value in use range from 6% to 14% {2009 — 7% to 24%) depending on the specific conditions in which each
store operates These discount rates are derived from the Group's post-tax weighted average cost of capital
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 11 Property, plant and equipment continued

The following amounts have been (charged)/credited to cost of sales in the Group Income Statement

200 2009
£m £m
Impawment losses
uK 27) (21)
Rest of Europe (18) (3N
Asia (6) 4)
(51) (36)
Reversal of impairment losses
Uk 27 21
Rest of Europe 37 50
Asia 10 17
74 88
Net reversal of impairment Josses 23 32

The impairment losses relate to stores whose recoverable amounts do not exceed the asset carrying values In all cases, impairment losses arose due to

stores performing below forecasted trading levels

The reversal of previous impairment losses arase principally due to improvernents in stores’ performances over the last year which increased the net

present value of future cash flows

Note 12 lnvestment property

2010 2009
£m £m
Cost
At beginning of year 1,660 1,190
Foreign currency transtation 172 24
Additions 16 114
Acquisitions through business combinations - 86
Transfers ™ 260
Classified as held for sale - Q0)
Disposals - ()]
At end of year 1,919 1,660
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
At beginning of year i 78
Foreign currency translation 14 3
Charge for the penod 16 25
Transfers 410 5
Impairment losses - 10
Reversal of impairment losses {3) -
At end of year 188 121
Net carrying value 1,73 1,539

The net carrying value at 23 February 2008 was £1,112m
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Note 12 Investment property continued

The following amounts have been credited/{charged) to operating costs in the Group Income Statement

2010 2009
£m £m
Impairment losses
Rest of Europe - (10}
Impairment losses - (10)
2010 2009
£Em £m
Reversal of impairment losses
Rest of Europe 3 -
Reversal of impairment tosses 3 -
Net reversal of impairment losses/{impairment charge) 3 (10}

The impairment losses relate to malts whose recoverable amounts do not exceed the asset carrying values tn all cases, imparment iosses arose due to

the malls performing below forecasted trading levels

The reversal of previous impatrment losses arose principally due to improvernents in the performance of malls over the last year, which increased the net

present value of cash flows

The estimated fair value of the Group’s investment property i1s £2 8bn (2009 — £3 2bn) This fair value has been determined by applying an appropriate

rental yield to the rentals earned by the investment property A valuation has not been performed by an independent valuer

Note 13 Group entities

Principal subsidiaries

The Group consohdates its subsidiary undertakings and its principal subsidiaries are

Business actvity

Share of issued
ordinary share capital
and voting rights

Cauntry of nzorporation
and principal country
of operation

Tesco Stores Limited Retall 100% England
One Stop Stores Limited® Retail 100% England
Tesco Ireland Limited Retail 100% Republic of Ireland
Tesco-Global Stores Privately Held Co Limited Retail 99% Hungary
Tesco Polska Sp zoo Retall 100% Poland
Tesco Stores CRas Retail 10Q% Czech Republic
Tesco StaresSRas Retal 100% Slovaksa
Tesco Kipa Kitle Paza rlama Ticaret ve Gide Sanai A § ©@ Retall 93% Turkey
Samsung Tesco Co Limited Retall 94% South Korea
Homever Tesco Co Lirnited Retall 100% South Korea
Ek-Chai Distnibution System Co Limited Retail 86% Thailand
Tesco Stores Malaysia Sdn Bhd Retail 70% Malaysia
Tesco Japan Co Limited Retail 100% Japan
Shanghal Kancheng Storage Co Limited Retait 100% People’s Republic of China
Dobbies Garden Centres PL.C Retait 100% Scotland
Fresh & Easy Neighborhood Market Inc Retail 100% USA
Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited®

(trading as Tesco Bank) Financial Services 100% Scotland
Tesco Distnbution Limited Distribution 100% Engtand
Tesco Property Holdings Limited Property 100% England
Tesco International Sourcing Limited Purchasing 100% Hong Kong
dunnhumby Limited Data Analysis 90% England
ELH Insurance Limited (formerly Tesce Insurance Limited) Self-insurance 100% Guernsey
Valiant Insurance Company Lirmited Self-msurance 100% Republic of Ireland

(a} Held by the Parent Company (all other principal subsidiaries are held by an intermediate subsidiary)

(b) The Group has 86% of voting rights and 39% of i1ssued ordinary share capital in Ek-Chai Distribubion System Co Limited

The accounting perod ends of the subsidiary undertakings consehdated in these financial statements are on craround 27 February 2010 A full hst
of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings will be annexed to the next Annual Return filed at Companies House There are no sigruficant restrictions on

the ability of subsidiary undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the Companies Act 2006
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 13 Group entities continued

Intarests in Joint ventures and associates

The Group uses the equity method of accounting for joint ventures and associates The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's

Investrment in jotnt ventures and associates

Joint ventures Associates Total

£m £m £m

At 24 February 2008 295 10 305
Foreign currency translatiart 4 - 4
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 106 4 110
Income received from joint ventures and asseciates (68) (n (69
Transferred to amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings {37) - (37)
Transferred to investment in subsidiary undertakings (251) - (251)
At 28 February 2009 49 13 62
Additions 83 - 83
Foreign currency translation 9 - g
Share of profit of joint ventures and associates 29 4 33
Income received from joint ventures and associates (34) M (35)
At 27 February 2010 136 16 152

Transferred to investment in subsidiary undertakings

Durng the year ended 28 February 2009, the Group acquired the remaining 50% of the share capital of Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited {trading
as Tesco Bank), previously a joint venture, making the company a wholly-owned subsidiary entity which has been consolidated within the Group results

from the date of acquisition onwards

Sigruficant joint ventures
The Group’s principal joint veniures are

Share of issued share
caputal loan capital and

Country of incarporatian
and principal country

Business activity debt securities of operation
Tesco Mobile Limited Telecornmunications 50% England
Shopping Centres Limited® Property Investrment 50% England
BLT Properties Limited® Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Brntish Land Property Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Red Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Agua Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Jade Lirmited Partnership Property investment 50% England
Tesco Coral Limited Partnership Praperty Investment 50% England
Tesco Blue Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
Tesco Atrato Limited Partnership Praperty Investment 50% England
Fushun Jinxit Real Estate Development Co Limited Property investment 50% Peaple's Republic of China
Anshan Real Estate Development Co Limited Property Investment 50% People's Repubhc of China
Tesco Qinhuangde Property Limuted Property Investment 50% People's Republic of China
Arena (Jersey) Management Limited Property Investment 50% Jersey
The Tesca Property Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% England
The Tesco Property (No 2) Limited Partnership Property Investment 50% Jersey

{a) Held by the Parent Campany {all ather principal subsidianes are held by an intermediate subsidiary)

The accounting period ends of the joint ventures consglidated in these financal statements range from 31 December 2009 to 28 February 2010
Accounting pencd end dates different from those of the Group anse for commercial reasons and depend upon the requirements of the joint venture

partner as well as those of the Group
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Note 13 Group entities continued

The share of the assets, habilities, reveniue and profit of the jaint ventures, which are included in the consohidated financial statements, are as follows

2010 2009
Em Em
Non-current assets 2,216 1,637
Current assets 359 281
Current habilities {411) (426)
Non-current liabiliies (2,041) {1,458)
Goodwilt 1 1
Cumulative unrecognised losses 12 14
136 49
Revenue 355 549
Expenses (326) (443)
Profit for the year 29 106
The unrecognised share of losses mace by jont ventures dunng the year ended 27 February 2010 was £3m (2009 — £7m)
Associates
The Group's principal assaciate is
Share of Issued share capital, Country of incorporation
tean capital and debt and principal country
Business acuvity securities of pperation
Greenergy International Limitedt Fuel Suppler 21% England

t Held by an intermediate subsidiary

Although the Group only holds a 21 3% non-voting shareholding in Greenergy International Limited 1t 1s treated as an assocate as the Board of
Greenergy International Limited requires the consent of the Group on certain reserve matters as specified in the company's Articles of Association

The share of the assets, hiabilities, revenue and profit of the Group's associates, which are included in the consolidated financal statements, are as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Assets 156 163
Liabilites (142) 152)
Goodwill 2 2
16 13
Revenue a73 540
Profit for the year 4 4

The accounting penad ends of the associates consolidated 1n these financial statements range from 31 December 2009 to 31 January 2010 The
accounting period end dates of the associates are different from those of the Group as they alse depend upon the requirements of the parent
companies of those entities

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of associated undertakings to transfer funds to the parent, other than those imposed by the
Compames Act 2006

Note 14 Other investments

2010 2009

£m £m

l.oan recesvable 259 259
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 604 -
863 259

The loan recervable comprises an interest-free subordinated loan made by Tesco Bank to Direct Line Group Limited This loan has no interest receivable
and no fixed repayment date

No impawrment charge was recognised on the loan during the year (2009 - £nil)

Included in availlable-for-sale financial assets is £224m, which 1s current
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 14 Other investments continued

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group’s other Investments dunng the year

2010 2009
£Em £m
At beginning of year 259 4
Addittons 603 -
Acguisitions through business combinations - 259
JAS 32 and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instrurnents’ — Fair vaiue remeasurements 1 (4}
At end of year 263 259
Nate 15 Inventories
2010 2009
£Em £m
Goods held for resale 2,726 2,656
Development properties 3 13
2,729 2,669
Note 16 Trade and other receivablaes
2010 2009
Restated
£m £Em
Prepayrnents and accrued income 337 419
Qthery recewables 1,236 1,125
Amounts owed by joint ventures and asscciates (note 30) 315 276
1,888 1,820
Included within trade and other receivables are the following amounts receivable after more than one year
2010 2009
Em £m
Prepayments and accrued income 31 14
QOther receivables 346 275
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (note 30) 309 262
686 551
Trade and other recevables are generally non-interest bearing Credit terms vary by country and the nature of the debt and can be from 7 to 60 days
Trade receivables are recorded at amortised cost, reduced by estimated allowances for doubtful debts
Provision for impairment of receivables .
m
At 23 February 2008 (29}
Foreign currency translation (2)
Charge for the year (20
Uncollectible amounts wrtten off 3
Recaveries of amounts previously written off 5
At 28 February 2009 (44
Foreign currency translation (5)
Charge for the year (3)
Uncollectible amaunts written off -
Recoveries of amounts previously written off S
At 27 February 2010 (47}
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Note 16 Trade and other receivables continued

As at 27 February 2010, trade and other recewvables of £49m (2009 ~ £45m) were past due and impatred The amount of the provision was £47m

(2009 — £44m) The ageing analysis of these receivables 15 as follows

2010 2009

£Em £m

Up to three months past due 3 3
Three to six months past due 4 3
QOver six months past due 37 39
49 45

As at 27 February 2010, trade and other receivables of £115m (2009 — £97m) were past due but notimpaired The ageing analysis of these receivables s

as follows
2010 2009
£Em £m
Up ta three months past due 97 71
Three o six months past dus 10 15
Over six manths past due 8 1"
15 97
No receivables have been renegotiated in the current or priar year
Note 17 Loans and advances to customers
Tesca Bank has loans and advances to customers
2010 2009
Em £m
Current 2,268 1,918
Non-current 1,844 1,470
4112 3,388
The maturity of these loans and advances 15 as follows
2010 2009
£m £m
Repayable on demand or at short notice 1 1
Within three manths 2,370 2,021
Greater than three months but tess than one year 70 38
Greater than one year but less than five years 1,504 1,061
After five years 481 517
4,426 3,638
Provision for impairment, of loans and advances (314) (250)
a12 3,388

Loans and advances include amounts subject to secuntisation af £1,459m {2009 — £1,468m) Durning 2009 the Group entered Into a securitisation

transaction and issued debt secunties which the Group subseguently purchased The purpose of the transaction was to allow the Group to enter into the
Special Liquidity Scheme whereby it would enter into a sale and repurchase agreement acquinng Treasury Bills issued by the UK Government and using
the debt securities as security As at 27 February 2010 the Group held £500m (2009 — £588m} in respect of this transaction The Treasury Bills do not

meet the recognitian cntena of IAS 39 and are not recognised on the Group Balance Sheet

Provision for impairment of loans and advances

£m
Acquisition through business combination* {229
Charge for the period (130)
Uncollectible amounts written off 109
Recovenes of amounts previously wnitten off (N
Unwind of discount 7
At 28 February 2009 (250)
Charge for the period (177}
Uncoliectible amounts witten off 19
Recoveries of amounts previously written off (10)
Unwind of discount 4
At 27 February 2010 {314)

* Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited (trading as Tesco Bank) was acquired an 19 December 2008
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 17 Loans and advances to customers continued

Ttantindi.

At 27 February 2010, Tesco Bank's non-interest bearing loans were £373m (2009 - £291m) Loan imparment prowisiens of £314m (2009 - £250m) were
held against these loans Dunng the year ended 27 February 2010, the gross income not recognised but which would have been recognised under the

onginal terrs of non-interest bearing loans was £29m (2009 ~ £25m)

At 27 February 2010, toans and advances to customers of £75m (2009 — £82m) were past due but not impaired The ageing analysis of these loans and

advances 15 as fallows

2010 2009
£Em £m
Up to one month past due 55 58
One to three months past due 13 15
QOver three months past due 7 9
75 82
MNote 18 Loans and advancas to banks and other financial assets
Tesco Bank has loans and advances to banks and other financial assets with the following maturnty
2010 2009
Restated
£m £m
Within three raonths 144 1,509
Greater than three months but less than one year - 3
Greater than one year but less than five years - 29
144 1,541
There are no toans and advances to banks and other financial assets which are past due and impaired
Note 19 Cash and cash equivalents
2010 2009
£m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 2,062 2,112
Short-term deposits 757 1,397
2,819 3,509
Cash of £1,314m (2009 — £1,233m) held on money market funds 1s classed as short-term investments
Note 20 Trade and other payables
2010 2609
Restated
£m Em
Trade payables 5,084 4,748
Qther taxation and sacal security 487 334
Other payables 2,014 2,054
Amounts payable to joint ventures and associates (note 30) 42 162
Accruals and deferred income 1,815 1,367
9,442 8,665

{ncluded in other payables are amounts of £160m (2009 — £68m) which are non-current

The impact of adopting IFRIC 13 on the 2009 opening balance sheetwas to increase other payables by £38m and accruals and deferred income by £2m

Overall trade and other payables increased to £7,359m
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Note 21 Borrowings

Current

2010 2009
Maturity Restated
Par value year £m £m
Bank loans and overdrafts - - 575 3,014
Lean from Joint ventures (note 30) - - 23 20
5125% MTN £192m 2009 - 198
6625% MTN £150m 2010 158 -
475% MTN €750m 2010 704 -
Other MTNs - - 24 192
Finance leases (note 35) - - 45 q7
1,529 3,471

Non-current
Matunty 2010 2009
Par value year £m £m
Finance leases (note 35) - - 164 196
6 625% MTN £150m 2010 - 154
475% MTN €750m 2010 - 689
3 875% MTN €500m 2011 479 476
5 625% MTN £1,500m 2012 1,375 1,362
LIBOR +1 33% Bond - Tesco Bank £225m 2012 224 225
5% MTN £600m 2014 604 592
5125% MTN €600m 2015 539 522
4% RPI MTN® £263m 2016 270 268
5 875% MTN €1,500m 2016 1,520 1,488
5 5% USD Bond $850m 2017 621 678
55%MTN £350m 2019 351 kL1
6 125% MTN £900m 2022 890 901
5% MTN £515m 2023 520 515
3322% LPI MTN®! £265m 2025 269 267
6% MTN £200m 2029 212 216
5 5% MTN £200m 2033 210 216
1982% RPI MTN® £22%m 2036 222 221
615% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 834 977
5% MTN £300m 2042 306 306
$125% MTN €600m 2047 587 628
5 2% MTIN £500m 2057 500 500
Other MTNs - - 267 285
Other lpans - - 780 358
11,744 12,30

(a) The 4% RPI MTN 15 redeemnable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index (RPI) over the hifa of the MTN

{b) The 3 322% LPI MTN s redeemabile at par, indexed for increases in the RPl over the hfe of the MTN The maximum indexation of the principat in any one year 1s 3% with a minimum of 0%

{c) The 1982% RPI MTN is redeemnable at par, iIndexed far increases in the RPI over the ife of the MTN

Borrowing facihities

The Group has the following undrawn committed faciliiies available at 27 February 2010, in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met as at

that date
2010 2009
£m £m
Expinng within one year - 100
Expiring between one and two years 1,000 -
Expinng in more than two years 1,600 2,600
2,600 2,700

All facihties incur commitment fees at market rates and would provide funding at floating rates
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 22 Financialinstruments

Denvatives are used to hedge exposure to market nsks and those that are held as hedging instruments are formally designated as hedges as defined in
IAS 39 Dervatives may qualify as hedges for accounting purposes and the Group's hedging pohices are further desenbed below

Finance income of £20m (2009 - finance costs of £30m) resulted from hedge ineffectiveness

Fair value hedges

The Group matntains interest rate and cross-currency swap contracts as far value hedges of the interest rate and currency nsk on fixed rate debt issued
by the Group Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and quailify as fair value hedges are recorded In the Group Income Statement,
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or hability that are attnbutable to the hedged risk The gain or loss on the hedging
nstrurment and hedged item 15 recognised in the Group Income Statement within finance tncome or costs If the hedge no fonger meets the critena for
hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying value of the hedged item 1s amortised to the Group Income Statement under the effective nterest
rate method

Aloss of £65m an hedging instruments was recogmised during the year, offset by a gain of £85m on hedged iterns {2009 - a gain of £1,197m on hedging
instruments was offset by a loss of £1,227m on hedged items)

Cash flow hedges

The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to hedge the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the purchasing company Where these contracts qualfy for hedge accounting, mark-to-market gains
and losses are deferred in equity

The hedging mstruments are primarily used to hedge purchases in Euros and US Dollars The cash flows hedged will occur and witl affect the Group
Income Statement within one year of the balance sheet date

When a hedging instrument expires or s sald, or when a hedge no longer meets the cntena for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss extsting
in equity at that time remains in equity and 1s recognised when the ferecast transaction 15 recognised in the Group Income Statement When a
forecast transaction 1s no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity 18 immediately transferred to the Group
Income Statement

Net investment hedges
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts, currency denominated borrowings and currency swaps to hedge the exposure of a propartion of its
non-Sterling denominated assets agatnst changes in value due to changes in foreign exchange rates

The Group has a South Karean Won denominated hability relating to the future purchase of the minority shareholding of its subsidiary, Samsung Tesco
Co Limited Thus ltability has been designated as a netinvestment hedge of a proportion of the assets of Samsung Tesco Co Limited

Gains and losses accumnulated in equity are included in the Group Income Statement on disposal of the overseas operation
Financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting
The Group's policy 15 not to use dervatives for trading purposes, hawever, some denvatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, or are specifically not

designated as a hedge where gans and losses on the hedging instrument and the hedged item offset In the Group Income Statement

These instruments Include caps, interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts Changes in the fair value of any dervative instruments that
do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immed ately in the Group Income Statement within finance income or costs

The Group has a hability relating to the future purchase of the minonty shareholding of its subsidiary, dunnhumby Lirmited Changes in the value of the
liabity are recognised immedsately in the Group income Statement within finance incame or costs

The fair value of denivative financial instruments have been disclosed in the Group Balance Sheet as follows

010 2009

Agsat Liabality Asser Liabihty

£m £m £m Em
Current 224 {146) 382 (525)
Non-current 1,250 (776) 1,478 (302}
1,474 {922) 1,860 (827)
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Note 22 Financial instruments contmued

The fair value and notianal amounts of derivatives analysed by hedge type are as follows

2010 2009
Assat Liabiity Assat Liabiity
Fair valus Netional Farr valus Notional Fair value Notianal Fair value Notional
£m £m £Em £m £m £m £m Em
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps and simidar instruments 10 (1.1 (88) 2,304 6 307 (67) 2123
Cross currency swaps 1,130 4,513 (45) 259 1,219 3,957 (39 825
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - - €40) 555 - 100 (66) 400
Cross currency swaps 129 315 (205) 1,064 227 357 N 171
Farward foreign currency centracts 19 483 (15) 600 101 1,762 {24) 348
Net investment hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts 19 244 arn) 1,037 92 2,623 (194} 2,767
Cross currency swaps - - (30) 124 - - - -
Future purchases of minority interests - - (105) - - - {167} -
Dervatives not in a formal hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 140 1,140 {114) 1,350 1 774 (35) 3,740
Cross currency swaps 2 204 (25) 533 25 an (47) 639
Farward foreign currency contracts 25 635 (42) 1,254 189 2,784 (154) 2,767
Future purchases of minorty interests - - 41) - - - (33) -
Total 1,474 8,219 (922) 9,080 1,860 13,075 (827) 13,780
The carrying value and farr value of financial assets and habilities are as follows
2010 2009
Carrylng Far Carrying Fair
value value value value
Restated Restated
£m £m Em £m
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,819 2,819 3,509 3,509
Loans and advances to customers — Tesco Bank 4,112 4,325 3,388 3,388
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets — Tesco Bank 144 144 1,541 1,541
Short-term investiments 1,314 1,314 1,233 1,233
Other nvestments — Tesco Bank 863 848 259 259
Joint venture loan receivables (note 30) 309 309 262 262
Denvatve financial assets
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments 150 150 7 7
Crass currency swaps 1,261 1,261 1,471 1,471
Forward foreign currency contracts 63 63 382 382
Total financial assets 11,035 11,233 12,052 12,052
Liabilities
Shart-term barrawings
Amortised cost (77) (770) (3,191} (3,190
Bonds in fair value hedge relationships (7113) (683) (233) {223)
Long-term borrowings
Amortised cost {5,513) (5,617} {5,248) (5,028)
Bonds n fair value hedge relationships (6,067) (5,992) {6,947) (6,147)
Finance leases (Group as lessee — note 35) (209) (209} (243) (243)
Customer deposits — Tesco Bank (4,357) (4,357) (4,538) {4,538)
Deposits by banks — Tesco Bank (30) (30} (24) (24)
Denvatve and other financtal liabilitres
Interest rate swaps and sirmilar instruments (242) (242) (168) (168)
Cross currency swaps (305) (305) (87) (8N
Forward foreign currency contracts (229) (229) (372) (372)
Future purchases of minonty interests (146) (146) (200} (200}
Total financial habihties (18,582) (18,580) (21,251 (20,2200
Total (7,547) (7,347) (9,199) {8,168)
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued
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Note 22 Financial instruments continued

The fair values of financial iInstruments have been determined by reference to prices available from the markets onwhich the instruments are traded
The fair value of all other items have been calculated by discounung expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates The above table excludes
other receivables/payables, which have fair values equal to ther carrying values

Financial assets and liabilities by category
The accounting classifications of each class of financial assets and habitities as at 27 February 2010 and 28 February 2009 are as follows

Laans and
recevables! Fairvalue
Avallable  other financial through
for-sale labiities profit or loss Total
At 27 February 2010 £Em Em Em £m
Cash and cash equivalents - 2,819 - 2,819
Loans and advances to customers -~ Tesco Bank - 4112 - 4112
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets - Tesco Bank - 144 - 144
Short-term investments - 1,314 - 1,314
Qther investments — Tesco Bank 604 259 - 863
Joint venture loan recevables (note 30) - 309 - 309
Customer deposits - Tesco Bank - (4,357) - 4,357)
Deposits by banks ~ Tesco Bank - (30) - (30}
Short-term berrowings - (1,484 - (1,484)
Long-term borrowings - (11,580) - {11,580}
Finance leases (Group as lessee — note 35) - (209) - (209}
Dervative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps and simifar instrurments - - (92} (92}
Cross currency swaps - - 956 956
Forward foretgn currency contracts - - (166} {166)
Future purchases of minanty interests - - (146) (146)
604 (8,703) 552 (7,547}
Loans and
receivables! Fair value
other financial through
labihties prafit orloss Total
Reslated Restated Restated
At 2B February 2009 £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 3,509 - 3,509
Loans and advances to customers — Tesco Bank 3,388 - 3,388
Loans and advances to banks and other financial assets — Tesce Bank 1,541 - 1,541
Short-term investments 1,233 - 1,233
QOther investments - Tesco Bank 259 - 259
Joint venture loan recevables {note 30) 262 - 262
Customer deposits — Tesco Bank (4,538) - {4,538)
Deposits by banks — Tesco Bank (24) - (24)
Short-term borrowings (3,424) - {3,424)
Long-term borrowings (12,195) - {12,195)
Finance leases (Group as lessee — note 35) (243) - (243)
Dernivative financial instruments
interest rate swaps and similar instruments - (161) (161)
Cross currency swaps - 1,384 1,384
Forward foreign currency contracts . - 10 10
Future purchases of mtnority interests - (200) {2000
{10,232) 1,033 (9,199)

Fair value measurement
Effective from 1 March 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the Group Balance Sheet at
fair value This requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy

* quoted pnices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or habilities (Level 1),

* inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are cbservable for the asset or hability, esther directly (that 15, as prices) or indirectly (that
15, derived from prices) (Level 2}, and

* inputs for the asset or habihty that are not based on observable market data (that 1s, unobservable inputs) (Level 3)
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Note 22 Financial instruments continued

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and liabiities that are measured at fair value at 27 February 2010

Lavel 1 Level 2 Level3 Total
Em Em £fm £m
Assets
Avallable-for-sale financial assets - 604 - 604
Dervative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps and similar instruments - 150 - 15¢
Cross currency swaps - 1,261 - 1,261
Forward foreign currency contracts - 63 - 63
Total assets - 2,078 - 2,078
Liabilities
Denvative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps and similarinstruments - (242) - (242)
Cross currency swaps - {305) - (305)
Forward foreign currency contracts - (229) - (229)
Future purchases of minonty interests - - (146) (146)
Total habilities - (776) (146) 922)
Total ~ 1,302 {146) (1,156)
The following table presents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the year ending 27 February 2010
£m
Openimg balance (200)
Losses recognised in finance costs in the Group Income Statement (26)
Losses recognised in reserves (D]
Cash flow 91
Closing balance (146)

Nate 23 Financial nsk factors

The main financial nsks faced by the Group relate to fluctuations tn interest and fareign exchange rates, the nsk of default by counterparties ta financial
transactions, and the availability of funds to meet business needs These nisks are managed as described below The Group Balance Sheet position at

27 February 2010 1s representative of the position throughout the year

Risk management Is carried out by a central treasury department under policies approved by the Board of Directors The Board provides written

principles for risk management, as described in the Business Review on pages 41 to 44

Interest rate nisk

Interest rate risk anses from long-term borrowings Debtissued at variable rates expases the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk Debt 1ssued at fixed

rates exposes the Group to farr vaiue sk Ourinterest rate management pohcy 1s explained on page 44

The Group has RPI debt where the prncipal 1s indexed to increases in the RPlindex RPi debt s treated as floating rate debt The Group alsa has LPI

debt, where the principal 1s indexed to RPI, with an annual maximum increase of 5% and a minimurm of 0% LP|debt s treated as fixed rate debt

For interest rate risk relating to Tesco Bank please refer to the separate section on Tesco Bank financial nsk factars
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 23 Financial nisk factors continued

During 2010 and 2009, net debt was managed using denvative instruments to hedge interest rate nsk as follows

2010 2009
Fixed Floatmg Total Fixed Floaung Total
Restated Restated Restated
Em £m £m £m £m fm
Cash and cash equivalents - 2,819 2,819 - 3,509 3,509
Loans and advances to customers — Tesco Bank 1,827 2,285 4112 3,388 - 3,388
Loans and advances to banks and cther financal assets — Tesco Bank 144 - 144 - 1,541 1,541
Short-term investments - 1,314 1,314 - 1,233 1,233
QOther investments — Tesco Bank 531 282 863 259 - 259
Joint venture loan recewvables - 309 309 - 262 262
Finance leases (83) (126) {209) (84) {159) (243)
Bank and other barrowings (11,806) (1,258) (13,064) (11,540 (4,079 (15,619
Custamer deposits - Tesco Bank - (4,357) (4,357) - {4,538) (4,538)
Deposits by banks — Tesco Bank (30) - (30) - (24) (24)
Future purchases of minority interests {146) - (146) (200) - {200)
Dervative effect
Interest rate swaps {2,215) 2,215 - (415) 415 -
Cross currancy swaps 6,677 (6,677) - 4,524 (4,524) -
Caps and collars 120 (120) - 774 (774) -
Total (4,931) (3,314) (8,245} {3,294) (7,138 {10,432)
Credit nisk

Credit risk anses from cash and cash equivalents, trade and other recewables, customer deposits, financial instruments and deposits with banks and
financial snstitutions The Group policy on credtt risk 18 descnibed on page 44

The counterparty exposure under derivative contracts 1s £1,474m (2009 -~ £1,860m) The Group policy 1s to transact derivatives only with counterparties
rated at least A1 by Moody's

The Group considers its maximum credit risk to be £11 0bn (2009 — £12 1bn), being the Group's total financial assets

For credit nsk refating to Tesco Bank please refer ta the separate section on Tesco Bank financiai nsk factors on page 109

Liquidity risk

Liguicity rnisk 1s managed by short-term and long-term cash flow farecasts In addition, the Group has committed facility agreements for £2 6bn
(2009 - £2 7bm), which mature between 2011 and 2014

The Group has a European Medium Term Note programme of £15 CGbn, of which £10 6bn was in 1ssue at 27 February 2010 {2009 - £11 0bn), plus
a Euro Commercial Paper programme of £2 Obn, none of which was in ssue at 27 February 2010 (2009 — £1 6bn), and a US Cammercial Paper

programme of $4 0bn, none of which was in1ssue at 27 February 2010 (2009 - £nil)

For kquidity nisk relating to Tesco Bank please refer to the separate section on Tesca Bank financial nsk factors on page 109
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Note 23 Fimancial risk factors continued

The following 1s an analysis of the undiscounted contractual cash flows payable under financial labitities and denvatives The potential cash outflow of
£15 6bn s considered acceptable as it 1s offset by financial assets and trade receivables of £12 9bn (2009 — £16 9bn offset by financial assets and trade

recevables of £13 9bn)

The undiscounted cash flows will differ from bath the carrying values and far value Floating rate interest s estimated wsing the prevaling rate at the

balance sheet date Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated using spot rates at the balance sheet date Forindex-hnked liabilities, inflation is

estimated at 3% for the life of the habity

Due Due Due Due
Dus batwesn between betwaen betwesn Due
within land2 2and3 Jand4 4and$s beyond
1 year years years years years 5 yaars
At 27 February 2010 £m £m Em Em £Em £m
Non-derivative financial habilities
Bank and other borrowings {1,484) {1,073) (1,615) (845) (637) (7,267)
Interest payments on barrowtngs {554) {518) 491) (405) 370) (4,605)
Custamer depasits — Tesca Bank €4,357) - - - - -
Deposits by banks — Tesco Bank (30) - - - - -
Finance leases (49) (47) (33) (11) (10) (178}
Trade and other payables (9,282) (56) (26) {4) (7) (67)
Dervative and other financial habihities
Net settled denvative contracts — receipts " 50 50 48 21 19
Net settled derivative contracts — payments (164) (119) (59) (35) (56) (695)
Gross settled dernvative contracts — receipts 1,966 1,747 757 867 759 5,273
Gross settled denvative coniracts — payments €1,703) €1,362) (689) (B866) {653) (3,792)
Future purchases of minonty interests - (131) {15) - - -
Total {15,586) (1,514) (2,131) {1,251) (953) (1,312)
Due Cue Due Due
Due between between between between Due
within 1and2 Z2and3 Jand4 dand5 beyond
1year years years years yeals Syears
At 28 February 2009 (restated) £m £m £m £m £m £m
Non-denvative financial habihties
Bank and ather borrowtngs (3,028) 971 (873) {1,931} (225) (7,943)
Interest payments on barrowings (560} (549) (514) (486) 411y {5,045)
Custamer depasits — Tesco Bank (4,538) - - - - -
Deposits by banks — Tesco Bank (24} - - - - -
Finance leases (55} (51) (48) 32) (9 (172)
Trade and other payables (8,522} (34) (5) (2} (4) (23)
Dernwvative and other financial habilities
Net settled denvative contracts — recaipts 104 17 9 5 4 1
Net settled denvative contracts — payments (245) (30) {19) (23) (13 (112)
Gross settled derivative contracts — receipts 4,657 1,186 1,247 404 708 5,707
Gross settled derivative contracts — payments 4,57 (957) (1,053) (313} {671) (4,652)
Future purchases of minority interests {93) - 87 (20 - -
Total (16,881) (1,389) (1,343) (2,398) (621) 12,239)

Foraign exchange risk

The Group 15 exposed ta foreign exchange risk principally via

» Transactional exposure, from the cost of future purchases of goods for resale, where those purchases are denaminated in a currency other than the

functional currency of the purchasing company Transactional expasures that could significantly impact the Group Income Statement are hedged

These exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges The notional and fair value of these

contracts 15 shown in note 22

» Net investment exposure, from the value of net investments outside the UX The Group hedges a proportion of its investments in its nternational
subsidiaries wia foreign currency transactions and borrowings in matching currencies, which are formally designated as net tnvestment hedges

» Loans to non-UK subsidiaries These are hedged via foreign currency transactions and berrowtngs in matching currencies, which are not formally
designated as hedges, as gains and losses on hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 23 Financial risk factors continued

The impact on Group financial statements from foresgn currency volatility 1s shown in the sensitivity analysis below

Sensitivity analysis

The analysis excludes the impact of movements in market vanables on the carrying value of pension and other post-employment obhgations and on
the retranslation of overseas net assets as required by IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’ However, it does include the foreign
exchange sensitivity resulting from all local entity non-functional currency financial instruments

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared on the basis that the amaunt of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest rates of the debt and dervatives
portfolie, and the preportion of financial iInstruments in foreign currencies are all constant and on the basis of the hedge designations in place at
27 February 2010

It should be noted that the sensitwity analysis reflects the impact onincome and equity due to all financial instruments held at the balance sheet date
It does not reflect any change In sales or costs that may result from changing interest or exchange rates
The following assumptions were made in calculating the sensitivity analysis

+ the sensitivity of interest payable to movements in interest rates 15 calculated on net floating rate debt, deposits and denvative instruments with no
sensitivity assumed for RPI-linked debt,

« changes n the carrying value of derwative financial instruments designated as fair value hedges from movements in interest rates or foreign exchange
rates have an immatenal effect on the Group Income Statement and equity due to compensating adjustments in the carrying value of debt,

= changes in the carrying value of dervative finanaial instruments designated as net investrment hedges from movements in foreign exchange rates are
recorded directly in equity,

* ¢hanges in the carrying value of derivative financial iInstruments not designated as hedging instruments only affect the Group Income Statement,

+ ail other changes in the carrying value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are fully effective with no impact on the
Group Income Statemnent,

* debt with a matunity below one year is floating rate for the interest payable part of the calculation, and
* the floating leg of any swap or any floating rate debt is treated as not having any interest rate already set, therefore a change in interest rates affects
a full 12-month penod for the interest payable portion of the sensitvity calculations

Using the above assumptions, the following tabte shows the illustrative effect on the Group Income Statement and equity that would result from
changes in UK interest rates, and in exchange rates

2010 2009
Incoma Equity tncome Equity
qain/tloss} gaini{loss) gamni(loss) gani(loss)
£m (] £m £m
1% increase in GBP interest rates (2009 ~ 1%) {38) - (59 -
15% appreciation of the Euro (2009 - 25%) (13) €43) {22) (22)
10% appreciation of the South Korean Won (2009 — 20%) - (82) (O] (222)
25% appreciation of the US Dollar {2009 - 25%) (4)] (8) (1) 218
25% appreciation of the Thai Baht {2009 - 25%) - [4)] - )
10% appreciation of the Czech Koruna (2009 - 25%) - 1) - {204)
5% appreciation of the Polish Zloty (2009 - 15%) - - i4 -

A decrease In interest rates and a depreaiation of foreign currencies would have the opposite effect to the impact in the table above

The impact on equity from changing exchange rates results principally from foregn currency deals used as net investment hedges The impact on equity
will largely be offset by the revatuation in equity of the hedged assets For changes in the USD/GBP exchange rate, the impact on equity results
principally from forward purchases of US Dollars as cash flow hedges

Capital nsk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital (defined as net debt plus equity) are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provtde returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, while maintaining a strong credit rating and headroorn whilst optirmising
return to shareholders through an appropnate bafance of debt and equity funding The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
ta 1t, i hght of changes to economic conditions and the strategic objectives of the Group

To maintarn or adjust the capual structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, buy back shares and cancel them or ssue new
shares In April 20086, the Group outlined its plan to release cash fraom its property assets, via a sequence of property joint ventures and other transactions,
and return significant value to shareholders, either through enhanced dividends or share buy-backs The target for the value of share buy-backs was
increased fram £1 5bn to £3 Obn over a five-year penod from April 2007 Whilst the Group continued with the policy at the beginning of 2009, 1t
subsequently used the proceeds fram property divestment to pay down debt, following the two major acquisitions in 2009 {(Homever and Tesco Bank)
During 2009 the Group purchased and cancelled £100m ordinary shares In the financial year 2010 the Group continued to use the proceeds from the
sale of property to pay down debt, which it expects to continue in 2011

The policy for debt1s to ensure a smooth debt matunity profile wath the objective of ensuring continuity of funding This policy continued during the

current year with bonds redeemed of £390m (2009 — £524m) and new bonds 1ssued totalling £nil (2009 - £4,901m) The Group borrows centrally and
locally, using a variety of capital market issues and barrowing facilities to meet the requirements of each local business
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Note 23 Financial nisk factors continued

Tesco Bank

Interest rate risk

Interest rate nsk arises where assets and habihties in Tesco Bank’s banking activities have different repncing dates Tesco Bank policy seeks to minimise
the sensitivity of net Interest income ta changes in interest rates Potential exposures to interest rate movernents in the medium to long term are
measured and controlled through position and sensitivity hmits Short-term exposures are measured and controlled in terms of net Interest Income
sensttivity over 12 months to a 1% parallel movement in interest rates Tesco Bank also use value at nsk (VaR) for risk management purposes with a
ume horizon of ore trading day and a confidence interval of 35% Interest rate risk 1s managed using interest rate swaps as the main hedging instrument

Creditrisk

Cradit nisk s the probabiity of customers and counterparties failing to meet their obligations to Tesco Bank and arises principally from Tesco Bank's
lending activities but also from other transactions involving on and off-balance sheet instruments Limits have been established for all counterparties
based on their respective credit ratings The imits and proposed counterparties are reviewed and approved by the Risk Management Committee (RMC)
of Tesco Bank

Internal reporting and oversight of risk assets 1s principally differentiated by credit ratings Internal ratings are used to assess the credit quality of
borrowers Custamers are assigned credit ratings, based on various credit grading models that reflect the probabiiity of default

Liquidity nsk

Liquidizy sk 1s managed on a consohdated basis within Tesce Bank's barnking activities and adheres to the hquidity requirements set by the Financal
Services Authonty (FSA) from time to time To meet regulatory requirements a diversified portfolio of high guality iquid and marketable assets Is
mamtained Cash flow commitments and marketable asset holdings are measured and managed on a daily basis Tesco Bank has credit facilities sufficient
to meet all fereseeable cutflow requirements as they fall due and its hquidity sk 1s further mittgated by its well diversified retail deposit base

Expressed as an annual probability of default, the upper and lower boundanes and the mtdpoint for each of the asset quality grades are as follows

At 27 February 2010 and 28 February 2009
Annual probability of default

Minimum Midpoint Maximum S&P
Asset quahty grade % Y% % equivalent
AN 000 010 020 AAAtoBBB-
AQ2 on 040 060 BB+toBB
AQ3 061 105 150 B8B-toB+
AQ4 151 325 500 B+toB
AQ5 501 5250 10000 B and below
Accruing Non- imparment
An AQ2 AQ3 AQ4 AQS pastdue accrual provision Total
At 27 February 2010 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Other investments 863 - - - - - - - 863
Loans and advances to custamers 501 381 762 1,495 838 76 373 (314) 4112
Loans and advances to banks
and ather financial assets 144 - - - - - - - 144
Total assets 1,508 381 762 1,495 838 76 373 (314) 5,119
Commitments (note 33) 3,926 1,329 573 452 184 - - - 6,464
Total off balance sheet 3,926 1,329 573 452 184 ~ - - 6,464
Accruing Non- Imparment
AQ1 AG2 AQ3 AQ4 AQS past due accrual pravision Total
At 28 February 2009 (restated) £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Other investments 259 - - - - - - - 259
Loans and advances 1o customers 352 652 828 870 563 82 291 (250) 3,388
Loans and advances to banks
and other financial assets 1,541 - - - - - - - 1,541
Total assets 2,152 652 828 870 563 82 291 (250) 5,188
Cammitments (note 33) 3,103 1,451 744 305 129 - - - 5,732
Total off balance sheet 3,103 1,451 744 305 129 - - - 5,732

Tesco PLC Annual Repert and Financal Statements 2010 109

SIUIWBINLS |RjIURLI

T

[RPRree: Y




Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 23 Financial risk factors continued

insurance nsk
Tesco Bank 15 exposed to insurance sk indirectly through its profit sharnng commussion arrangement with The Royal Bank of Scotland Group PLC
Insurance risk 15 the nsk of fluctuations in the tming, frequency or seventy of insured events, relatwe to the expectations at the bme of underwriting

The frequency and seventy of clatrms and the sources of uncertainty for the key classes that Tesco Bank is exposed to are as follows

Motor insurance

Clasms expernence Is quite vanable, due to a wide range of factors, but the principal ones are age, gender and driving expenence, type and nature
of vehicle, use of vehicle and area There are many sources of uncertainty that will affect Tesco Bank's expenence under mator insurance including
operational nsk, reserving risk, premium rates not matching claims inflation rates, the weather, the soaal, economic and legislative environment
and reinsurance falure risk

Property Insurance

The mayor causes of claims for property insurance are theft, flood, escape of water, fire, storm, subsidence and vanous types of accidental damage
The major source of uncertainty is the volatihity of weather

Note 24 Customer deposits

2010 2009
£m £m
Customer deposits 4,357 4,538
Customer deposits are recorded at amortised cost and are repayable on dermand
Note 25 Deposits by banks
The Group has deposits by banks with the following matunty
o0 2009
£m Em
Within three months 30 24
Deposits by banks are recorded at amortised cost
Note 26 Provisions
Property Other
Provisians provisian Total
£m £m £m
At 23 February 2008 27 - 27
Foreign currency translation 3 - 3
Acquisitions through business combinations (restated) 93 99 192
Amount utihsed in the year 12} - (12)
At 28 February 2009 (restated) 1M 99 210
Foresgn currency translation 12 - 12
Amount provided in the year - 1 t
Amount utiised In the year (12) - {12)
At 27 February 2010 1M 100 211

Property provisions compnse future rents payable net of rents recensable on onerous and vacant property leases, provisions for termenal dilapidations and
provisions for future rents above market value on unprofitable stares The majonity of the provision 1s expected to be utlised over the period to 2020

The other provision balance relates to a prowvision for customer redress in respect of potential customer complaints This is hkely to be utised over several years

The balances are analysed as follows

2010 2009

Restated

£Em Em

Current 39 10
Non-current 172 200
21 210
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Nate 27 Share-based payments

The total Group Income Statement charge for the year recogmised in respect of share-based payments 1s £300m (2009 restated — £246m), which 15 made
up of share option schemes and share bonus payments OF this amount £241m (2009 restated - £208m) will be equity-settled and £59m (2009 — £38m)
cash-settled

a) Share option schemes
The Company had nine share option schemes in operation during the year, all of which are equity-settled schemes

1} The Sawvings-related Share Option Scheme (1981) permits the grant to employees of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to a building
soctety/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from employees of an amount between £5 and £250
per four-weekly period Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three- or five-year period at a subscaiption price not less than
80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date

n)  The Insh Savings-related Share Option Scherne (2000) permits the grant to Insh employees of options in respect of ardinary shares nked to a
building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contnbutions from employees of an amount between €12
and €320 per four-weekly period Opuions are capable of being exercised at the end of the three- or five-year penod at a subscription price not less
than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date

ny  The Approved Executive Share Option Scheme (1994) was adopted on 17 October 1994 The exercise of options granted under this scheme will
normally be conditrtonal upon the achievernent of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year
period No further options will be granted under this scheme and it has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004) There were
no discounted options granted under this scheme

w}  The Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme (1996) was adopted on 7 June 1996 The exercise of options granted under this scheme will
normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earnings per share over a three-year
period No further options will be granted under this scheme and 1t has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Optron Plan (2004} There were
no discounted options granted under this scheme

v}  The International Executive Share Option Scheme (1994} was adopted on 20 May 1994 This scheme permits the grant to selected non-UK
executives of options to acquire ordinary shares on substantially the same basis as their UK counterparts The exeraise of opuons granted under this
scherme will normally be conditional on the achievement of a specified performance target related to the growth in earmings per share over a three-
year period No further eptions will be granted under this scheme and 1t has been replaced by the Discretionary Share Option Pian (2004) There
were no discounted options granted under this scheme

v} The Executive Incentive Plan {2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to selected
executives (ptions are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant for nil consideration

vi) The Performance Share Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 and amended an 29 June 2007 This scheme permits the grant of options in
respect of ordinary shares to selected executives Options granted before 29 June 2007 are normally exercisable between four and ten years from
the date of grant for nil consideration Options granted after 29 June 2007 are normally exeraisable between three and ten years from the date of
grant for nil constderation The exercise of options will normally be conditional an the achievernent of specified performance targets related to the
return on capital employed over a three-year perod

vin) The Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004) was adopted on 5 July 2004 This scherne permits the grant of approved, unapproved and international
options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant at
a price not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-market quotations of an ardinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days
preceding the date of grant The exercise of optians will normally be conditional on the achievement of a specified performance target related to the
annual percentage growth in earnings per share over a three-year period There will be ro discaunted options granted under this scheme

ix}  The Group New Business incentive Plan (2007) was adopted on 29 June 2007 This scheme permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary
shares to selected executives Options will narmally vest in four tranches four, five, six and seven years after the date of grant and will be exercisable
for up to two years from the vesting dates for nil consideration The exercise of options will normally be conditional an the achievemnent of specified
performance targets related to the return on capital employed over the seven-year plan

The fallowing tables reconcile the number of share options eutstanding and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP)

For the year ended 27 February 2010

Savings related Insh savings related Approved Unapproved Internatianal executive Nil cost
share optian scheme share option scheme share option scheme share optian scheme share option scheme share options
Qptions WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Optiens WAEP Cptions. WAEP Options WAEP
Qutstanding at
28 February
2009 142,810,097 30621 5418903 31567 15,868,920 35056 81,299,884 33997 43,898,205 366 61 14,323,708 000
Granted 38,117,516 32800 1,752,363 32800 2,844,857 33840 26,542,534 33842 19097981 33882 3,093,147 000
Forfeited (9476,452) 31543 (873,617) 31496 (581,769) 40975 (3,213,394) 40929 (2,147,644) 403 74(2,299,256) 000
Exercised (33,216,641) 25720 (842,581) 27060 (3,581,117) 28654 (18,721,402) 27316 (5,967,794} 29166 (5,932,144) 000
Qutstanding at
27 February
2010 138,234,520 32337 5,455,068 32670 14,550,891 36157 85,907,622 35146 54,880,748 36364 9,185,455 000
Exercisable as at
27 February
2010 6,287,764 26610 369,370 28275 5,868,560 28229 32,430,807 28029 15,277,598 28905 - -
Exercise price 19500 to 19500 to 19750to 19750 to 19750 t0
range (pence) 30700 30700 38875 415 50 318 60 -
Weighted average
remaining
contractual
Iife (years) 018 015 426 453 475 -
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 27 Share-based payments continued

For the year ended 28 February 2009

Savings-related Insh savings related Approved Unapproved Internattonal executive Nil cost
share option scheme share option scheme share option scheme share optign scheme share option scheme share options
Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Options WAEP Opuons WAEP Opuons WAEP
Qutstanding at
23 February
2008 153,361,820 28140 5,083,009 30071 16,229,846 32445 77,043,605 30700 36970259 33322 10,838,238 00D
Granted 38,531,375 31100 1,642,089 31100 3,308,213 42679 18,297,370 42682 13,664,591 42288 73,591,855 000
Forferted (10,351962) 29964 (485,512) 29384 (901,163) 38434 (2,768,871) 38851 (3,268,614) 32765 - -
Exercised (38,731136) 21448 (820,683) 22680 {(2,767876) 27755 (11,272,220) 24372 (3,468,031) 26907 (106,385) 000
Outstanding at
28 February
2009 142,810,097 30621 5418903 31567 15,868,920 35056 81,299,884 33997 43,898,205 36661 14,323,708 000
Exercisable as at
28 February
2009 6,553,484 22072 398,093 23361 5574827 25954 36,205,357 26009 12340929 26872 2,048,225 000
Exercise price 15900 to 15900 to0 19750 to 16400 to 176 70 10
range (pence) 24800 248 00 31350 313 50 3275 000
Weighted average
remaining
contractual
life {years) 018 015 399 463 476 583

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the year The average share price during the year ended 27 February 2010 was 380 05p
{2009 - 372 06p)

The farr value of share options 1s estimated at the date of grant using the Black-5choles option pricing model The following table gives the assumptions
appled to the options granted in the respective perntods shown No assumption has been made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise

2010 2009
Savings- Sawnngs

ralatad Executive related Executive
shars share Nil cost share shara Nil cast
option aphion optian aptian option cption
h h h schemes schemes schemes
Expected dvidend yield {%) 3.6% 3.6-3.9% 0.0% 33% 3 3% 00%
Expected volatiity (%} 26-31% 25% 25% 25-30% 25% 25%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2,0-2.8% 2.8-3.3% 2.9% 3238% 32-49% 46-49%
Expected life of option (years) 3or5 6 6 3or5s B [
Weighted average fair value of options granted (pence) B6 74 64.24 374.00 8928 9390 418 09
Probabilty of forferture (%) 14-16% 10% 0% 20-25% 10% 0%
Share price {pence) 378.00 345.23 374 ¢0 36100 42520 418 09
Woerghted average exercise price (pence) 328.00 338.58 0.00 31100 42520 000

Volatlity 1s a measure of the amount by which a price 1s expected to fluctuate during a period The measure of volaulity used in the Group's option
pricing madels 1s the annuahsed standard deviation of the conunuously compounded rates of return on the share over a peniod of tme In estimating the
future volatiity of the Company’s share price, the Board considers the historical volatility of the share price over the most recent period that is generally
commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the remaining contractual hfe of the option

b) Share bonus schemes

Eligible UK employees are able to participate in Shares i Success, an all-employee profit-shaning scheme Each year, shares are awarded as a percentage
of earnings up to a statutory maximum of £3,000 Eligible Republic of Ireland employees are able to parucipate in a Share Bonus Schermne, an all-
employee profit sharing scheme Each year, employees recewve a percentage of their earnings as either cash or shares

Senor management also participate in performance-related bonus schemes The amount paid to employees 1s based on a percentage of salary and 1s
paid partly in cash and partly in shares Bonuses are awarded to eligible employees who have completed a required service penod and depend on the
achievernent of corporate targets The accrued cash element of the bonus at the balance sheet date 15 £52m (2009 - £33m)

Selected semor management participate in the semor management Performance Share Plan Awards made under this plan will normally vest three years
after the date of the award for nil consideration Vesting will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets related to the
return on capital employed aver a three year performance penod

Senior management in the US business also participate in the US Long-Term Incentive Plan (2007) which was adopted on 29 June 2007 The awards

made under this Plan will normally vest in four tranches four, five, six and seven years after the date of award, for nil consideration Vesting wiil normally
be conditional on the achievenent of specified performance targets related to the return on capital employed in the US business over the seven-year plan
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Note 27 Share-based payments continued

The Executive Directors participate in short-term and long-term bonus schemes designed to align their interests with those of shareholders Full details
of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report

The fair value of shares awarded under these schemes is thewr market value on the date of award Expected divtdends are nat incorporated into the farr
value except for awards under the US Long-Term Incentive Plan

The number and werghted average fair value (WAFV) of share banuses awarded during the period were

2010 2009

Sharas WAFY Shares WAFV

number pence number pence

Shares in Success 28,661,004 349.66 21,295,232 43105
Executive Incentive Scheme 13,731,567 355.51 10,996,677 41568
Perfarmance Share Plan 2,120,058 37537 2123237 35376
US Long-Term [ncentive Plan 80,622 482 00 673,716 403 80

Note 28 Post-employment benefits

Pensions

The Group operates a variety of post-employment benefit arrangements, covering both funded defined contribution and funded and unfunded defined
benefit schemes The most sigruficant of these are the funded defined benefit pension schemes for the Group's employees in the UK and the Republic
of Ireland

Defined contribution plans
The contributions payable for defined contnbution schemes of £12m (2009 - £11m) have been fully expensed against profits in the current year

Defined benefit plans

Urited Kingdom

The principal plan within the Group is the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme, which 1s a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the LK, the assets of which
are held as a segregated fund and admirustered by trustees Towers Watson Limited, an independent actuary, carried out the latest tnenmial actuarial
assessment of the scherme as at 31 March 2008, using the projected urut method

At the date of the last actuanal valuation the actuarial deficit was £275m The market value of the schemes’ assets was £3,987m and these assets
represented 94% of the benefits that had accrued to members, after allowing for expected increases in earnings and pensions i payment

Duning the year, the One Stop Senior Executive Pension Scheme was merged into the Tesco PLC Pensian Scheme As the One Stop Schemne was already
part of the Group there has been no wnpact on the overall disclosures The One Stop Scheme had a net lrability of £4 6m at 28 February 2009

Overseas
The maost significant overseas scheme is the funded defined benefit pension scheme which operates in the Republic of Ireland Anindependent actuary,
using the projected unit method, carmned out the latest actuarial assessment of the scheme as at 1 April 2007

The valuations used for IAS 19 have been based on the most recent actuanal valuations and updated by Towers Watson Lirited to take account of the
requirements of IAS 19 in order to assess the liabilities of the schemes as at 27 February 2010 The schemes' assets are stated at their market values as at
27 February 2010 Towers Watson Limited have updated the most recent Republic of lreland valuation The habilues refating to retirement healthcare
benefits have also been determined 1n accordance with [AS 19, and are incorporated in the following tables

Principal assumptions

The valuations used have been based on the most recent actuanal valuations and updated by Towers Watson Limited to take account of the
requirements of JAS 19 1n order to assess the habilities of the schemes as at 27 February 2010 The major assumptions, on a weighted average basis,
used by the actuanes were as follows

2010 2009
% %

Rate of Increase i salanes 3.6 37
Rate of increase in pensions In payment* 3.4 31
Rate of increase in deferred pensions* 3.6 32
Rate of Increase in career average benefits 3.6 32
Discount rate 5.9 65
Price inflation 3.6 32

* In excess of any Guaranteed Mimimum Pension (GMP) element
The main financial assumption is the real discount rate (the excess of the discount rate over the rate of price inflation) If this assumption increased/

decreased by 0 1%, the UK defined benefit obligation would decrease/increase by approximately £140m and the annual UK current service cost would
decrease/increase by approximately £17m
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 28 Post-employment benefits continued

UK mortahty assumptions

The Company conducts analysis of mortalty trends under the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme in the UK as part of the trenmial actuanal valuation of the
Scheme Atthe latest tnenmal actuanal valuation as at 31 March 2008, the following assumptions were adopted for funding purposes

Base tables

PMA92CO0 for male members with cohortimprovements to 2000 and members taken to be one year younger than actual age
PFAG2C00 for female members with cohort tmprovements to 2000 and mernbers taken to be half a year older than actual age

These assumptions were used for the calculation of the pension liability as at 27 February 2010 for the main UK scheme

As at 27 February 2010, the mortality assumptions have been strengthened The base tables have been updated in ine with medium cohort projections
with a minimum improvement of 1% per annum from 31 March 2008 to 27 February 2010 In addition, the allowance for future mortality improvements

has been changed to incorporate medium cohort projections with a minimum improvement of 1% per annum

The following table illustrates the expectation of life of an average member retining at age 65 at the balance sheet date and a member reaching age 65

at the same date +25 years

2010 2009
inyears nyears
Retinng at Reporting date at age 65 Male 2.6 215
Female 23.4 233
Retinng at Reporting date +25 years atage 65 Male 240 239
Female 25.9 258
Rates of return on scheme assets

The assets in the defined benefit pension schermes and the expected nominal rates of return were
2010 2009
Long-tsrm Market Leng-term Market
rate of return value  rate ofreturn value
Yo £m % £m
Equities 8.7 2,521 89 1,482
Bands 51 1,233 55 1,080
Property 70 343 73 342
Other (alternative assets) 8.7 484 89 383
Cash 441 15 37 133
Tatal market value of assets 4,696 3,420

The expected rate of return on assets 15 a weighted average based on the actual plan assets held and the respective returns expected on the separate

asset classes The expected rate of return on equities and cash have both been set having regard to expected returns aver the medium term, as

calculated by the Company’s independent actuary The expected rate of return on bonds was measured directly fram actual ywelds for gilts and corporate

bond stocks The above rate takes into account the actual mix of UK gilts, UK corporate bonds and overseas bonds held at the balance sheet date

Movement in pension deficit during the year
Changes in the fair value of defined benefit pension plan assets are as follows

2010 2009

£m £m

Opening fair value of plan assets 3,420 4,089
Expected return 265 338

Actuanal gains/(losses) 733 {1,270}
Contnibutions by employer 415 376
Actual member contnbutions 9 8
Foreign currency translation (2) "

Benefits paid (144) (132)
Closing fair value of plan assets 4,696 3,420
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Note 28 Post-employment benefits conunued

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows

2010 2009

Em £m
Opening defined benefit obligation (4,914) 4927)
Current service cost €391) {428)
Interest cost {313) {313)
(Loss)/gain on change of assumptions (1,052) 760
Expertence losses 1) (17)
Foreign currency translation - (13)
Benefits pad 144 132
Actual member contributions (9) (8)
Closing defined benefit obligation (6,536) (4,914)
The amounts that have been charged to the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended
27 February 2010 are set out below

2010 2009

£Em £m
Analysis of the amount charged to operating profit
Current service cost (391) (428)
Total charge to operatng profit (391) (428)
Analysis of the amount (charged)/credited to finance (cost)income
Expected return on penston schemes’ assets 265 338
Interest on pension schemes’ labilities (313) (313)
Net pension finance (cost)/income {note 5) (48) 25
Total charge to the Group Income Statement (439) (403)
Analysis of the amount recogmised in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
Actual return less expected return on pension schemes' assets 733 (1,270)
Experience losses ansing on the schermes’ habilities t) (M7
Foreign currency translation (2) {2)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the schemes' habihties €1,052) 760
Total loss recogmised in the Group Staterment of Comprehensive Income (322) (629)

The cumulauve losses recognised through the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income since the date of transition to IFRS are £1,323m (2009 — £1,001m)

Summary of movements in deficit duning the year

2010 2009
£m £m
Deficit in schemes at beginning of the year (1,494) (838}
Current service cost ¢391) (428)
Other finance (cost)/income {48) 25
Contnbutions by empioyer 415 376
Foreign currency translation (2) (2)
Actuanal loss €320) 627)
Defiatin schemes at end of the year €1,840) (1,494)
History of movements
The historical movement in defined benefit pension schemes assets and habilities and history of experience gams and losses are as follows
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m £m
Total market value of assets 4,696 3,420 4,089 4,007 3,448
Present value of habilities relating to unfunded schemes (54) (39) {34) 2n (7
Present value of habilities relating to partially funded schemes (6,482) (4,875) (4,893) {4,930) (4,642}
Pension deficit (1,840) (1,494) (838) (950) (1,211)
Experience gains/{losses) on scheme assets 733 (1,270) {465) 82 309
Experience losses on plan habilities [4}] n7n (200 41) (24)
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 28 Post-employment benefits continued

Post-employment benefits other than pensions
The Company operates a scheme offering retirement healthcare benefits The cost of prowiding these benefits has been accounted for on a similar basis
to that used for defined benefit pension schemes

The liability as at 27 February 2010 of £12m (2609 — £10m) was determined in accordance with the advice of independent actuanes In 2010,
£07m (2009 — £8 7rn) has been charged to the Group [ncome Staterment and £0 Sm (2009 ~ £0 5m) of benefits were pad

A change of 1 0% in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect

2010 2009
£m £m
Effect of a 1% increase in assumed healthcare cost trend rate on
Service and interest cost 01 01
Defined benefit obligation 1.5 16
Effect of 3 1% decrease In assumed healthcare cost trend rate on
Service and interest cost 0.1) 1
Defined benefit cbligation {1.5) {13)

Expected contributions

A formal actuarial valuation is carned out triennially far the scheme trustees by a prefessionally qualified independent actuary The purpose of the
valuation 15 to agree a funding plan to ensure that present and future contributions should be sufficient to meet future habilities The actuanal
valuation of approved schemnes as at 31 March 2008 has been concluded and the Group's contributions are increasing to 11 1% from 10 9% On this
basis the Group expects to make contributions of appreximately £430m to defined benefit pension schemes in the year ending 27 February 2011

Nota 29 Called up share capital

2010 2009
Ordinary shares of 5p sach Ordinary shares of 5p each
Number £m Number £m
Authonised
At beginning of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,858,000,000 543
Authonsed during the year 2,500,000,000 125 - -
At end of year 13,358,000,000 668 10,858,000,000 543
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At beginming of year 7,895,344,018 395 7,863,498,783 393
Share options 62,329,535 3 57,060,046 3
Share bonus scherme 27,370,504 1 - -
Share buy-back - - (25,214,811 Q)
Atend of year 7,985,044,057 399 7,895,344,018 395

Duning the finanaial year, 62 million (2009 - 57 milion) shares of 5p each were i1ssued in relation ta share options for aggregate consideration of
£166m {2009 — £130m)

During the financial year, 27 mullion (2009 — nil) shares of 5p each were 1ssued in relatron to share bonus awards for consideration of £1m (2009 - £nil)

During the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled no shares of Sp each During 2009, the Company purchased and subsequently
cancelled 25,214,811 shares of 5p each, representing 0% of the called up share capital, at an average share price of 3 98 per share The total
consideration, including expenses, £100m The excess of the consideration over the nominal value was charged to retained earnings

Between 28 February 2010 and 16 April 2010 options over 3,722,750 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the Savings-related
Share Optien Scherne (1981) and the Irish Savings-related Share Option Scheme (2000} Between 28 February 2010 and 16 April 2010, aptions over
3,592,493 ordinary shares have been exeroised under the terms of the Executive Share Option Schemes (1994 and 1996) and the Discreticnary Share
QOption Plan (2004)

As at 27 February 2010, the Directers were authonsed to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 790 1 million (2009 — 784 8 million) ordinary shares

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at the meetings
of the Company

Capital redemption reserve

Upon cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buy-back, a capital redemption reserve Is ¢created representing the nominal value
of the shares cancelled Thss is a non-distributable reserve
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Note 30 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been ehminated on consohidation and are not disclosed in this
note Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates are disclosed below

i) Trading transactions

Salesto Purchases from Ameunts owed Amounts owed

related parties related parties by related parties to related parties

2010 2009 2010 2609 2010 2009 2010 2009

£m £m £m £m £m £m £Em £m

Joint ventures 154 183 360 290 6 14 18 b
Associates - ~ 1,313 1,175 - - 24 156

Sales to related parties consists of services/management fees and lean interest

Purchases from related parties include £226m (2009 — £174m) of rentals payable to the Group’s joint ventures, Including those joint ventures formed as
part of the sale and leaseback programme

Purchases from assocates include £1,312m (2009 — £1,171m) of fuel purchased from Greenergy International Limited

i1} Non-trading transactions

Sales 10 Leans to Loans from Injection of

related parties related parties related parties equity funding

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

£m £m £m £m £Em £m £m Em

Joint ventures a7 465 309 262 23 20 83 -

Transactions between the Group and the Group's pension plans are disclosed in note 28

A number of the Group’s subsidiaries are members of one or more partnerships to whom the prowisions of the Partnerships {Accounts) Regulations 2008
(‘Regulations’) apply The accounts for those partnerships have been consolidated into these accounts pursuant to Regulation 7 of the Regulations

On 25 June 2009, the Group formed a hmuted partnership with Tesca Pension Trustees The limited partnerships contain twelve stores and two
distribution centres which have been sold from and leased back to the Group The Group sold assets for net proceeds of £386m to the limited
partnership The Group's share of the profit realised from this transaction s included within profit arising on property-related itemms

On 23 September 2009, the Group formed a limited partnership with a third party The lmited partnerships contain fifteen stores and two distribution
centres which have been sold from and leased back to the Group The Group sold assets for net proceeds of £460m to the mited partnership The
Group’s share of the profit reahsed from this transaction I1s included within profit ansing on property-related items

1it} Transactions with key management personnel

Only members of the Board of Directors of Tesco PLC are deemed to be key management personnel Its the Board who have responsibility for planrung,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group Key management persennel compensation 1s disciosed in the audited section of the Directors’
Remuneration Report

Transactions on an arm's length basts with Tesco Bank during the year were as follows

Credit card and

personal loan balances Saving depasit accounts
Number of key Number of key
management management
personnel £m personnel £m
At 28 February 2009 2 - 2 -
At 27 February 2010 - - 4 1

Dunng the current and prior year, there were no other material transactions or balances between the Group and its key managerment personnel or ther
close family members
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 31 Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2010 2009
Restated
£m £m
Profit before tax 3,176 2917
Net finance costs 314 362
Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures and asscriates (33) (110}
Operating profit 3,457 3,169
Depreciation and amortisation 1,384 1,189
Profit ansing on property-related items 377) {236}
Loss ansing on sale of non property-related items 5 3
Impairment of goodwill 13 -
Net reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment (26) (22)
Adjustment for nan-cash element of pensions charge (24) 52
Share-based payments 241 208
Decrease/(increase) in inventaries 34 (95)
Decrease i trade and other recewables 124 79
Increase In trade and other payables 453 724
Increase In trade and ather receivables — Tesco Bank (28) -
Increase in trade and other payables — Tesco Bank 75 -
Increase In loans and advances to customers (724) (20
Decreasef(increase) in loans and advances to banks, other financial assets and receivables 1,397 (1,538)
(Decrease)/increase in customer deposits, payables and other financial habilities (175) 1,465
Increase in working capital 1,156 619
Cash generated from operations 5,947 4978

The increase in warking capital includes the impact of translating foreign currency working capital movements at average exchange rates rather than

penod end exchange rates

Nota 32 Analysis of changes in net debt

At TescoBankat Other At

28 February 28 February non-cash Elrmination 27 February

2009 2009 Cash Mow movements of Tesco Bank 010

Restated

£m £m Em £m £m Em

Cash and cash equivalents 3,472 37 (739) 49 (204) 2,615

Short-term investments 1,233 - 81 - - 1,314

Jomnt venture loan and other receivables 262 45 13 - 320

Denvative financal instruments and other finanaal assets 1,858 (78) (308) (2) 1,472

Cash and recevables 6,825 39 (691 (246) (206) 5,721
Bank and other borrowings (3,424) - 2,909 (969) 256 (1,228}
Finance lease payables {47 - L1 (39) - (45)
Dernvative financial instruments and other liabilities (483) (42) (1) 430 14 (132)
Debt due within one year (3,954) (42) 2,899 (578) 270 (1,405)
Bank and other borrowings (11,973) (222) (392) 1,007 224 (11,356)
Finance lease payables (196) - - 32 - (164)
Dernvative financial instruments and other labilities (302) - (10) (464) 51 (725)
Debt due after one year (12,471) {222) (402) 575 275 (12,245)
(9,600} (225} 1,806 (249) 339 {7,929)

Note 33 Commitments and contingencies

Capital commitments

At 27 February 2010 there were commitments for capital expenditure cantracted for, but not prowided, of £1,835m (2009 — £1,551m), pnnapally relating

to the store development programme
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Note 33 Commitments and contingencies continued

Contingent habilities

The Company has irrevacably guaranteed the habilities, as defined in Section 5(c) of the Republic of Ireland (Amendment Act) 1986, of various subsidiary
undertakings incorporated (n the Republic of [reland

For details of assets held under finance feases, which are pledged as secunity for the finance lease habifities, see note 11

There are a number of contingent liabilities that anse in the normal course of business which if realised are not expected to resultin a matenal liability
to the Group The Group recagnises provisions for liabilies when it i1s more bikely than not a settlement wilt be required and the value of such a payrment
can be rehably estimated

In September 2007, the Office of Fair Trading 15sued its provisional findings in 1ts Statement of Objections relating to the alleged ccllusion between
certain large supermarkets and dairy processors On 30 April 2010, the Office of Fair Trading announced that it had decided to drop the allegations
against the Group in relation to milk and butter in the dairy mvestigation The Office of Fair Trading agreed a discretionary penalty discount of 10%
for the Group riot contesting the two remaining allegations which related to cheese The Group has however made no admission of wrongdoing
The discounted fine will become payable after the OFT 1ssues its decision later this year and 1s immatenal ta the Group and therefore no provision
has been recognised it the Group’s financial statements

Tesco Bank
At 27 February 2010, Tesco Bark has commitments of formal standby facilities, credit ines and ather commitments ta fend, totalling £6 Sbn (2009 -
£57bn) The amount s intended to provide an indication of the potential volume of business and not of the underlying credit or ather risks

The Financial Services Compensatron Scherme (FSCS) 1s the UK statutory fund of last resort for customers of authonsed financial services firms

and pays compensation if a firm s unable to pay claims against it The FSCS has borrowed frorn HM Treasury to fund these cornpensation costs
associated with institutions that failled in 2008 and will receive receipts from asset sales, surplus cash flow and other recovenes from these institutions
n the future

The FSCS meets its obligations by rasing management expense levies These include amounts to cover the interest on its borrowings and compensation
levies on the industry Each deposit-taking institution contributes in proportion to its share of total protected depaosits The levy is caleulated based on
deposit balances held as at 31 Decemnber in each year and as such, this 15 seen as the ‘trigger event” under accounting rules

1f the FSCS does not receive sufficient funds from the faited nstitutions te repay HM Treasury in full itwill raise compensation levies At this time it is

not passible to estimate the amount or iming of any shortfall resulting from the cash flows receved from the failed nstitutions and, accordingly, no
provision for compensation levies has been made in these financal statements

Note 34 Capital resources

The following table shows the camposition of regulatary capital resaurces of Tesco Personal Finance PLC (being the regulated entity) at the balance
sheet date

2010 2009
Em £m
Tier 1 capital
Sharehalders’ funds and minonty interests 576 521
Tier 2 capital
Qualifying subordinated debt 235 205
Other interests in tier 2 capital 2 19
Supervisory deductions (263) (259)
Total regulatory capital 569 486
The movement of tier 1 capital during the year s analysed as follows
2010 2009*
£m £m
Beginning of the year 521 514
Share capital and share premium 230 -
Profit attnbutable to shareholders 37 7
Crdinary dividends {153) -
Increase tn intangible assets (59) -
End of the year 576 521

* Tesco Personal Finance PLC was acquired as part of Tesco Persenal Finance Group Limited ¢n 19 December 2008

It 15 Tesco Personal Finance PLC's (TPF) policy to matntain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently throughout its
activities to optirmise the return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying risks of the
business In carrying aut this policy, TPF has regard to the supervisary requirements of the Financial Services Authonty (‘FSA’) The FSA uses Risk Asset
Ratio ('RAR'") as a measure of capital adequacy in the UK banking sector, compaing a bank’s capital resources with its nsk-weighted assets (the assets
and off-balance sheet exposures are ‘weighted’ to reflect the inherent credit and other risks), by international agreement the RAR should be not less
than 8% with a Tier 1 component of not less than 4% TPF has complied with the FSA’s capital requirements throughout the year
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued

Note 35 Leasing commitmaents

Finance lease commitments — Group as lessee
The Group has finance leases for vanous items of plant, equipment, fixtures and fittings There are also a small number of bulldings which are held
under finance leases The fair value of the Group’s lease cbligations approximate to their carrying value

Future mirumum lease payments under finance leases and hire purchase contracts, together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments
are as follows

Present value of

Minimum lease payments mINImum {ease payments
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m Em
Within one year 49 55 45 a7
Greater than one year but less than five years 101 140 90 114
After five years 178 172 74 82
Total minimum lease payments 328 367 209 243
Less future finance charges (119) (124)
Present value of minimum lease payments 209 243
Analysed as
Current finance lease payables 45 47
Nan-current finance lease payables 164 196
209 243
Operating lease commitments - Group as lessee
Future mmimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows
2010 2009
Em Em
Within one year 1,043 754
Greater than one year but less than five years 3,702 3,069
After five years 10,004 9,170
Total minimum lease payments 14,749 12,993

QOperating lease paymenis represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its retail, distnbution and office properties and other assets such as
motor vehicles The leases have varying terms, purchase options, escalation clauses and renewal rights

The Group has lease break options on certain sale and leaseback transactions, which are exercisable If an existing option to buy back leased assets at
market value at a specified date 1s also exercised, no commitment has been included in respect of the buy-back option as the option 1s at the Group's
discretion The Group 15 not obliged to pay lease rentals after that date and so minimum lease payments exclude those falling after the buy-back date

QOperating lease commitments with joint ventures

Since 1988, the Group has entered into several joint ventures and sold and leased back properties to and from these joint ventures The terms of these
sale and leasebacks vary, however, common factors include the sale of the properties to the joint venture at market value, options within the lease for

the Group to repurchase the properties at market value, market rent reviews and 20-30 year lease terms The Group reviews the substance

as well as the farm of the arrangements when making the judgement as to whether these leases are operatng or finance leases, all of the leases under
these arrangements are operating leases

Operating lease receivables = Graup as lessor
The Group both rents out its properties and also sublets various leased bulldings under operating leases At the balance sheet date, the following future
minmmum lease payments are contractually recewvable from tenants

2010 2009

£m £m

Within one year 259 201
Greater than one year but less than five years 566 445
After five years 348 335
Total mimimum lease payments 1,173 981
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Five yearrecord

2006’ 2007 2008 2009 010
Restated

Financial statistics
Group saies (including VAT) {(£m) 43,137 46,611 51,773 59,426 62,537
Revenue (excluding VAT) {£m)
UK 29,990 32,665 34,858¢ 37.650° 38,558
Rest of Europe 5,095 5,559 6,872 8,8315 8,704
Asla 4,369 4,417 5,552 7,0483 8,439
us - ~ 16¢ 206 349
Tesco Bank - - - 163% 860
Total Group 39,454 42,641 47,298 53,898 56,910
Group operating profit? (£m) 2,280 2,648 2,791 3,169 3,457
Group operating profit margin? 58% 6 2% 59% 5 9% 6 1%
Share of results of joint ventures and associates (Em) 82 106 75 110 33
Profit on sale of investment in associates (£m) - 25 - - -
Net finance costs {£m} (127) (126) (63) (362) {314)
Profit before tax (Em) 2,235 2,653 2,803 2911 3,176
Taxation (£m) {649 (772) (673) (779) {840)
Mrnanity interests (Em} (6} (7) (6) (5) {9}
{Loss)/profit for the peniod from discontinued operation?S (£m) {10) 18 - - -
Profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the parent (Em) 1,570 1,892 2,124 2,133 2,327
Underlying profit before tax® {£m) 2,277 2,545 2,846 3124 3,395
Enterpnise value? (Em) 30,841 40,469 37,656 35,907 41,442
Basic earnings per share® 20 20p 23 6ip 2695p 2714p° 29.33p
Duluted earnings per share® 1992p 23 31p 26 61p 26 96p3 2919p
Dividend per share® 8 63p 9 64p 1090p 1196p 13 05p
Return on shareholders’ funds'® 24 9% 26 7% 251% 23 5%° 23.0%
Return on capitat employed" 12 7% 12 6%'™ 12 7%"7 12 8% 121%
Group statistics
Number of stores 2,672 3,263 3,751 4,332 4,811
Total sales area - 000 sq fi*? 55,215 68,189 76,338 88,451 93,985
Average employees 368,213 413,061 444127 468,508 472,094
Average full-time equivalent employees 273,024 318,283 345,737 364015 372,338
UK retall statistics
Number of stores'® 1,898 1,988 2,115 2,282 2,482
Total sales area — 000 sq ft1218 25919 27785 29,549 31,285 32,991
Average store size (sales area —5q fr)*i 18 32,816 34,209 35,055 35,215 35,485
Average full-time equivalent employees 175,459 184,461 193,917 194,420 196,604
UK retall productivity (£)
Revenue per employee™ 170,923 177,084 179,840 196,436° 196,120
Profit per employee™ 10,190 11,292 10,8147 13,065} 14,303
Weekly sales per sq ft'? 2506 2548 2543 25343 25.22

1 Results for the year ended 25 February 2006 include 52 weeks for the UK and ROl and 14 months for the majonty of the remaiming international businesses
2 Operating profit includes integration costs and profit/(loss) arising on sate of fixed assets Operatmg margin 1s based upan revenue excluding VAT
3 The Group adopted IFRIC 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ and the amendments to IFRS 2 *Share-Based Payment’ from 24 February 2008 Periods before this date have nat
been restated
4 Consists of the net result of the Tarwanese business which was sold dunng 2007
5 IFRS underlying profit excludes IAS 32 and 1AS 39 ‘Financtal Instruments’ - fair value remeasurements the 1AS 19 Group income Statement charge, which 1s replaced by the ‘normal’
cash contributions for pensiens, IAS 17 *Leases’ —wmpact of annual uplifts in rent and rent-free penods, IFRS 3 Amortisation charge from intangrble assets ansing an acquisitien,
IFRIC 13 ‘Custamer Loyalty Programmes' — fair value of awards and exceptional items
For further detads of this measure, see page 81
6 Results have been restated ta reflect the US and Tesco Bank as separate segments
7 Market capitalisabon plus net debt
B Basic and diluted earnings per share are on a continuing operations basis
9 Dividend per share relating to the intenm and preposed linal dwvidend
10 Profit before tax dvided by average shareholders' funds
11 The numerator (s profit before interest, less tax The denarminator is the calculated average of net assets plus net debt plus dividend creditor less net assets held for sale
12 Store sizes exclude lobby and restaurant areas
13 Average store size excludes Express and One Stop stores
14 Based on average number of full-time eguivalent employees in the UK revenue exclusive of VAT and operating profit
15 Based on weighted average sales area and sales excluding property develepment
16 Excludes one off gain from *Pensions A Oray', with this ane-off gain ROCE was 13 6%
17 Using a 'normalised’ tax rate before start-up costsin the US and Tasco Direct and excluding the impact of foreign exchange in equity and our acquisition of a majonty share of Dobbies
18 Excluding Dobb:es stores
19 Excluding start up costs in the US and Tesco Direct and adjusting average number of full tme equivalent employees in the UK to exclude US and Tesco Direct employees — profit per
employee wauld be £11,317
20 Excluding acquisiion of Tesco Bank and Homever and India start-up costs, and after adjusting for assets held for sale Calculated on a 52 week basis, ROCE for 2009 15 12 8%
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Tesco PLC - Parent Company balance sheet

2010 2009
27 February 2010 notes £Em £m
Non-current assets
Investments 5 1,716 10,975
Dernvative finanaial iInstruments 10 1,250 1473
12,966 12,448
Current assets
Dervative financial instruments 10 208 29
Debtors 6 14,184 8,815
Current asset investments 7 1,997 2970
16,389 12,076
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year
Borrowings 9 (932) (1,981)
Dervative financial instruments 10 (116) (373)
Other creditors 8 {8,950} (2,569)
(9,998) (4923)
Met current assets 6,391 1153
Total assets less current liabihties 19,357 19,601
Creditors — amounts falling due after more than one year
Borrowings 9 (10,805) {(11,750)
Denvative financial instruments 10 (621) (194)
{11,426) (11,944)
Net assets 7,931 7,657
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 399 395
Share premium account 14 4,801 4638
Profit and loss reserve 14 2,731 2,624
Total equity 7,951 7,657
Accounting policies and notes forming part of these finanaial statements are on pages 1 130

Sir Terry Leah
Laurie Mcllwee

Directors
The Parent Company financial statements an pages 122 to 130 were authonsed for 1ssue by the Directors on 5 May 2010 and are subject to the approval
of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 2 July 2010

Tesco PLC
Registered number 00445790

122 Tesco PLC Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

T2 wadle




Notes to the Parent Company financial statements

Note 1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

These financial staternents have been prepared under UK GAAP using the
historical cost convention modified for the revaluation of certa:n financial
mstruments and in accordance with applicable accounting standards and
the Campanies Act 2006

The financial year represents the 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010
(prior financial year 53 weeks ended 28 February 2009)

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting polictes are set
out below

Exemptions

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under
Section 408 of the Compames Act 2006 and not presented a Profit and
Loss Account for the Company alone

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemption from preparing
a cash flow statement under the terms of FRS 1 'Cash Flow Statement’
The cash flows of the Company are included in the Tesco PLC Group
financial statements

The Company Is also exempt under the terms of FRS 8 ‘Related Parties’
from disclosing related party transactions with entities that are part of
the Tesco PLC Group

Changes in accounting policias
The Company has adopted the faollowing new and amended standards
and interpretations as of 1 March 2009

« Amendments to FRS 20 ‘Share-Based Payment’ — Vesting Conditions
and Cancellations, effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2009 {early adoption 1s permitted), clanfies that only service
and performance conditions are vesting conditions Any cther conditions
are non-vesting conditions which have to be taken into account to
determine the fair value of the equity instrument granted This award
must be treated as a cancellation where the award does not vest as a
result of a failure to meet a non-vesting conditton that 15 within the
control of either the Cormpany or the counterparty Cancellations are
treated as accelerated vestings and all remaining future charges are
immediately recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account
wiath the credit recogrised directly m equity The results for the year
ended 28 February 2009 have been restated accordingly The impact
on the Parent Company's Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet
15 immatertal for both years

Amendrments to FRS 29 'Financial Instruments — Disclosures’, effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 required
enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk

Current asset investments

These relate to money market deposits which are stated at cost All income
from these investments s included in the Parent Company Profit and Loss
Account as Interest receivable and similar income

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investments i subsidianes and joint ventures are stated at cost less, where
appropriate, provisions for impairment

Forgign currencies
Assets and labilities in foretgn currencies are translated into Pounds
Sterling at the exchange rates at the end of the financial year

Share-based payments

Employees of the Company receive part of ther remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render services
in exchange for shares or nghts over shares (equity-settled transacticns) or
in exchange for entttlerments to cash payments based cn the value of the
shares (cash-settled transactions)

The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the grant
date using the Black-Scholes model in accordance with FRS 20 'Share-
Based Payment' the resulting cost 1s charged to the Parent Company
Profit and Loss Account over the vesting period The value of the charge
15 adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting

Where the Campany awards options to employees of subsidiary entities,
this Is treated as a capital contribution

Financial instruments

Financtal assets and finanaal habilies are recognised on the Parent
Company’s Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument

Debtors

Debtors are non interest-bearing and are recognised imtially at fair
value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective Interest
rate method, reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts

Investrments

Investments are classified as either held for trading or avallable-for-sale
and are measured at subsequent reporting dates at farr value There are
na investments classified as held for trading Gains and lasses ansing from
changes In fair value for avallable-for-sale investments are recognised
directly in equity, untif the secunty is disposed of or 1s determmed to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain ar loss previously recognised
In equity 1s included in the net result for the period

Financial habihties and equity

Financial habihties and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into An equity
instrument 1s any contract that gives a residual interest in the assets of the
Company after deducting all of its abilities

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearnng bank loans and overdrafts are initially recorded at the
value of the amount recewved, net of attributable transaction costs
Subsequent to initial recogmit:on, interest-bearing borraowings are stated
at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value
being recegnised in the Parent Company Prefit and Loss Account over the
peried of the borrawings on an effective interest basis

Creditors
Creditors are non interest-bearing and are stated at amortised cost

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issuted by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
receved, net of direct 1ssue costs
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note i Accounting policies continued

Derwvative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Company uses derivative financial nstruments to hedge its exposure
to foreign exchange and interest rate risks ansing from operatsng, financing
and investing actvities The Company does not hold or issue derivative
financial Instruments for trading purposes, however If denvatives do not
qualfy for hedge accounting they are accounted for as such

Denvative financial instruments are recognised and stated at fair value
The fair value of derwvative financial instruments 1s determined by
reference to market values for similar financial instrurments, by discounted
cash flows or by the use of option valuation models Where denvatives do
nat qualify for hedge accounting, any gans or losses on remeasurement
are immedately recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss
Account Where dernvatives qualfy for hedge accounting, recogrition of
any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship
and the item being hedged

It order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Campany 1s required to
docurnent from inception the relationship between the item being hedged
and the hedging instrument The Company Is also required to document
and demonstrate an assessment of the relationship between the hedged
itern and the hedging instrument, which shows that the hedge will be
highly effective on an ongoing basis This effectiveness testing 1s
performed at each period end to ensure that the hedge has remained
highly effective

Dervative financial instruments with maturity dates of more than one year
from the balance sheet date are disclased as falling due after more than
one year

Fair value hedging

Dervative financial instruments are classified as fair vatue hedges when
they hedge the Company’s exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised asset or hability Changes in the fair value of dervatives that
are designated and qualfy as fair value hedges are recorded in the Parent
Company Profit and Loss Account, together with any changes in the fair
value of the hedged item that 15 attributable to the hedged risk

Cernvative financial instruments gualifying for far value hedge accounting
are prinapally interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps

Cash flow hedgqing

Denvative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when
they hedge the Company's exposure to varrability in cash flows that are
either attributable to a particular nsk assocrated with a recognised asset
or hability, or a highly probable forecasted transacticn

The effective element of any gan or loss from remeasunng the dervative
instrument s recognised directly in equity

The associated cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from equity and
recognised in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account in the same
period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects the Parent
Company Profit and Lass Accaunt The classification of the effective
partion when recogrised in the Parent Company Profit and Lass Account
15 the same as the classification of the hedged transaction Any element
of the remeasurement of the denvative instrument which does nat meet
the cntena for an effective hedge 1s recognised immediately in the Parent
Company Profit and Loss Account

Denvative instruments qualifying for cash flow hedging are principally
forward foreign exchange transactions and cross currency options

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or
15 sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting
At that point In ime, any cumulative gan or loss on the hedging instrument
recogmised in equity is retained in equity until the forecasted transaction
accurs or the onginal hedged item affects the Parent Company Profit and
Loss Account If a forecasted hedged transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the net cumulative gatn or loss recagnised in equity Is transferred

to the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account
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Net vestment hedging

Dervative financial instruments are classified as netinvestment hedges
when they hedge the Company’s net investment in an overseas operation
The effective element of any foreign exchange gain or loss from
remeasuring the derivative instrument 1s recogrised directly in equity Any
ineffective element Is recognised immediately in the Parent Company
Profit and Loss Accaunt Gans and losses accumulated in equity are
mncluded in the Parent Company Profit and Loss Account when the foreign
operation Is disposed of

Dervative instruments qualifying for net investment hedqging are pnncipally
farward foreign exchange transactions and cross currency options

Pensions

The Company participates in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme which is a
mutti-employer scheme within the Tesco Group and cannot identify its
share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme Accordingly,

as permitted by FRS 17 'Retirement Benefits’, the Company has accounted
for the scherme a3 a defined contribution scheme, and the charge for the
period 1s based upon the cash contributions payable

Taxation
Corporation tax payable 1s provided on the taxable profit for the year, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred taxis recogrised in respect of all trming differences that have
originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date and would give rise
to an abligation to pay more or less taxation in the future

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are recoverable
They are regarded as recoverabie to the extent that on the basis of all
avarlable ewidence, 1t 1s regarded as more likely than not that there will be
suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying
timing differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the pertods in which the timing differences
reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date

Recent accounting developments

Standards, amendments and interpretations adopted, following new
amendments to FRS interpretations These have not had a significant
Impact on the results or net assets of the Company

+ amendments to UITF Abstract 42 and FRS 26 — Embedded dervatives,
effective for periods beginmng on or after 1 January 2009

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet effective, but not
expected to have a significant impact on the Company

* amendment to FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments Presentatton’ on
‘Puttable Financal Instruments and Obligations Ansing on Liquidation’,
effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

» amendment to FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’ -
Presentation on Classification of Rights lssues, effective for annual
penods beginming on or after 1 February 2010, and

+ amendment to FRS 26 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement' on Eligible Hedged Items, effective for periods beginning
on or after 1 July 2009
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Note 2 Auditor remuneration

2010 2009
£m Em
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Parent Company and Group financial statements 0.6 06
Note 3 Employment costs, including Directors’ remuneration
2010 2009
£Em £Em
Wages and salaries 18 15
Social security costs 1
Pension costs 1 1
Share-based payment expense 30 18
51 35
The average number of employees (all Directors of the Company) duning the year was 17 (2009 - 14)
The Schedute VI requirements for Directors’ remuneration are included within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 52 to 66
Note 4 Dividends
For details of equity dividends see note 8 in the Group financral statements
Note 5 Investments
Shares in Group Shares in
undertakings  joint ventures Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 28 February 2009 11,186 16 11,202
Additions 1,118 - 1,118
At 27 February 2010 12,304 16 12,320
Impairment
At 28 February 2009 227 - 227
Charge for the year 377 - 377
At 27 February 2010 604 - 604
Net carrying value
At 27 February 2010 11,700 16 11,716
At 28 February 2009 10,959 16 10,975

Far a list of the Company's principal operating subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures see note 13 In the Group financtal statements

The impairment charge for the year relates to a subsidiary whose net assets have been reduced below its carrying amount in the Parent Company
Balance Sheet resulting from a dvidend payment
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note & Debtors

2010 009
£m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 13,948 8,587
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates®@ 128 106
Other debtors 100 112
Deferred tax asset™ 8 10
Total 14,184 8,815
(a) The amounts due from joint ventures and associates of £128m (2009 — £106m) are due after more than one year
(b) The deferred tax asset recognised by the Company, and the movemnents thereon duzing the year are as follaws
FRS 25 Other iming
and FRS 26 differences Total
£Em £m Em
At 28 February 2009 11 m 10
Charge to profit and loss account for the year (1) (1) (2
At 27 February 2010 10 {2) 3
Note 7 Current asset investments
2010 2009
£m £m
Bonds and deposits 1,997 2970
Note 8 Othaer creditors
2010 2009
£m £Em
Amounts falling due within one year
Other tax and social secunty 1 -
Amounts owed ta Group undertakings 8,639 2,141
Qther hiabiities 310 421
Accruals and deferred income - 7
8,950 2,569
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Note 9 Borrowings

Matunty 2010 W03

Par value year £m £m

Bank loans and overdrafts - - 27 1,494
Loans from joint ventures - - 17 9
5125% MTN £192m 2009 - 198
6625% MTN £150m 2010 158 154
475% MTN €750m 2010 704 689
3 875% MTN €500m 20M 479 476
5 625% MTN €1,500m 2012 1,375 1,362
5% MTN £600m M4 604 592
5125% MTN €600m 2015 539 522
4% RPI MTN®@! £263m 2016 270 2638
5 875% MTN €1,5060m 2016 1,520 1,488
5 5% USD Bend $850m 2017 621 678
9 5% MTN £350m 2019 351 35
6125% MTN £900m 2022 890 901
5% MTN £515m 2023 520 515
3322% LP! MTN® £265m 2025 269 267
6% MTN £200m 2029 212 216
5 5% MTN £200m 2033 210 216
1982% RPI MTN® £2211m 2036 222 221
615% USD Bond $1,150m 2037 834 977
5% MTN £300m 2042 306 306
5125% MTN €600m 2047 587 628
5 2% MTN £500m 2057 500 500
Other MTNs - - 291 417
Other loans - - 231 226
11,737 13,734

(a) The 4% RPIMTN i1s redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the Retail Price Index (RP1} over the life of the MTN

(b) The 3 322% LPI MTN 1s redeemable at par indexed for increases 1n the RPI over the hife of the MTN The maxamum indexation of the principal in any one year 15 5%, with a minimum of 0%

(c) The 1 982% RFI MTN 1s redeemable at par, indexed for increases in the RPI over the hfe of the MTN

2010 2009
£m Em
Repayment analysis

Amounts faliing due within one year 932 1,981
932 1,981

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts falling due between one and two years 699 867
Amounts falling due between two and five years 2,795 2,784
Amounts falling due after more than five years 7,311 8,099
10,805 11,750
1,737 13,731
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Note 10 Denvative financial instruments

The fair value of dervative financial instruments has been disclosed in the Company's Balance Sheet as

0t0 2009
Asset Liabilety Asset Liabthty
£m £m £m Em
Current 208 {116) 29 (373)
Non-current 1,250 (621) 1,473 (194)
Total 1,458 {73 1,764 (567
2010 2009
Asset Liability Asset Liabihity
Fairvalue Netional Fair value Notional Fau value Notional Fairvalue MNotional
£m £m £m Em £m Em £m £m
Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps and simelar instruments 10 6635 {32) 400 6 257 (31} 1,000
Cross currency swaps 1,131 4,513 (44) 258 1,218 3,957 am 825
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps and simtar instruments - - (39) 400 - - {66) 400
Cross currency swaps 129 315 (206) 1,042 226 336 1 1M
Forward foreign currency contracts 9 218 - 1 19 656 (23) 283
Net investment hedges
Cross currency swaps - - (30) 124 - - - -
Forward foreign currency contracts 19 244 (172) 1,037 92 2,623 (194) 2,767
Derwvatives not 1n a formal
hedge relationship
Interest rate swaps and stmilar instruments 140 1,115 (112} 1,025 1 774 {30) 3,280
Cross currency swaps 1 173 (22) 457 20 219 47 639
Future purchases of minonty interest - - (41) - - - - -
Forward foreign currency contracts 19 376 39) 1,070 182 2,632 (135) 2,561
Total 1,458 7,619 (737) 5,814 1,764 11,454 {567) 11926
Note 11 Share-based payments
Tesco PLC's equity-settied share-based payment schemes compnse vartous share schemes designed to reward Executive Dhirectors For further
informaton on these schemes, including the valuation models and assumptions used, see note 27 to the Group financial statements
a) Share option schemes
The number of options and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of share option schemes relating to Tesco PLC employees are
Savings-refated Approved Unapproved Nit cost
share opnion scheme share option scheme share oplion scheme share options
Far the year ended 27 February 2010 Oplions WAEP QOptions WAEP Opbions WAEP Options WAEP
Qutstanding at
28 February 2009 37,066 294 06 53,381 28099 14,681,115 32692 14,430,093 000
Granted 7,584 32800 - - 3,804,440 33840 3,093,147 000
Forferted - - - - - - {2,299,258) 000
Exeraised (8,544) 23200 - - {3,936,026) 26141 (6,038,529) 000
Qutstanding at
27 February 2010 36,106 315 87 53,381 28099 14,549,529 34765 9,185,455 0060
Exercisable as at
27 February 2010 - - 53,381 28099 6,240,433 28185 - -
Exercise price range 19750to 19750 to
{pence)} - - - Jig 60 - 31860 - -
Weighted average remaining
contractyal life (years) - - - 477 - 440 - _
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Notae 11 Share-based payments conuinued

Sawings related Apgpraved Unapproved Nil cost
share option stheme share option scheme share option scheme share oplions
For the year ended 28 February 2009 Options WAEP Options WAEP Optians WAEP Qptions WAEP
Outstanding at
23 February 2008 37,652 269 29 53,381 28099 12,191,979 30375 10,838,238 000
Granted 7.539 31100 - - 2,615,968 42700 3,591,855 000
Exercised (8,125) 195 Q0 - - (126,832) 164 00 - -
Outstanding at
28 February 2009 37,066 294 06 53,381 28099 14,681,115 32692 14,430,093 000
Exercisable as at
28 February 2009 - - 43,965 27293 151,677 25810 2,050,588 000
Exercise price range 19750 10 1730010
{pence) - - - 31275 - 31275 - 000
Woeighted average remaining
contractual ife (years) - - - 547 - 429 - 582
b) Share bonus schemes
The number and weighted average far value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded dunng the penod relating to Tesco PLC employees are
2010 2009
Shares WAFV Shares WAFV
numbaer pence number pence
Shares in Success 6,684 349 66 5,568 43105
Executive Incentive Scherme 1,660,771 35116 304,713 424 65
Performance Share Plan 243,129 374.00 238024 35605
US Long-Term Incentive Plan 80,622 482.00 63,514 482 00

Note 12 Pensions

The total cost of the pension schemne 1o the Group was £439m (2009 - £403m) Further disclosure relating to the Teseco PLC Pension Scheme can be

found in note 28 of the Group finanoal statements

Note 13 Called up share capital

2010 2009
Ordinary sharas of 5p each Ordinary shares of 5p each
Numbar Em Number Em
Autharnised
At beginning of year 10,858,000,000 543 10,858,000,000 543
Authonsed during the year 2,500,000,000 125 - ~
Atend of year 13,358,000,000 668 10,858,000,000 543
Allotted, called up and fully paid
At beginning of year 7,895,344 ,018 395 7,863,498,783 393
Share options 62,329,535 3 57,060,046 3
Share awards 27,370,504 1 - -
Share buy-back - - (25,214,811} [¢)]
At end of year 7,985,044,057 399 7,895,344 18 395

During the financtal year, 62 millton (2009 - 57 million) shares of S5p each were 1ssued in relation to share options for aggregate consideration of

£166m (2009 - £130m)

During the finanaal year, 27 milhon {2009 — mil) shares of Sp each were 1ssued in relation to share bonus awards for considerat:on of £1m (2009 — £nil}

During the year, the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled no shares of 5p each (2009 — 25,214,811), representing 0% (2009 — 0%) of the
called up share caputal, at an average price of £ml (2009 - £3 98) per share The total consideration, including expenses, was £nil (2009 — £100m)
The excess of the consideration over the nominal value has been charged to retained earnings
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Notes to the Parent Company financial statements continued

Nota 13 Called up share capital continued

Between 28 February 2010 and 16 Aprit 2010, options over 3,722,750 ordinary shares have been exerased under the terms of the Savings-related
Share Option Scheme (1981) and the Insh Savings-related Share QOption Scheme (2000) Between 28 February 2010 and 16 Apnt 2010, opuons over
5,592,493 ordinary shares have been exercised under the terms of the Executive Share Option Schemes (1994 and 1996) and the Discretionary Share
Option Plan (2004)

As at 27 February 2010, the Directors were authonsed to purchase up to a maximum in aggregate of 790 1 million (2009 - 784 8 millian) ordinary shares

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to tme and are entitled 1o one vote per share at the meetings
of the Company

Capital rademption reserve

Upan cancellation of the shares purchased as part of the share buy-back, a capital redemption reserve is created representing the norminal value of the
shares cancelled This s a non-distributable reserve

Note 14 Raeserves

2010 2009
£m £m
Share premum account
At beginning of year 4,638 451
Prermium on 1ssue of shares less costs 163 127
At end of year 4,801 4,638
Profit and loss reserve
At beginning of year 2,624 2181
Share-based payments 234 204
Purchase of treasury shares - {165)
Dividend (968) (883)
Change in fair value of availlable-for-sale financial assets - 3
Share buy-back {capital redemption} - 1
{Losses)/gains on cash flow hedges (82) 105
Praofit after tax for the year 923 1178
At end of year 2,731 2,624

Note 15 Contingent habilities

The Company has rrrevocably guaranteed the Tabilities, as defined by Section 5 (¢} of the Republic of lreland (Amendment Act) 1986, of vanous
subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the Republic of Ireland
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tesco PLC

We have audited the Parent Company financial staternents of Tesco PLC
for the 52 weeks ended 27 February 2010 which comprise the Parent
Company Balance Sheet and the related notes The financal reporting
framework that has been applied in therr preparation 1s applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdem Generalty
Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully :n the Statement of Directors' Responsibifities set
out on page 68, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
Parent Company financial staternents and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view Qur respansibility 1s to audit the Parent Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, Including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the
Company’s members as a bedy in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Compan:es Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in giving
these opimions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or
to any other person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior cansent in wnting

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit invelves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or error This in¢cludes an assessment of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Parent Company’s circumstancges and have
been consistently applied and adeguately disclosed, the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall
preseniation of the financial statements

Opinion en financial stataments
In aur opirion the Parent Company financial statements

« give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affarrs as at
27 February 2010,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

= have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Cornparies Act 2006

Opmion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion

» the part of the Directors’ Rernuneration Report to be audited has heen
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, and

« thenfarmation given in the Directars' Report for the 52 weeks ended
27 February 2010 for which the Parent Company financial statements
are prepared Is conststent with the Parent Company financial
statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the
Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If, In our opinicn

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved
from branches not visited by us, or

the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreernent with the
accounting records and returns, or

certain disclasures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not
made, ar

« we have not received all the information and explanatens we require
for our audit

[¢) atter
nayk reported separately on the Group financal statements of
Tes 5 for t§ 52yveekgended 27 February 2010
» \qf 4
Richard Winter (Se!&a utory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London
5 May 2010
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Financial calendar

Financial year end 2009/10 27 February 2010
Final ex-dividend date 28 April 2010
Record date 30 Apnl 2010
Q1 Intenm Management Statement June 2010
Annual General Meeting 2 July 2010
Final dividend payment date 9 July 2010
Half year end 2010/11 28 August 2010
Intenm Resuits QOctober 2010
Q3 Intenm Management Statement December 2010
Christmas and New Year Trading Statement January 2011
Financial year end 2010/11 26 February 2011

Please note that dates are provisional and may be hable to change
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